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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

This Annual Report (including the following secticegarding Management’s Discussion and Analysiiméncial Condition and Results
of Operations) contains forward-looking statemeatgrding our business, financial condition, resaftoperations and prospects. Words such
as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” élieves,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar expressi or variations of such words are intended
to identify forward-looking statements, but are tia exclusive means of identifying forward-lookistgatements in this Annual Report.
Additionally, statements concerning future mattarsluding statements regarding our business, ioantial position, the research and
development of our products and other statemegerdéng matters that are not historical are forwlaoking statements.

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&adport reflect the good faith judgment of our mamagnt, such statements can only
be based on facts and factors currently known by ossequently, forward-looking statements arernaity subject to risks and uncertainties
and actual results and outcomes may differ matgffidm the results and outcomes discussed in ticipated by the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribuigach differences in results and outcomes inclitieout limitation those discussed under
the heading “Risk Factors” below, as well as thdiseussed elsewhere in this Annual Report. Reaterarged not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements, which speak aslgf the date of this Annual Report. We undertakebligation to revise or update any
forwarddooking statements in order to reflect any everticmumstance that may arise after the date ofAhisual Report. Readers are urge:
carefully review and consider the various disclesunade in this Annual Report, which attempt taselinterested parties of the risks and
factors that may affect our business, financialdition, results of operations and prospects.

Overview

We are engaged in the development of a new gearrativaccines, called DNA vaccines, focused orceesand infectious diseases.
SynCon™ technology enables the design of “univer®B&lA-based vaccines capable of providing crossqmtidn against new, unmatched
strains of pathogens such as influenza. Our electedion DNA delivery technology uses brief, coligd electrical pulses to increase cellular
DNA vaccine uptake. Initial human data has shovism itethod can safely and significantly increaseegexpression and immune responses.
Our clinical programs include cervical dysplasiatzer (therapeutic), avian influenza (preventatihepatitis C virus (“HCV”) and human
immunodeficiency virus (“HIV”)vaccines. We are advancing preclinical research fomiversal seasonal/pandemic influenza vaccineetisas
other products including dengue fever and prostateer vaccines. Our partners and collaboratotsdadJniversity of Pennsylvania, Drexel
University, National Microbiology Laboratory of thublic Health Agency of Canada, Program for Appiaip Technology in Health/Malaria
Vaccine Initiative (“PATH/“MVI”), National Institué of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (“NIAID"), Mgk, ChronTech, University of
Southampton, United States Military HIV ResearchgPam (“USMHRP”), U.S. Army Medical Research Ingt# of Infectious Diseases
(“USAMRIID") and HIV Vaccines Trial Network (“HVTN.

Industry Background
Historical Importance of Vaccines

We believe vaccines have saved more lives and predenore human suffering than any other humamitnwe. As recently as a century
ago, infectious diseases were the main cause tf dealdwide, even in the most developed countifi@s.instance, the Spanish flu pandemic
of 1918 killed more people than all the bullets aodbs did during the Great War (WWI). Today, thisra vast range of vaccines available to
protect against more than two dozen infectiousadiss, especially for children. Our society has diotinat the only way to control or even
eliminate diseases is consistent, widespread ugacaines. For most of the past 25 years the vadoptustry was dominated by a few large
pharmaceutical companies. Only in recent yearsongxt pricing and technology have helped turned/éteeine market into a growth business.
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Challenges Facing Vaccines

Despite the advances made to quality of life assalt of the development and use of vaccines dnepast century, several significant
challenges continue to exist. The technical linotag of conventional vaccine technology have camstd the development of effective
vaccines for many diseases. Development of vactiassd on conventional methods requires significdrdstructure in research and
manufacturing, and can be time consuming. Safekgrassociated with conventional vaccine approactagsoffset their potential benefits, as
the conventional vaccines we have depended upofogrine or weakened viruses or different part@ofirus as vaccines. Further,
conventional vaccines are still grown in eggs dis@nd harvested over weeks of time with a vesgffinient manufacturing process.

In addition, it is important to note a changing dgmic in the broader vaccine marketplace. Traditlpneaccines have been
predominantly focused on the pediatric market,ridezl to protect children from diseases that coaidse them serious harm. Today, there is a
growing interest in vaccines against diseasesniagtaffect adolescents and adults, which includh bexually transmitted diseases and
infections that strike opportunistically, such asidg pregnancy, in immuno-compromised individualsd in the geriatric population.
Furthermore, there is encouraging data from anaioggdevelopment of immunotherapies against cancers

Inovio’s Solution

We believe our DNA vaccine platform comprising @ymCon™ DNA vaccine constructs and proprietary ebgctration delivery
technology has the potential to develop and deliveew generation of vaccines that are safer ttaalitibpnal vaccines (our platform uses a non-
live, non-replicating vaccine), have equivalenswonger immune-stimulating power than traditiovedcines (live viruses being among the
best approaches for developing strong immune reg®)nare showing the potential to be used agdissases for which conventional vaccine
technology cannot be applied, and have added aalyastvith respect to development time and costliRieal studies in animals have
demonstrated the safety and potential efficacyunfapproach.

The Next Generation of Vaccines: DNA Vaccines

DNA vaccines may be designed to prevent a disgaselfylactic vaccines) or treat an existing disg#fserapeutic vaccines). A DNA
vaccine consists of a DNA plasmid encoding a setkantigen(s) that is introduced into cells of hamar animals with the purpose of evoking
an immune response to the encoded antigen. Infaymancoded in the DNA plasmid directs the cellprioduce antigenic proteins that may
then trigger the immune system to mount one or bbttwvo responses: the production of antibodiesvkmas a humoral immune response,
and/or the activation of T-cells, known as a celiur cell-mediated immune response. These respaaseneutralize or eliminate infectious
agents (e.g. viruses, bacteria, and other micraisges) or abnormal cells (e.g. malignant tumorsjelDNA vaccines have several advantages
over traditional vaccines in that they are non-pgénic (meaning they cannot cause the disease)bmajfective against diseases which
cannot be controlled by traditional vaccines, areralatively fast, easy and inexpensive to deaighproduce. DNA vaccines are stable under
normal environmental conditions for extended pesiofitime and do not require continuous refrigeratiAnother potentially major advantage
of DNA vaccines is their relatively short developrtheycle. For example, DNA vaccines against newgniified viral agents may be develo
within weeks or months, as opposed to the yeaenaftquired to develop a traditional vaccine caagidDNA vaccines against cancer use a
portion of the genetic code of a cancer antigeratase a host to produce proteins of the antigegnmmbg induce an immune response.

Inovio’s SynCor*  DNA Vaccines

Our DNA vaccines are designed to generate spexitibody and/or T-cell responses. Our SynCon teldgygrovides processes that
employ bioinformatics, which combine, extensive gfgndata and sophisticated algorithms. Our degigoess uses the genetic make-up of a
common antigen(s) from multiple strains of a viwithin a viral sub-type or taxonomic group (family) HIV, HCV, human papillomavirus
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(“HPV™), influenza and other diseases to synthdlijoereate a “universalantigen that does not exist in nature. This unnetantigen has be
shown to nevertheless induce a powerful immuneorespin humans against that antigen, providingeptin not only against individual
strains of the same sub-type that were used tdajetais synthetic antigen but to also provide pctibn against newly emergent strains not
used in designing the vaccine. These SynCon™ DNo&ina constructs may provide a solution to the gerishift” and “drift” that is typical
of infectious diseases. SynCon™ immunogens aretaldbcit broad, diverse immune responses, whictihéory are important to protect
against variable pathogens such as influenza, dett@V and HIV.

More technically speaking, SynCén DNA vaccine agnigare designed by aligning numerous primary segseand choosing DNA-
based triplets for the most common or importantengicid at each site. These antigens are furthtenized for codon usage, improved mRI
stability, and enhanced leader sequences for nhedoading. The DNA inserts are therefore optimiaethe genetic level to give them high
expression capability in human cells.

We believe these design capabilities allow us teebéarget appropriate immune system mechanismpeoduce a higher level of the
coded antigen to enhance the overall ability of @A vaccine to induce the desired immune response.

Pre-clinical studies have shown that immunizatibme and non-human primates using SynCon DNA w&cconstructs elicited an
immune response against multiple, unmatched straithén different sub-types of HIV, HCV, HPV, dengiuprostate cancer and influenza
viruses. Vaccine candidates for all these diseaisebeing advanced through preclinical and clinstadlies.

Electroporation DNA Delivery Technology

Our DNA vaccine candidates are being delivered defts of the body using our highly efficient, prigtary electroporation (EP) DNA
delivery technology, which uses the brief applicatdf high-intensity, pulsed electric fields to ate temporary and reversible permeability, or
pores, in the cell membrane. Efficient deliveryDMA vaccines in humans has been thought to behtbgming of earlier generations of
DNA vaccines. Most drugs and biologics must em#y & cell through a cell membrane in order togrenftheir intended function. However,
gaining entry into a cell through the outer cellmiane can be a significant challenge. Electronlsginduced permeabilization of the cellu
membrane, generally referred to as electroporakias the observable effect that there is a lessatesl exchange of molecules between the
exterior and interior—the benefit being that ibalk and enhances the uptake of, for example, @biopaceutical agent previously injected
into local tissue. The extent of membrane permiaiion depends upon various electrical, physiciamical, and biological parameters.

The transient, reversible nature of this electrm@imeabilization of membranes is the underlyingjdaf our electroporation systems,
which are designed to harness this phenomenonliwedeg controlled electrical pulses into tissoefacilitate the uptake of useful
biopharmaceuticals. Our technology generates loedlelectric fields in targeted tissue to induebporation, which increases cellular
uptake even for large molecules such as DNA. Meltypes and tissue can be successfully electedpdras long as applicators with the
appropriate configuration of needle electrodeshmnsed to expose cells and tissues to the eldéielidc

Alternative delivery approaches based on the us#rages and lipids are complex and expensive heave in the past created concerns
regarding safety and cause unwanted immune respagsénst themselves. We believe electroporatiowighes a relatively straightforward,
cost effective method for delivering DNA into celigth high efficiency and minimal complications (@smpared to viral vectors) and,
importantly, inducing clinically relevant levels géne expression.
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Products and Product Development

Independently and together with our licensees afidlorators, we are currently developing a nundié?NA-based vaccines and
therapeutics for the prevention or treatment oteamnd chronic infectious diseases. The tabledbelonmarizes progress in our independent,
collaborative and out-licensed product developnpeogirams as of December 31, 2010.

Pre-Clinical
Studies Development Status
Product Target and In In Development
Product Area Indication(s) Vitro  Vivo Phase Phasell Phaselll Phase IV Lead
Cancer DNA Vaccine hTERT-expressing cance X X IP Merck
Chronic and acute myeloid leukemia X X X P Univ. of Southampton
(CML/AML)
Cervical cancer X X IP * Inovio
(VGX-3100)
Prostate cancer X X Inovio
(INO-5150)
Infectious Disease DNA Vaccines
Avian influenza
(VGX-3400x) X X P Inovio
Universal influenza X X Inovio
(INO-3510)
HCV X X X ChronTect
HCV X X Inovio/UPENN/Drexe
HIV (preventative) X X X HVTN
(PENNVAX ™ -B)(1)
HIV (preventative) X X IP HVTN
(PENNVAX ™ -B)
HIV (therapeutic) (PENNVAX™ -B) X X P UPENN
HIV (preventative) X X P US MHRP
(PENNVAX ™ -G)
HIV (preventative) X IP NIH/NIAID
(PENNVAX ™ -GP)
Biodefense targe! X X USAMRIID
Unspecified target X IP Inovio
X = Completec
IP =In Progres:
* —_

We initiated Phase Il clinical trial in March 2D
(1) = Without electroporatio
Cancer DNA Vaccines

Cancer vaccines are medicines that belong to a ofesubstances known as biological response neoslifBiological response modifiers
work by stimulating or restoring the immune systembility to fight infections and disease. There tavo broad types of cancer vaccines:

* Preventative (orprophylactic) vaccines, which are intended to prevent cancer from deve@pm healthy people; ar
» Treatment (or therapeutic) vaccines, which are intended to treat an existing cancestbgngthening the bo’s natural defense
against the cance

Two types of cancer preventative vaccines are aiilin the United States, and one cancer treatwaecine has recently become
available.
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The United States Food and Drug Administration (fl2A”) has approved two vaccines, Gard&sil andv@ex ® that protect against
infection by the two types of HPV—types 16 and 1&attcause approximately 70 percent of all casegmwical cancer worldwide. At least 17
other types of HPV are responsible for the remaiidi percent of cervical cancer cases. HPV typeantifor 18 also cause some vaginal,
vulvar, anal, penile, and oropharyngeal cancers.

In addition, Gardasi? protects against infectiontlvg additional HPV types, 6 and 11, which are ossgible for about 90 percent of all
cases of genital warts in males and females buibdcause cervical cancer.

Cervarix® , manufactured by GlaxoSmithKline, is adbént vaccine. It is composed of virus-like pdeic(VLPs) made with proteins
from HPV types 16 and 18. In addition, there is sanitial evidence that Cervarix provides partiedtection against a few additional HPV
types that can cause cancer. However, more studligdse needed to understand the magnitude anddimgfahis effect. Cervari® is approved
for use in females ages 10 to 25 for the preverdfarervical cancer caused by HPV types 16 and 18.

Gardasil® , manufactured by Merck, is approved &# in females for the prevention of cervical capaad some vulvar and vaginal
cancers, caused by HPV types 16 and 18 and fanusales and females for the prevention of genieits caused by HPV types 6 and 11.
vaccine is approved for these uses in females aiesnages 9 to 26.

The FDA has also approved a cancer preventativein@that protects against hepatitis B virus (HBf@ction. Chronic HBV infection
can lead to liver cancer. The original HBV vacomes approved in 1981, making it the first cancewpntative vaccine to be successfully
developed and marketed. Today, most children irUthieed States are vaccinated against HBV shofter &irth.

In April 2010, the FDA approved the first cancezatment vaccine. This vaccine, sipuleucel-T (Prgeén, manufactured by United
States based Dendreon), is approved for use in stenewith metastatic prostate cancer. It is desigoestimulate an immune response to
prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), an antigen presemost prostate cancers. In a clinical trigdgugucel-T increased the survival of men with
a certain type of metastatic prostate cancer butadbanonths Thanks to the success of Provénge dehelopment of immune cell-based
cancer treatments is expected to gain momentum.

Therapeutic Cervical Cancer Vaccine—VGX-3100

HPV is the causative agent responsible for mostagcervical cancer. At any given time, approxehal0% of women worldwide are
infected with HPV. While roughly 70% of HPV infectis are cleared by the body on its own, persisié\t can lead to dysplasia, or
premalignant changes in cells, of the cervix. Redeas have estimated the global prevalence ateliy pre-cancerous HPV infections at
between 28 and 40 million. These HPV infections rieayl to pre-malignant cervical dysplasia; persistiysplasias may then progress to
cancer. Every year, 470,000 cases of cervical caveediagnosed worldwide, and about half of tHikcéfd women, primarily in developing
countries, die.

Preventative vaccines such as Gardasil and Cervar playing an important role in limiting new Hmfections. However,
preventative vaccines cannot provide protectiortfose already infected with HPV, which is a lapggulation. In addition, not all girls and
women eligible to be vaccinated are receiving theseines. There is no viable therapeutic vaccirdrag to fight HPV, nor dysplasias and
cancers caused by HPV. Current ablative or surgicaiedures to remove cervical dysplasias and camce unappealing due to the potential
for disfigurement and the psychological stress \pithceived negative impacts on childbirth.

HPV types 16 and 18 are responsible for about 7Déemvical cancer incidence. Inovio's VGX-3100 esifned to raise immune
responses against the E6 and E7 genes common tdype¥ 16 and 18 that are present in both pre-cans@and cancerous cells transformed
by these HPV types. E6 and E7 are oncogenes that



Table of Contents

play an integral role in transforming HPV-infecteglls into cancerous cells. The goal is to stineuthe body’s immune system to mount a T-
cell response strong enough to cause the rejectithrese infected or transformed cells from theybddhe potential of such a vaccine would be
to treat cervical cancers, pre-cancerous dyspl&Sids), as well as persistent HPV infections atitepbcancers caused by these HPV types.

We recently completed enroliment of our Phasedystf our therapeutic cervical cancer vaccine (V&200). VGX-3100 is a DNA
vaccine targeting the E6 and E7 proteins of HP\é$yp6 and 18 and is delivered via in vivo electrapon. In September 2010, we presented
top-line data showing achievement of best-in-clasaune responses in our Phase | dose escalatidy sflVGX-3100. All dose groups
developed significant antibody and T-cell immungpanses. More notably, in the third and final dgsrip, five of six (83%) patients
developed unprecedented T-cell responses not ahigyany other noreplicating vaccine platform in humans. Prelimindata from the trie
indicated:

» Antiger-specific, dos-related "-cell responses across the three dose groups, avgrEgp2 SFU per million cells in the high dc
group responder:

» Strong antige-specific antibody responses in all three dose gt

* VGX-3100 delivered using Inov's proprietary CELLECTR/® intramuscular electroporation delivery device wasagally safe
and well tolerated at all dose levels; ¢

* There were no vaccinelated serious adverse events. Reported adveesgseand injection site reactions were mild to nnatkean:
required no treatmer

This dose escalation study tested the safety antiimogenicity of VGX-3100 in women previously tretfer moderate or severe
cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN 2/3), alinigrade premalignant lesion that may lead to cahdgancer. The trial enrolled patients in three
cohorts of six subjects each with DNA vaccine dasfd®6 mg (0.3 mg each of two DNA plasmids), 2.§,rand 6.0 mg. Each subject received
the respective dose at day 0, month 1 and morAli 8ubjects in the first and second dose group&tampleted the nine-month follow-up
period. We expect that patients in the third daseig will complete their follow-up in the first quar of 2011.

Immunological analyses of blood samples colleci&fdfe and after vaccination indicate that antigeeegfic immune responses were
induced against the target proteins produced byidr@vaccine. Using a validated, standard ELISRPE33ay, antigen-specific cytotoxic T-
lymphocyte (CTL, or killer T-cell) responses weltgserved against all four antigens (E6 and E7 prstiir HPV types 16 and 18). In this third
cohort, five of six vaccinated subjects (83%) depeld significant CTL responses, with average resgoof 1362 SFU per million cells after
three immunizations. This was a 118% increase cosap® the intermediate dose cohort average of3326 per million cells (four responders
out of six) and a 174% increase compared to thediose cohort average of 497 SFU per million cétlar(responders out of six).

Antibody responses to E6 and E7 antigens wereraéasured. Specific antibody responses to tumogemi can function as an importi
surrogate potency marker for determining the imngemicity of a vaccine, i.e. the ability of a vacito induce an immune response.
Antibodies were generated against all four antigaagested by the enzyme-linked immunosorbenyd&dSA). In the third cohort, antibody
responses were observed in five of six subject%§83

Overall, in all three doses combined, 13 out of’a8cinated subjects (72%) developed significant @dponses, with positive responses
ranging from under 100 to over 5000 SFU per millefis. Fifteen out of 18 vaccinated subjects (88#)eloped antibody responses to at least
one antigen with most subjects developing respotosigo or more antigens.

While the study targeted only safety and immunogjgnas endpoints and did not address clinicataffy, several literature reports
support the hypothesis that induction of tumorgamispecific T-cell responses is
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important in controlling cancer. Furthermore, thare examples of cancer vaccine candidates taggtenE6 and/or E7 proteins achieving
significant clinical efficacy in patients with cécal or vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia, yet th€lGresponses achieved in such studies were
lower than those observed in the current VGX-3106s

Inovio is now planning a randomized, blinded Phaséudy of VGX-3100 delivered using its CELLECTRAntramuscular
electroporation device in women with HPV Type 16.8rand diagnosed with, but not yet treated fawical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN)
2/3. CIN 2/3s are precancerous lesions that magrpss to cervical cancer. Patients in the contalg will not receive the therapy. Inovio
intends to initiate this clinical study in the figuarter of 2011.

Therapeutic Prostate Cancer Vaccine—INO-5150

The development of a new treatment for prostateerawould be a significant medical advance givext itresent treatment options
(surgery, radiation and hormone deprivation), whidenewhat effective, all carry deleterious side&¥ and often do not confer loteym cure
Across the United States, there were 218,000 neescaf prostate cancer and more than 32,000 diea2@4.0.

Inovio previously collaborated with the UK’s Unisdly of Southampton and Institute of Cancer Redeara study evaluating a DNA
vaccine for prostate cancer delivered using Ineveéctroporation delivery technology. The publghata from this phase I/1l study of a DNA
vaccine encoding for human PSMA generated proafenfeept levels of both antibody and T-cell immuesgponses in the 30 patients
vaccinated in this study.

In January 2011, we announced the publicationsgientific paper in the journddluman Vaccinedetailing potent immune responses in a
preclinical study of Inovio’s SynCot DNA vaccine faorostate cancer targeting two antigens, PSA &MA While current prostate cancer
therapies target single antigens, in this studyilmtested the hypothesis in mice that a broadkedn of antigens, administered with
Inovio’s electroporation-based delivery technologpuld improve the breadth and effectiveness afostate cancer immunotherapy.

This study, conducted by Inovio scientists andrtbeilaborators, is described in the published papétled, “Co-delivery of PSA and
PSMA DNA vaccines with electroporation induces poienmune responses.” The SynCbn DNA vaccine eveduim this study was
generated by the creation of PSA and PSMA synthetisensus immunogens based on human and macageases, which enabled the
amino acid sequences of the antigens to diffeh8ligrom the native protein. In humans, this diffiece may aid in the evasion of stlferance
while still mounting an anti-tumor immune respongéce received two immunizations of highly optimizBNA vaccine delivered by
electroporation. Immunogenicity was evaluated oreknafter the second vaccination. The resultast sladwed the induction of strong PSA
and PSMA-specific cellular immune responses anal gifgnificant antigen specific seroconversion silfating that both humoral and cellular
immune responses can be generated by this approach.

In this pre-clinical study of the first SynCéh DNAccine against a cancer target, this dual-anfipgemunotherapy generated strong
antibody and T-cell immune responses. Taken togetfike the previous preclinical and clinical dati@e current published results support the
advancement of this product into a Phase | clirstadly. Inovio is now advancing this program towBtthse .

Southampton Collaboration: Leukemia

Leukemia is a malignant disease (cancer) of the lImoarrow and blood characterized by the uncontt@kcumulation of blood cells.
Leukemia accounts for at least 300,000 new cas22?,000 deaths worldwide each year. This higb Htdeaths-to-cases (74%) reflects the
poor prognosis of leukemia in many parts of theldyowhere the somewhat complex treatment regimesar available. Approximately 45,0
new cases of leukemia were diagnosed in 2008 iBewith 20,000 deaths. This represents 3% afaaiters in the United States, and 30.4%
of all blood cancers. It is estimated that appratety $3 billion is spent in the United States epehr to treat leukemia.
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There are five types of leukemia based on rateevékbpment and types of blood cells affected. Tihese are being evaluated in the
study discussed in this release: 1) Acute myeligkémia (AML), a cancer of the myeloid line of bdbeells, is characterized by rapid growth
of abnormal white blood cells that accumulate & ltlone marrow and interfere with the productionaimal blood cells. AML is the most
common acute leukemia affecting adults and itdieicte increases with age. Only about one-thirdase between ages 18-60 who are
diagnosed with AML can be cured. With conventioctadmotherapy 70% of the patients in the group ustigty will relapse within 2 years
and current therapy is devastating in older adults.

Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) is a type of cantdsait causes the body to produce large numbersrofinre and mature white blood
cells (myelocytes). Approximately 85% of patientstMCML are in the chronic phase at the time ofydiesis. Ultimately, in the absence of
curative treatment, the disease progresses tocateaated phase where median survival is aroungé@afs. Chronic myeloid leukemia can
occur at any age, but it more commonly affects heiddjed and older people.

In January 2011, we announced the regulatory appaia Phase 2 clinical trial (WIN Trial) to trdaukemia utilizing Inovio’s new
ELGEN 1000 automated vaccine delivery device. Dipisn-label, multi-center clinical trial being ruy the University of Southampton is
evaluating a DNA vaccine to treat chronic myel@dkemia and acute myeloid leukemia. Financial stgpothe trial is being provided by tl
UK research charity Leukaemia and Lymphoma ResgatdR) and by the Efficacy and Mechanisms EvaluaiBME) programme (which is
funded by the UK Medical Research Council and maddyy the UK National Institute for Health Resedrdiihe DNA vaccine was developed
at the University of Southampton with funding fratR and the charity Cancer Research UK.

Wilms’ Tumor gene 1 (WT1) is highly associated wtitlese types of cancer, which led the Universitofithampton to design its
leukemia DNA vaccine to target this antigen. Prachl data from mice showed strong induction ofgeri-specific CD8+ T cells and the
ability to kill human tumor cells expressing WThére have been several prior clinical studies imdms using parts of the WT1 gene, notably
as peptide vaccine candidates, demonstrating tiduption of modest levels of CD8+ T-cell resporaed measurable clinical responses,
although both effects were transient. This is tre tudy to combine DNA vaccination with electooation delivery of WT1 antigens with the
goal of stimulating high and durable levels of immawesponses, which are considered critical foravipg clinical outcomes.

The single dose level, Phase 2 study, called “Witthiinity via DNA fusion gene vaccination in haemagatal malignancies by
intramuscular injection followed by intramusculdearoporation,” led by Professor Ottensmeier amddaty Rezvani of Imperial College
London and Hammersmith Hospital, London, is dedigioerecruit two patient groups. One group is pkhto recruit up to 37 CML patients
and the other up to 37 AML patients. All participgwvill initially receive six doses of two DNA vaices (called p.DOM-WT1-37 and p.DOM-
WT1-126) delivered at four week intervals. Vacciesponders may continue with booster vaccinatiorsyethree months out to 24 months.
An additional 100-110 AML/CML patients will be enled across the two arms as non-vaccinated corfivolsomparison. The primary
endpoints will be molecular response to a diseaasden called BCR-ABL in CML patients and time teease progression in AML patients.
The study will also monitor WT1 transcript leveélsmune responses to the WT1 antigen, time to pesipa and overall survival, and twear
survival in the AML group. The trial will take plaat hospitals in Southampton, London and Exeter the next two years. Regulatory
approval to start this clinical study was providgdthe UK Medicines and Healthcare Products Regntaduthority (MHRA) and Gene
Technology Advisory Committee (GTAC).

This is the first clinical trial using Inovio’s nelBLGEN-1000 automated device, which is based oprigrietary electroporation delivery
platform. The device’s needle electrodes automateine delivery at the push of a button and cotwsabsequent controlled, millisecond
electrical pulses that increase cell membrane paditity and dramatically improve cellular uptaketbé vaccine. Inovio’s electroporation
systems have been shown to increase levels ofeggession (production of the antigen coded bytNé vaccine) up to 1000-fold and
increase immune responses to the antigen up tdal@0-
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Merck Collaboration: Cancer Vaccines

In May 2004, we announced a collaboration and feenith Merck for the development of certain DNAwimes. Merck began patient
enroliment for a second Phase | DNA vaccine castaty in October 2008. This DNA vaccine encodeshfERT, an antigen related to non-
small cell lung, breast and prostate cancers. Eeeine is delivered using our electroporation DN\ery technology. We have received
milestone payments for our contribution to theaodiration with Merck, which has so far demonstratedhigh level of gene delivery and
expression that is thought to be necessary fonthection of a therapeutic immune response. Meekflanded all clinical development cost
the candidates under our collaboration and licagseement to date. Further development of produadsr the collaboration and license
agreement may lead to additional milestone paynemdsoyalties to us.

Infectious Disease DNA Vaccines
Therapeutic HCV Vaccine

Hepatitis is a disease characterized by inflammatfcthe liver. HCV is a major cause of acute higigaHCV is spread primarily by
direct contact with human blood, the major causeddwide being the use of unscreened blood trarmwigssand re-use of needles and syringes
that have not been adequately sterilized. As marig0&o — 90% of newly infected patients may progtestevelop chronic infection. Of those
with chronic liver disease, 5% — 20% may develomhoisis. About 5% of infected persons may die ftbmconsequences of long term
infection (due to liver cancer or cirrhosis). Glpaan estimated 170 million people are chronigatifected with HCV, which represents a
reservoir sufficiently large for HCV to persist,ch to 4 million persons are newly infected eacaryin the US, while new incidences of HCV
have dropped dramatically, an estimated 4.1 mil{lb6%) Americans have been infected with HCV, bbw 3.2 million are chronically
infected. Persons with chronic HCV infection faceirrcreased risk of developing hepatocellular cgrecéifficult-to-treat cancer with a poor
prognosis.

In January 2006, we signed an agreement with Swbdsad ChronTech (formerly called Tripep) to coalep a therapeutic vaccine for
HCYV using electroporation. The vaccine is base@€bronTech’s proprietary HCV antigen construct aelivéred to infected individuals using
our MedPulseP DNA Delivery System.

In November 2009, we announced the completion@fthase | clinical study with ChronTech of the @vac-C HCV DNA vaccine
delivered using our electroporation technology. $hely established the safety and tolerabilityhis therapy, with vaccine-induced immune
responses and transient effects on the serum lef/el€V in these chronically infected patients doing proof-of-concept of DNA vaccines
delivered using electroporation. We are prepatimgrext stage of the development plan for this aiogin collaboration with ChronTech.

In April 2010, we announced, along with our colledtors from Drexel University, Cheyney Universiand the University of
Pennsylvania, that we received a combined $2.8amilirant to further study and advance Inosiptoprietary DNA vaccine to treat HCV us
Inovio’s electroporation delivery system.

The grant is currently funding pre-clinical studiesng an expanded set of SynCbn immunogens tthesafety and effect on the
immune system of our novel vaccines designed #i prersons who are chronically infected with HC\ &ave not responded to currently
available therapies.

Preventative and Therapeutic HIV Vaccines

Since its discovery in 1981, AIDS has killed mdrarn 25 million people. In 2005, the total numbeH®¥-infected people worldwide
reached an estimated 38.6 million, with 4.1 millieewly infected individuals. In 2005, the diseakénced approximately 3.1 million lives.
UNAIDS estimates that 60,000 individuals were neinfected with HIV across the United States and MesEurope in 2005; bringing the
number of HIV-infected people to approximately 1rdtlion. Over half of these individuals live ingHJnited States.
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In 2005, the HIV market accounted for 1.8% of glgifzarmaceutical sales and 17% of total anti-indecsales. Although this is
relatively small compared to other therapeutic syrélze HIV market has experienced strong growtpeiterated $7.4 billion of sales in 2005
and experienced a compound annual growth rate.8248%om 2001-2005, making it one of the fastesingng infectious disease markets.

Effective vaccines have been actively pursued ¥&r @0 years, without success. HIV represents étigeomost confounding targets in
medicine. The virushigh mutagenicity (ability to mutate) has made etifee vaccine development very challenging. Itseo@nvelope, swath:
in sugar molecules, is difficult to attack, and Hilrikes the very cells that the immune systemdhes to thwart such an infection. Although
several drugs (antiretrovirals) are available ¢éatithe patients once they are infected, vaccireerecessary to stop the spread of disease and
perhaps reduce the need for antiretroviral treatmen

After many years of rapid development and introucof new anti-retroviral drugs for treatment ofMHnfection, the introduction of
new drugs to the market for treatment of HIV infestappears to be waning. Available drugs, desmtesral limitations, have set a high
standard that must be met in terms of efficacy. elmv, there is still a significant need for betY therapies and patents are beginning to
expire on early HIV drugs. For example, zidovudmalready available as a generic drug and othiy BV drugs will soon face such generic
competition. To maintain HIV-related revenues, &l @s meet the needs of HIV-infected patientsyplageutical companies must develop
new drugs with improved profiles, especially imtesrof toxicity and increased barriers to developnoéwiral resistance. As a result, the
medical and commercial needs are fueling continaiedest in the development of new nucleosides (MRThon-NRTIs, and protease
inhibitors (PI) for treatment of HIV infection.

Noting that many long-term survivors have high dswf killer CD8+ T cells, the HIV vaccine field iturned to stimulating the immune
system to generate those cells. Recent HIV vaaanedidates adopted the use of an adenovirus ananoa human cold virus that had been
altered to prevent viral replication. These vacsihave proven to not be effective. We believe fedifit approach is needed to develop an
effective vaccine for HIV.

Our HIV vaccines consist of candidates for HIV pretron as well as therapy or treatment. Furtherpmmre vaccines are differentiated
according to the targeted region of the world wfith greatest prevalence of certain HIV subtype®NNWAX ™-B is designed to target HIV
clade B (most commonly found in the United Stalésth America, Australia and the European Union YERENNVAX ™ -G is designed to
target HIV clades A, C and D, which are more comindound in Asia, Africa, Russia and South America.

Our PENNVAX™-B vaccine (without electroporation ikelry) Phase | trial (HVTN-070) was completed irD20This 120 patient study
was sponsored by the National Institute of Alleagnd Infectious Diseases’ (the “NIAID”) Division éiDS (DAIDS) and was conducted by
the HVTN to evaluate the vaccine’s safety and imaganicity in healthy volunteers. Following thisdyuin October 2009, along with the
HVTN, we initiated a follow-on Phase | study (HVTO80) of PENNVAX™ -B (with and without a cytokine) ldesred with electroporation
using the CELLECTRA delivery device in healthy, mfieicted individuals. Inovio previously reportedal&om non-human primates,
demonstrating up to a 100-fold enhancement in inemesponses resulting from the vaccine when deliVeia in vivo electroporation
compared to syringe injection without electropamtiThis Phase | clinical study of PENNVAX -B (HVT080) vaccinated 48 healthy, HIV-
negative volunteers to assess safety and levétsréine responses generated by Inovio’s PENNVAX aBcine delivered with its
CELLECTRA® electroporation device. PENNVAX -Bis grif£on™ DNA vaccine that targets HIV gag, pol, and proteins. This
randomized, double-blind, multi-center study isrsgmred by the NIAID, an agency of the Nationalitugts of Health (the “NIH"), and
conducted by the NIAID-funded HVTN, at several aal sites.

Of the 48 total volunteers, eight subjects receagdacebo, 10 subjects received a 1 mg dose of\REAX ™-B vaccine, and 30 subjec
received a 1 mg dose of PENNVAX™-B along with IL-DRIA. All volunteers received vaccine or placebondistered with electroporation
at months 0, 1, and 3. T-cell immune responses detected using a validated flow cytometry-basédaellular cytokine staining (ICS) assay
at the HVTN core immunology laboratory at the Fradchinson Cancer Research Center in Seattle, WA.
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Preliminary data from the trial reported in Novembeluded safety data from all 48 trial participgand immunogenicity data from 38
out of 40 samples from vaccine recipients postiséainse and from 31 out of 40 samples from vac@opients post-third-dose. The data
indicate that antigen-specific T-cell responsesawganerated by the vaccine in a majority of subjdeither CD4+ or CD8+ or both T-cell
responses were observed against at least one vatlsene antigens in 61% (23 out of 38) of evaldatebjects after two vaccinations. After
three vaccinations, 84% (26 out of 31) of evaluat@djects had positive T-cell responses.

A second IND is now open, allowing testing of PENAX/ ™-B in a therapeutic setting. This Phase | t(tdl\V-001) is being conducted
collaboration with the University of Pennsylvanradaargets HIV-positive individuals. The electrogiion-delivered PENNVAX" -B arm of
this trial started in 2011. If the Phase | studies successful in demonstrating enhanced immuregadbggsponses to the HIV antigens, then we
intend to partner with the HVTN or another govermta¢ organization to further develop the HIV carad@vaccines through Phase Il and
Phase Il clinical studies. It is anticipated thaten the critical need for preventative and thetdje vaccines for HIV, any commercialization
will likely be through a big pharmaceutical compaartner for the North American and EU markets amebrld health agency for the
developing world markets.

In September 2010, the United States Military HI¥sBarch Program (MHRP) initiated a Phase | tri&l382) using one of our
prophylactic HIV vaccines in a prime-boost strateblyis program was developed to protect againgrdes subtypes of HIV-1 prevalent in
North America, Europe, Africa, and South AmericaeTtudy is being conducted by the United StatefRMithrough its clinical researn
network in the US, East Africa and Thailand. THisical trial was designed to test a unique prino®4t preventative HIV vaccination strategy
aimed at global coverage. The prime is a plasmid\siccine, PENNVAX™ -G, and the boost is a virusteewaccine, Modified Vaccinia
Ankara-Chiang Mai Double Recombinant (MVA-CMDR).deaiher, the vaccines are designed to deliver asbvwaixture of antigens for HIV-
1 subtypes A, B, C, D and E. The study will tesNRE/AX ™-G delivered with electroporation in conjuim with a modified vaccinia
Ankara- Chiang Mai double recombinant boost. ThalRIis sponsoring the study, which we expect wilt@l 92 total participants and is
designed to assess safety and immune responses.

Due to its prevalence and global health importatiere is a large amount of funding available tigtouarious governmental and non-
governmental organizations. Most notably, the Nitheded us a contract to develop a preventative BINA vaccine candidate in conjunction
with electroporation technology for intradermalidety of DNA vaccines. The contract was awardedeniide NIAID’s HIV Vaccine Design
and Development Teams program and brings togethéwétccine experts from the University of PennsyligaSchool of Medicine and our
company. The contract provides up to $24.6 milbbfunding over seven years, including a five-ylease period and follow-on option years.
The program is focusing on the vaccine candiddE&NVAX ™-GP, which was developed in the laboratofyDINA vaccines pioneer
Professor David B. Weiner at the University of Peiwania School of Medicine and licensed to us. DN&A-based vaccine will be delivered
using our novel intradermal electroporation tecbggl This program expands our portfolio of candéddtV vaccines. The funding and
development program covers preclinical optimizatioonmunogenicity and challenge studies in animatiet®, IND-enabling toxicology
studies, cGMP (current good manufacturing practioenufacturing of all components of the DNA vaecand CELLECTRA? device, and tr
conduct of a Phase | human clinical trial. cGMP nfaoture of the PENNVAX" -GP constructs to suppéirtical trials will be conducted at
the manufacturing facility of our affiliate, VGX ternational, Inc. (“VGX Int'").

HIV remains a challenging and tremendously impdréaaa of medical research, and we value the N$Hfxport to further evaluate the
immunogenicity and efficacy of our electroporatielivery system and novel preventative HIV vacaaadidate.

Avian Influenza (H5N1) Vaccine—VGX-3400x

Influenza is one of the most communicable diseasdst typically affects children and the elderlpshseverely. Complications from
influenza cause more than 200,000 hospitalizatioslead to approximately
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36,000 deaths each year in the United States adaoerding to the Centers for Disease Control.vbed is annually subjected to two
influenza sessions (one per hemisphere), betweea #nd five million cases of severe illness, gmtlbus500,000 deaths. A pandemic occurs
every ten to twenty years, which infects a larggpprtion of the world’s population and can kill eof millions of people as the “Spanish Flu”
did in just two years (50-100 million deaths durit@18-1919).

New influenza viruses are constantly produced byatinn or reassortment, and can develop resistanstandard antiviral drugs. H5SN1
has been spreading from Asia despite the beli¢fitias under control immediately after outbretiiere in 2004. In 2005, there were reports
of H5N1 in wild birds in Europe. In 2006, there weeports of a H5N1 strain in wild birds and poultr Africa and the Near East. According
to the World Health Organization, the H5N1 bird fflas infected 467 people in 15 countries since 2008 282 deaths (60% death rate).
While H5N1 has never been passed person-to-persbhas not spread widely, one concern is the patdot the lethal H5N1 to “reassort”
with another of the influenza sub-types that haserbprone to spread more rapidly in humans, pgssibhting a more dangerous influenza
strain. Through 2006, over 140 million birds haeei killed and over $10 billion has been spenitytdat contain HSN1 avian influenza.

In pre-clinical studies, vaccination with VGX-34@@nerated broadly protective levels of hemaglutdmainhibition titers in 100% of the
immunized animals in five separate animal modelseemiierrets, rabbits, pigs, and rhesus monkeyscidation with VGX-3400x also
protected animals from an unmatched, lethal H5Mdsvchallenge in mouse, ferret, and monkey mod#&ss-3400x also induced significant
levels of antigen-specific CD8+ killer T cell resyzes.

In June 2010, we initiated our United States Phatiaical trial to evaluate our SynCdh H5N1 (avianfluenza DNA vaccine, VGX-
3400X. This H5N1 vaccine study represents the $irsp in demonstrating Inovio’s novel universaluehza vaccine approach, which aims to
bypass the current requirement for annual straithsamtype-specific influenza vaccines by develogirgingle vaccine to potentially protect
against all strains within multiple targeted supey, such as H5N1 and H1N1, posing risk to humans.

This dose escalation study is designed to testdafety and immunogenicity of VGX-3400x. VGX-3400onsists of three distinct DNA
plasmids containing a universal consensus hemagiutiA) antigen derived from different H5N1 fluruses; a universal consensus
neuraminidase (NA) antigen encompassing differehstibtypes such as H5N1 and H1N1; and a univeossensus nucleoprotein (NP) fused
to a small portion of the m2 protein (m2E), botboas¢ncompassing N1-based viruses. We expect thieatltrial to be conducted at two sites in
the United States. Thirty healthy subjects willdmeolled in three dose groups of 0.2 mg, 0.67 md,220 mg of each plasmid delivered via
Inovio’s proprietary electroporation technology .€Tfrimary objectives are to assess safety andatuligy. The secondary objective is to
measure antigen-specific antibody and cellular imentesponses, in particular hemaglutination inkuibi{HI) responses, i.e. a measure of
protection, against multiple strains of H5N1 infize.

In March 2010, we announced that VGX received aygdrim Korea to begin a Phase | clinical trial isaffthy volunteers for our SynCéh
preventative DNA vaccine (VGX-3400) targeting H58Mian influenza. We are co-developing VGX-3400xXwHrea-based VGX Int'l. We
anticipate that the 30-subjectd®se Phase | study will be conducted in multipieichl research sites in Korea and, using a sinsiady desigr
evaluate three dose levels of the vaccine for gafietl immunogenicity.

The results from both of these intramuscular (INP) delivered vaccine studies will be utilized in pag of the intradermal (ID) EP
delivered INO-3510 universal flu vaccine program.

Although a number of companies have well-develapddn influenza programs and lead vaccine candidsge entered into national
stockpiles (US and EU), we believe there existeedrfor new antigen-sparing, rapidly adaptableesasily scalable technologies to prepare for
the as yet unknown target presented by the nemt @dravian influenza. Our SynCéh technology prosigeotection from known avian
influenza viruses (in animal studies) and has ssawn the ability to protect against newly emergantmatched strains.
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Universal Influenza (H5N1/H1N1) Vaccine—INO-3510

Conventional vaccines are strain-specific and Hiaviged ability to protect against genetic shiftsthe influenza strains they target. They
are therefore modified annually in anticipatiortioé next flu season’s new strain(s). If a signffitba different, unanticipated new strain
emerges, such as the 2009 swine-origin pandenaimsthen the current vaccines provide little opnotective capability. In contrast, we
believe that our design approach to charactertm®ad consensus of antigens across variant swéisch influenza sutype creates the abili
to protect against new strains that have commoetgeroots, even though they are not perfectly imedc By formulating a single vaccine with
some or all of the key sub-types, protection mapdideved against seasonal as well as pandemicssgiach as swine flu or pandemic-
potential strains such as avian influenza notedr@bd/e are focused on developing DNA-based inflaerercines able to provide broad
protection against known as well as newly emergimgnown seasonal and pandemic influenza strains.

Instead of targeting a specific strain or strams,have developed
universal vaccine strategy to deal with the evexrdfing flu threats. Using our
SynCon™ process, our scientists designed DNA vasdargeting an optimal
consensus of HA, NA, and NP proteins derived froaitiple strains of each of
the sub-types HIN1, H2N2, H3N2 (these three infhaesub-types having been
responsible for the majority of seasonal and pandérfiuenza outbreaks in
humans during the last century), as well as HSN1héory, consensus HA
vaccine constructs from each sub-type, deliverealsingle shot with our
electroporation device, could potentially proteateinated subjects from 90-
95% of all human seasonal and pandemic influennaasos.

Moreover, using our approach the vaccines mightage to be
administered annually after the first few primirggsions. Rather, the same
combination could be used to boost the immune systeery few years

By using SynCori* consensus sequences, we have gedgbotent and cross-protective DNA vaccines againodtiple influenza strains.
Accordingly, we are evaluating the developmentnaf idditional DNA vaccines for influenza: INO-35Mich is intended to protect against
H1N1 and H5N1, and a “universal” influenza vaccitweprotect against these two sub-types as wadtteexr sub-types. The universal flu
vaccine, which can include a combination of plasmdcoding H1, H2, H3, H5, NA, and NP, is curretidyng evaluated in animal models.
These vaccines are delivered via the CELLECTRA tedporation system and in animals have inducedsbbumoral immune responses,
which are required for protection from pathogenituenza infection. The vaccine can be administevigd either intradermal or intramuscular
injection, although the former raises a greateibadt response.

In January 2011, we announced the presentatiogceht preclinical data using our next generatiomimimally invasive intradermal
(skin) electroporation delivery devices. While aurrent IM delivery technologies are well tolergtee are also advancing device developr
to achieve various desirable attributes. One |Dadepenetrates to no more than 3 mm, comparedremiiscular devices that go deeper.
Furthermore, a second ID device is a minimally giva surface electroporation (SEP) device thatositthe surface of the skin and uses a
virtually undetectable scratch to facilitate defivef the vaccine. With the advancement of thesdcgs, our aim is to make electroporation
delivery amenable to mass prophylactic vaccinadbpuaecreasing dose levels, increasing tolerakilitthe vaccination, and increasing the
breadth of viable vaccine targets.
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The highlighted data related to influenza, HIV, aré, and smallpox antigens, demonstrating that Ridkvery with this newer
generation of ID including its SEP devices yielgigdls of immunogenicity in terms of both antiboay & -cell responses and/or efficacy
against a virus challenge that is comparable tammtiscular electroporation devices currently indl@c. In particular, immune responses
achieved with influenza antigens targeting H1, &3] H5 immunogens yielded hemaglutination titergrefter than 1:40 (a level considered
protective in humans) in 100% of vaccinated animaftisr two immunizations, with magnitudes compagablor better than those reported fi
animal studies of the IM-delivered flu vaccine (V&X00) currently in the clinic.

The first vaccine utilizing Inovio’s intradermaleeitroporation delivery to be tested in a humanystitl be INO-3510, a universal HIN1
and H5N1 SynCort -DNA vaccine. We expect to initiatehase | clinical study of this vaccine in theosel quarter of 2011.

DNA Vaccines for Biodefense and Biosecurity

A number of infectious agents that are relativalsertoday are poised for an upsurge in incidenoeither “natural” or terrorism-related
means. For example, natural threats are posedebpflnenza strain HSN1. At the same time, an eegliad influenza virus for intentional
release would pose a significant human threat.

Since 2001, the United States government has spetiocated over a billion dollars in funding tddress the threat of biological
weapons. United States funding for bioweaponsedlattivities focuses primarily on research for aogquisition of medicines for defense.
Biodefense funding also goes toward stockpilinggxtive equipment, increased surveillance and teteof biological agents, and improving
state and hospital preparedness. The increasesityfie of funding is mainly due to the Project 8iveld Act adopted in 2004.

There are opportunities to secure development igndind for proof-of principle DNA vaccine studies biowarfare pathogens. Over the
past five years, we have been successful at secunmling from the US government for such projects.

The company continues to actively pursue grantcamdract funding from the NIH, Department of Defemsd other government fundi
agencies as an important source of non-dilutivelifugnto support development of specific technoledieat are broadly applicable across
multiple product development programs in the amfasncer, infectious diseases and biodefense dBas@arious initiatives and with the
support of NIH funding we are an active collaboratith the Department of Defense (U.S. Army) andtotue research and development of
DNA-based vaccines delivered via our proprietagcebporation system. Specifically, our projeces facused on identifying DNA vaccine
candidates with the potential to provide rapid,ustimmunity to protect against bwarfare and bioterror attacks as well as developrofour
electroporation based equipment.

Animal Health/Veterinary

VGX Animal Health, Inc. (VGX AH), a majority-owneslibsidiary has licensed LifeTide a plasmid-basedvidr hormone releasing
hormone (GHRH) technology for swine. LifeTifle iseonf only four DNA-based treatments approved fa insanimals and is the only DNA-
based agent delivered using electroporation thebkan granted marketing approval (Australia). Véensorking on partnering and/or
monetizing this program.

Inovio is also developing a novel DNA vaccine foof-and-mouth disease (FMD) administered by Inevjwoprietary vaccine delivery
technology. The FMD virus is one of the most ini@es$ diseases affecting farm animals includingeastine, sheep and goats, and is a
serious threat to global food safety.

VGX AH is also developing a GHRH-based treatmentincer and anemia in dogs and cats.
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Additional Applications of Our DNA Delivery Technology

In addition to using our technology for human damngl vaccine delivery, it can be used for researafalidate new drug targets, to
generate monoclonal antibodies, deliver siRNA athgiomolecules. The use of our technology for neteencreases general awareness for the
technology and may facilitate its transition intmical development for these other applicatiomsadldition, we believe there may be a benefit
to exploring future potential applications for aachnology in the area of gene therapy to treattiedisorders.

We continue to pursue limited opportunities in #neas of stem cells, ex-vivo applications and RNvkiere collaborators would provide
the majority of required development resources.

Our Electroporation DNA Delivery Technology
Choice of Tissue for DNA Delivery

Skeletal muscle has been a core focus for deli@EBNA vaccines via electroporation because it &@nty composed of large elongated
cells with multiple nuclei. Muscle cells are nonviding, hence long-term expression can be obtami#gtbut integration of the gene of interest
into the genome. Muscle cells have been shownwe haapacity for secretion of proteins into theobll stream. Secreted therapeutic proteins
may therefore act systemically and produce thettépetfects in distant tissues of the body. In tieispect, the muscle functions as a factory for
the production of the biopharmaceutical needechbybbdy. We envision that delivery of DNA by elegtoration to muscle cells will
circumvent the costly and complicated productiomcpdures of viral gene delivery vectors, proteisdabdrugs, conventional vaccines and
monoclonal antibodies. This approach may provieagiterm stable expression of a therapeutic praieimonoclonal antibody at a sustained
level.

For vaccination the DNA causes muscle cells to pcedantigenic proteins that the immune systemidalhtify as foreign and against
which it will mount an immune response. As with gentional vaccines, the immune system will theneligy memory of this antigen (and
related disease) for future reference. Intramusagévery by electroporation of DNA encoded antigdas been shown to induce both hun
(antibody) and cellular (T-cell) immune responses.

While we have generated preclinical and prelimir@iyical evidence that intramuscular electropanatbased DNA delivery will be
effective for a number of vaccines, electroporattbthe skin may also be a relevant route of adstiaiion. Skin or intradermal administration
is important and is becoming an attractive sitdrfununization given its high density of antigengaeting cells (APCs). Unlike muscle, skin is
the first line of defense against most pathogensisitherefore very rich in immune cells and molesuSkin specifically contains certain cells
that are known to help in generating a robust iment@sponse. With intradermal administration of etgaoration, we may be able to
demonstrate a comparable immune response to mielolery. Drug delivery into skin, or dermal tissigethe most attractive method given
that the skin is the largest, most accessible naost easily monitored organ of the human body,iischighly immunocompetent (able to
recognize antigens and mount an immune resportbet).

We have also investigatéu vivo delivery of genes directly into tumor cells. Tunoetls can be readily transfected with genes encoded
with selected cytokines or potentially lethal pingefor the treatment of a variety of cancers. gbal of effective tumor delivery is the ultimate
elimination of the transfected tumor, and we haxeeenced very few concerns regarding the safetiyeoprocedure in our trials to date.

Our Electroporation Systems

Existing generations of electroporation systemssishiof an electrical pulse generator box the sfzzlarge laptop attached by a cord"
separate needle-electrode applicator. We recentigiled our new CELLECTRAR -SP series of hand-hetddless electroporation devices.
The new CELLECTRA® - SP devices bring together groundbreaking desigreagtheering advancements to combine all comporiettts
self-contained, easy-to-use portable device tredia cordless hand tool.
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CELLECTRA® System

There are several configurations in the CELLECTRAvide family. The first covers intramuscular (IMjlvery of DNA, the second
covers the intradermal/subcutaneous delivery (f)MNA. Both devices have been validated, manufactumder cGMP and are ready for use
in human clinical trials. We have filed a devicestea file (MAF) with the FDA covering the use oEtiCELLECTRA® -IM EP device in
human clinical trials. The device is intended taused in combination with a DNA plasmid-based vaeci

The new CELLECTRA® - SP products combine the functionality of our curiggneration of skin and intramuscular electroporat
devices in clinical testing with enhanced form,igesand portability. All components from the pulgenerator and applicator are integrated
into a cordless, rechargeable device. The rechblgéattery can enable vaccination of several heshdubjects, making the device highly
amenable to mass vaccination. The devices arerd=sip accommodate different electrode arrays @t the requirements of the particular
vaccine and tissue for delivery (skin or muscle).

Elgen System

The Elger® DNA Delivery System is designed primafidy muscle delivery. It consists of a computericolfed, motorized two needle
delivery device that injects DNA and delivers elepbration pulses through one pair of needles. @&tiex prototype version of this
experimental system is currently under evaluatioadir clinical trial for a prostate cancer vaccaehe University of Southampton in the U.K.

MedPulser® DNA Delivery System

The MedPulse? DNA Delivery System (DDS) was devetbn optimize the delivery of DNA into muscle sellThe modified system is
similar to the MedPulseérElectroporation System. The primary differencesiathe parameters of the electric pulses deliverethe generat:
and the needle-electrode configuration of the appir. The pulse is designed specifically for DN&livkry with a lower strength electrical
field of longer duration than for tumor electroptima. The applicator has a four needle-electrodayaconsisting of one set of opposite pairs.
They are available in a range of configurationmget the requirements of a variety of applications.

Next Generation Devices

In February 2011, we announced new advanced detrieésare using needfese, contactless electroporation technology forRDiccine
delivery. This is the next generation DNA vaccirdivery technology, which provides the powerful leliveg capabilities of electroporation
without contacting the skin Our pre-clinical resgrawas highlighted in a paper published in thergdie journalHuman VaccinesWhile
current Inovio electroporation devices have beewshto be safe and well-tolerated in multiple hurstaudies, Inovio has been advancing
research to achieve the most optimal device cheriatits to facilitate mass vaccinations. The papgrearing irHuman Vaccines
“Piezoelectric permeabilization of mammalian dertigdue for in vivo DNA delivery leads to enhangedtein expression and increased
immunogenicity,” authored by our scientists, ddsesian innovative electroporation method optimipedielivery into skin. This new method
is based on piezoelectricity, which is the generatf an electric field or electric potential byrtagn materials in response to applied mecha
stress.

All of our electroporation-based DNA vaccine deliwsystems noted above can increase levels of ggmession (i.e. production of the
immune-stimulating protein the vaccine was codeprtmluce) of “naked” DNA vaccines by 100-fold or ma@ompared to delivery of naked
DNA vaccines via conventional injection alone. Detiy of our SynCori* DNA vaccines into muscle or sigsue with our electroporation
systems have generated robust immune responseeasd models including influenza (H5N1 and H1Nf)allpox, and HIV. The strong
immune responses resulted in protection of immuh&@mals, most notably ferrets and primates, fdeath and illness following a challenge
with the respective influenza pathogens.
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More significantly, we have translated these anistiadly findings into positive clinical results. Qulinical studies with electroporation
delivery of DNA vaccines in cancer patients haverbamong the first to demonstrate a generatiomtan antigen-specific immune responses
in humans.

Collaborations and Licensing Agreements

We have entered into various arrangements witharatp, academic, and government collaboratorg)simes, licensees and others. These
arrangements are summarized below and elsewhénesiannual report. In addition, we conduct ongaliggussions with potential
collaborators, licensors and licensees.

On March 24, 2010, we entered into a Collaborasiod License Agreement (the “Agreement”) with VGX InUnder the Agreement, v
granted VGX Int'l an exclusive license to our SymCbuniversal influenza vaccine (the “Product”) delied with electroporation to be
developed in certain countries in Asia.

As consideration for the license granted to VGXlImte will receive a research and developmeniatiiin fee, as well as research
support, annual license maintenance fees, andtieyain net Product sales. In addition, continggruin achievement of clinical and regulatory
milestones, we will receive development payments ¢ive term of the Agreement. The Agreement alsgiges Inovio with exclusive rights
supply devices for clinical and commercial purpo$esluding single use components) to VGX Int’l fase in the Product.

The term of the Agreement commenced upon execatidnwill extend on a country by country basis uthi@ last to expire of all Royalty
Periods for the territory (as such term is defimethe Agreement) for any Product in that countnyless the Agreement is terminated earlier in
accordance with its provisions as a result of brebg mutual agreement, or by VGX Int'l right ta@nate without cause upon prior written
notice.

In January 2010, we announced that we expandeexisting license agreement with the University ehRsylvania, adding exclusive
worldwide licenses for technology and intellectpedperty for novel DNA vaccines against pandemiluienza, Chikungunya, and foot-and-
mouth disease. The amendment also encompassesaswkine and cytokine molecular adjuvant technaesgi he technology was develo|
in the University of Pennsylvania laboratory of féssor David B. Weiner, a pioneer in the field d®vaccines and chairman of our scient
advisory board. Under the terms of the originadise agreement completed in 2007, we obtainedsxelworldwide rights to develop
multiple DNA plasmids and constructs with the pagrto treat and/or prevent HIV, HCV, HPV and imdhza and included molecular
adjuvants. These prior and most recent agreemadtarmendments provide for royalty payments, basditore sales, to the University of
Pennsylvania.

In March 2009, we announced an agreement with &leHPMalaria Vaccine Initiative (MVI) to evaluate i preclinical feasibility study
our SynCor® DNA vaccine development platform. Mguedfically, this collaboration was to design aadttbNA vaccine candidates using
target antigens frorRlasmodiunspecies and deliver them intradermally using th&lEECTRA @ electroporation device. The collaboration
brings together vaccine development and malarigxgprom the University of Pennsylvania SchooMadicine and Inovio. The first program
completed in February 2010. In September 2010, Btyfeed to provide follow-on funding to continue ledion and development of our
malaria DNA vaccine candidate in non-human primates

In the prior MVI-funded feasibility study, our maia vaccine candidate induced broad-based immuaitgur pre-erythrocytic malaria
antigens. In the current non-human primate study SynCon™ DNA vaccine platform, which targets spoites and the liver stage of the
parasite, is delivered using our proprietary etgmration delivery technology. Humoral (antibodyaellular (T-cell) responses will be
assessed in this follow-on program, conducted bystime collaboration of vaccine experts from thevéfsity of Pennsylvania School of
Medicine and us.
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Malaria continues to present a major healthcaréesige in the developing world and has been thadad much attention by global
public health agencies. Development of an effectaecine againd®lasmodium falciparurhas been a challenge. The parasite undergoes
several stages of development during its life cyeld presents different potential target antigeérsieh stage as it passes through its huma
mosquito hosts. Our vaccine candidate targetsrfe@gythrocytic stage of the parasite and focuseimaduction of both humoral and cellular
responses against multiple target antigens. Tipsoggh is intended to help prevent infection oéticells and to further clear those cells that,
despite the antibody response, become infectedafggting the parasite during the first days aftéaction, this type of vaccine may prevent
the onset of malaria symptoms and further inhipiead of the disease.

The program funding is over a year and may haubéuarfollow-on funding.

In May 2004, we announced a licensing arrangeméhtMerck for the development of Merck’s DNA caneerd infectious disease
vaccines. The terms of the agreement include mitesand royalty payments for successful complatfathe clinical development of the
vaccines by Merck. Under the terms of the agreeyéatck reimbursed us for the co-development ofcgpetary electroporation system for
the delivery of Merck’s DNA vaccines. This develogmhand commercialization agreement was an exterdian initial evaluation agreement
established in 2003. Merck received the right ® aisr proprietary technology for two specific aptig with an option to extend the agreement
to include a limited number of additional targetig@ns. In addition, Merck obtained a non-excludigense to the intellectual property related
to the initial two specific antigens. Merck is resgible for all development costs and clinical pemgs.

In May 2005, we announced that Merck exercisedmiom for a non-exclusive license for an additioaatigen to be used with our
MedPulseP DNA Delivery System. This option exercises provided for under the 2004 license and rekeznllaboration agreement, and
brought the total number of antigens licensed byddéo three. We received an option fee for theitamlthl target antigen. Under the terms of
our license agreement with Merck, we are eligiblerhilestone and royalty payments if certain deppient goals and commercialization of
device are achieved by Merck.

Market

We anticipate that over the next several yearsnabeu of key demographic and technological factbmugl accelerate growth in the
market for vaccines and medical therapies to preaed treat infectious diseases and cancer, pkatigun our product categories. These
factors include the following:

* Rise in emerging infectious diseases and the tlokpandemicsThe attention received by the pandemic potentiaividin influenzi
has mobilized cross-border agencies including gowents, world health organizations and privateualic corporations to
develop effective vaccination and therapeuticdegiias. Our candidate vaccines for avian influe@takungunya and dengue are
among those intended to serve these ne

* Increased consumer awareneln areas such as cervical cancer, increased comawageness related to HPV infection, the
primary cause of cervical cancer, has led to redesiiorts for developing effective therapies. Thierent vaccines for cervical
cancer prevention (Gardasil and Cervarix ), whéap effective measures for prevention in the uoseg population, are
ineffective in people infected with HP'

» Large unmet needn areas such as HIV and HCV (prevention and thgrdgere is a large unmet need with no vaccineoogton
the market. With the exit of several players inttbeent years from the HIV vaccine development . afeair vaccines prove
successful we believe we are positioned to obtaiigrificant market positior

We believe there is a significant unmet clinicatti¢o develop more efficacious vaccines that steutellular immunity (i.e., can indu
T-cell responses) and can be applied to diseastsasucancer, hepatitis C or
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HIV infection. For these applications, our scietstiselieve that DNA vaccines may offer an improvatrever conventional vaccination. Our
scientists believe that electroporation of DNAigical to maximizing the efficiency of DNA vaccitian and meeting unmet clinical needs for
therapeutic vaccines, which some industry analystsider to be a multi-billion dollar market oppaonity.

Competition

We are aware of several development-stage andlisbidb enterprises, including major pharmaceutcal biotechnology firms, which
are actively engaged in infectious disease andetaraccine research and development. These in€@udeell N.V., Sanofi-Aventis, Novartis,
Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc, Merck, Pfizer, and Medimne, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of AstraZendnc. We may also experience
competition from companies that have acquired oy aaguire technologies from companies, universaigd other research institutions. As
these companies develop their technologies, thgydaaelop proprietary technologies which may matbriand adversely affect our business.

In addition, a number of companies are developnoglpcts to address the same diseases that wergedirig. For example, Sanofi-
Aventis, Novartis, Inc., Medimmune, GlaxoSmithKIjr@SL (in collaboration with Merck), and others bBgwroducts or development programs
for influenza. Merck and GlaxoSmithKline have prottuon the market for cervical cancer for prophigaXransgene/Roche have a therapeutic
cervical cancer product in Phase Il trials. Muchhaf development for a HIV vaccine is being donggbyernment and non-government
organizations such as the NIH and Bill & Melindat&aFoundation.

We compete with companies that are developing DEWvery technologies, such as viral delivery sydelipid-based systems, or
electroporation technology with an aim to carry ioutivo gene delivery for the treatment of varialiseases. Currently there are five key D
delivery technologies: viral, lipids, naked DNA €ige gun” and electroporation. All of these techg@s have shown promise, but they each
also have their unique obstacles to overcome. Weueeour electroporation system is strongly posiéid to succeed as the dominant delivery
method for DNA vaccines.

Viral DNA Delivery

This technology utilizes a virus as a carrier tbvée genetic material into target cells. The metliwvery efficient for delivering vaccine
antigens and has the advantage of mimicking real wifection so that the recipient will mount ahd immune response against the vaccine.
The greatest limitation of the technology stemsnfigroblems with unwanted immune responses agdiastital vector, limiting its use to
patients who have not been previously exposedewitial vector and making repeated administratidiicdlt. In addition, complexity and
safety concerns increase the cost of vaccines amglicate regulatory approval.

Ballistic DNA Delivery (Gene Gun)

This technology utilizes micron sized DN#ated gold particles that are shot into the skingicompressed gas. The method has ma
considerably over the last 15 years and has bemmrsto be an efficient method to deliver a numHterazcine antigens. Since the DNA is dry
coated, excellent stability of the vaccine can ti@eved. The method is limited to use in skin anty @ few micrograms of genetic material
be delivered each time. This may limit the utilitithe method for targets such as cancer whereehigbses of vaccine antigens and stronger T-
cell responses are needed.

Lipid DNA Delivery

A number of lipid formulations have been develofieat increase the effect of DNA vaccines. Thesekvbgreither increasing uptake of
the DNA into cells or by acting as an adjuvantrtalg the immune system. While there has been psmin this field, lipid delivery tends to be
less efficient than viral vectors and is hampengddncerns regarding toxicity and increased comiflex
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“Naked” DNA Delivery

The simplest DNA delivery mode is the injection‘néked” plasmid DNA into target tissue, usually lgkal muscle. This method is safe
and economical but inefficient in terms of cellnséection, the process of transferring DNA intcedl across the outer cell membrane.
Unfortunately, it is the least effective way of igdeting DNA since only an extremely small fracti@approximately one out of twenty million)
of the DNA molecules are taken up by the cells. i/tiie method may have provided some utility fer fileld of gene therapy, a number of
clinical studies over the last decade have shoanttte method is inadequate for delivering DNA wiaes into large animals and humans.

“Naked” DNA Delivery With Electroporation

When naked DNA injection is followed by electroptima of the target tissue, transfection is sigmifitly greater with resultant gene
expression generally enhanced a 1000-fold. Thieasz makes many DNA vaccine candidates potenfedhible without unduly
compromising safety or cost.

In December 2004, the first patient was treatedgueur electroporation system to deliver a plasbiA-based immunotherapy and we
have initiated, together with partners, additiorbhse | and Phase Il clinical trials using ourtetgoration technology to deliver DNA-based
immunotherapies or DNA vaccines. To date our sigemhave not observed any serious adverse ev@itsan be attributed to the use of
electroporation in these clinical DNA studies.

We believe that the greatest obstacle to making @Bécines and immunotherapies a reality has beefatk of safe, efficient and
economical delivery of DNA plasmid constructs itdoget cells and that electroporation may becoraartbthod of choice for DNA delivery
into cells in many applications.

There are other companies with electroporatiorlettial property and devices. We believe we hégeificant competitive advantages
over other companies focused on electroporatiomfdltiple reasons:

* We have an extensive history and experience inldpivg the methods and devices that optimize tleafi®lectroporation i
conjunction with DNA-based agents. This experigmag been validated with multiple sets of interiradeom multiple clinical
studies assessing DNA-based immunotherapies amihegcagainst cancers and infectious disease. f@geith our partners and
collaborators, we have been the leader in estab{jgroof-of-principle of electroporation-deliver@NA vaccines and
immunotherapies

* We have a broad product line of electroporatiotrimsents designed to enable DNA delivery in tumorsscle, and skir

* We have been very proactive in filing for pateaswell as acquiring and licensing additional piteto expand our internatior
patent estate

If any of our competitors develop products withiety or safety profiles significantly better thaur products, we may not be able to
commercialize our products, and sales of any ofcoummercialized products could be harmed. Somein€ompetitors and potential
competitors have substantially greater product ldgweent capabilities and financial, scientific, tketing and human resources than we do.
Competitors may develop products earlier, obtaid\FPprovals for products more rapidly, or developducts that are more effective than
those under development by us. We will seek to eaair technological capabilities to remain competj however, research and
development by others may render our technologigsarlucts obsolete or noncompetitive, or resuttéatments or cures superior to ours.

Our competitive position will be affected by theefise indications addressed by our product caedidaid those of our competitors, the
timing of market introduction for these productsidhe stage of development of other technologiesltiress these disease indications. For us
and our competitors, proprietary technologies, the
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ability to complete clinical trials on a timely imand with the desired results, and the abilitplitain timely regulatory approvals to market
these product candidates are likely to be signiticampetitive factors. Other important competitigetors will include the efficacy, safety,
ease of use, reliability, availability and priceppbducts and the ability to fund operations dutimg period between technological conception
and commercial sales.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies may expangcurequirements for public disclosure of DNA-badproduct development data,
which may harm our competitive position with foneignd United States companies developing DNA-baseducts for similar indications.

Government Regulation
DNA Vaccine Product Regulation

Any pharmaceutical products we develop will requégulatory clearances prior to clinical trials auttlitional regulatory approvals prior
to commercialization. New gene-based products &cine or therapeutic applications are subjecktensive regulation by the FDA and
comparable agencies in other countries. The pree@datory requirements with which we will havectimply are uncertain at this time due to
the novelty of the gene-based products and indiestior uses, that are currently under developn@mntpotential products will be regulated
either as biological products or as drugs. In tinétedl States, drugs are subject to regulation utiseFederal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or
the FDC Act. Biological products, in addition toifg subject to provisions of the FDC Act, are regedl in the United States under the Public
Health Service Act. Both statutes and related igpris govern, among other things, testing, manufag, safety, efficacy, labeling, storage,
record keeping, advertising, and other promotigmnattices.

Obtaining FDA approval or comparable approval freimilar agencies in other countries is a costly tim&-consuming process.
Generally, FDA approval requires that preclinidaldses be conducted in the laboratory and in animadel systems to gain preliminary
information on efficacy and to identify any maj@afaty concerns. In the United States, the restilisese studies are submitted as a part of an
IND application which the FDA must review and alltwefore human clinical trials can start. The INplation includes a detailed
description of the proposed clinical investigations

A company must submit an IND application or equéwalapplication in other countries for each propgz®duct and must conduct
clinical studies to demonstrate the safety ana&¢fy of the product necessary to obtain FDA approvaomparable approval from similar
agencies in other countries. For example, in thitedrStates, the FDA receives reports on the pssgoéeach phase of clinical testing and |
require the modification, suspension, or termimatb clinical trials if an unwarranted risk is peesed to patients.

To obtain FDA approval prior to marketing a pharmatical product in the United States typically riegsi several phases of clinical trials
to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the ptbdandidate. Clinical trials are the means by Wwhagperimental treatments are tested in
humans, and are conducted following preclinicaings Clinical trials may be conducted within theitéd States or in foreign countries. If
clinical trials are conducted in foreign countrithe products under development as well as this i@ subject to regulations of the FDA
and/or its counterparts in the other countries.tUgaccessful completion of clinical trials, approamarket the treatment for a particular
patient population may be requested from the FD&h@United States and/or its counterparts in atbentries.

Clinical trials for therapeutic products are noripalone in three phases. Phase | clinical triagstgpically conducted with a small num
of patients or healthy subjects to evaluate satiermine a safe dosage range, identify sidetsffaad, if possible, gain early evidence of
effectiveness. Phase Il clinical trials are conddatith a larger group of patients to evaluateaifeness of an investigational product for a
defined patient population, and to determine comstart-term side effects and risks associated tluggtrdrug. Phase Ill clinical
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trials involve large scale, multi-center, comparatirials that are conducted to evaluate the olvkealefitrisk relationship of the investigatior
product and to provide an adequate basis for ptddbeling. In some special cases where the effitasting of a product may present a spe
challenge to testing in humans, such as in the @baevaccine to protect healthy humans from atlifeatening disease that is not a naturally
occurring threat, effectiveness testing may beiredun animals.

After completion of clinical trials of a new prody&DA marketing approval must be obtained or eglaint approval in comparable
agencies in other countries. For the FDA, if thedoict is regulated as a biologic, a Biologics Lee@pplication, or BLA, is required and if 1
product is classified as a new drug, a New Drugliépfion, or NDA, is required. The NDA or BLA mustclude results of product
development activities, preclinical studies, ardicél trials in addition to detailed chemistry, méiacturing and control information.

Applications submitted to the FDA are subject tauapredictable and potentially prolonged approvatpss. Despite good-faith
communication and collaboration between the apptiead the FDA during the development processiFib& may ultimately decide, upon
final review of the data, that the application doessatisfy its criteria for approval or requisedditional product development or further
preclinical or clinical studies. Even if FDA regtday clearances are obtained, a marketed prodsctigect to continual review, and later
discovery of previously unknown problems or failtwecomply with the applicable regulatory requirertsemay result in restrictions on the
marketing of a product or withdrawal of the prodfrotn the market as well as possible civil or cnialisanctions.

Before marketing clearance for a product can barselg the facility in which the product is manufaetd must be inspected by the FDA
and must comply with cGMP regulations. In additiafter marketing clearance is secured, the manufagtfacility must be inspected
periodically for cGMP compliance by FDA inspectors.

In addition to the FDA requirements, the NIH hatabkshed guidelines for research involving humeanegic materials, including
recombinant DNA molecules. The FDA cooperates énghforcement of these guidelines, which applylteeaombinant DNA research that is
conducted at facilities supported by the NIH, imihg proposals to conduct clinical research invavjene therapies. The NIH review of
clinical trial proposals and safety informatioraipublic process and often involves review and aygdrby the Recombinant DNA Advisory
Committee, of the NIH.

Sponsors of clinical trials are required to registed report results for all controlled clinical@stigations, other than Phase |
investigations, of a product subject to FDA regolat Trial registration may require public discloswf confidential commercial development
data resulting in the loss of competitive secnetich could be commercially detrimental.

Medical Device Manufacturing Regulation

In addition, we are subject to regulation as a weddievice manufacturer. We must comply with aetgrof manufacturing, product
development and quality regulations in order t@blke to distribute our electroporation devices caruially around the world. In Europe, we
must comply with the Medical Device Directives. Wave a Quality System certified by its internatiodatified Body to be in compliance
with the international Quality System Standard, 13@85, and meeting the Annex Il Quality System meguoents of the MDD. We completed
Annex Il Conformity Assessment procedures to alfomthe CE Mark of our electroporation devices.

In the United States, we are required to maintadilifies, equipment, processes and proceduresthah compliance with quality
systems regulations. Our systems have been coteirtecbe in compliance with these regulations @ndongoing operations are conducted
within these systems. Commercially distributed desiwithin the United States must be developedrniodmal design controls and be
submitted to the FDA for clearance or approval.délvelopment activity is performed according tarfat procedures to ensure compliance
with all design control regulations.
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We employ modern manufacturing methods and contoatptimize performance and control costs. Intecagabilities and core
competencies are strategically determined to op&rour manufacturing efficiency. We utilize contraanufacturers for key operations, such
as clean room assembly and sterilization, whiclmateeconomically conducted in-house. We outsosigeificant sub-assemblies, such as
populated printed circuit boards, for which capiejuirements or manufacturing volumes do notfisertical integration.

Other Regulations

We also are subject to various federal, state acal laws, regulations, and recommendations regJdtrsafe working conditions,
laboratory and manufacturing practices, the expenmi@a use of animals, and the use and disposazErous or potentially hazardous
substances, including radioactive compounds aretiitius disease agents, used in connection withesgiarch. The extent of government
regulation that might result from any future legi&n or administrative action cannot be accurgbeddicted.

Commercialization and Manufacturing

Because of the broad potential applications oftecinnologies, we intend to develop and commereglioducts both on our own and
through our collaborators and licensees. We interdevelop and commercialize products in well-dediispecialty markets, such as infectious
diseases and cancer. Where appropriate, we intergdyton strategic marketing and distributionaaikes.

We believe our plasmids can be produced in commlegciantities through uniform methods of fermeiwiatind processing that are
applicable to all plasmids. We believe we will ixeato obtain sufficient supplies of plasmids féifareseeable clinical investigations.

Relationship with VGX Int’l

We acquired an equity interest in VGX Initi 2005. As of December 31, 2010 we owned 19.@8%e outstanding capital stock of VC
Int’l and VGX Int’l owned 294,360 shares of our coron stock. None of our current officers, directanskey employees beneficially owns,
directly or indirectly, any securities of VGX Int'Bryan Kim, our vice president of Asian operatiotigrrently constitutes one of the six
members of VGX Int'I's board of directors and reas customary compensation from VGX Int’'l for hés\dce in such capacity. Bryan Kim
currently serves as the president and chief exexofficer of VGX Int'l.

In 2008 we sold our manufacturing operations (idirig patent rights to certain manufacturing techgyg) to VGXI, Inc, a whollyewned
United States subsidiary of VGX Int'l. In connectiwith this transfer we entered into a Supply Agreat pursuant to which VGXI, Inc., a
cGMP contract manufacturer, produces and supgiee®NA plasmids for all of our research and clihicials. The price of the plasmids we
purchase from VGXI, Inc. is determined by us andXd/@t'l at the time of order placement or, with pegt to product supplied in connection
with a grant contract, based on the contractegimdided by the applicable agency. We agreed & W& X Int’l and its subsidiary as our me
favored supplier for DNA plasmids and VGX Int'l aitd subsidiary agreed to treat us as their mastréd customer. Before we can
manufacture DNA plasmids on our own behalf or elegathird party other than VGX Int'l or its subsidi to manufacture DNA plasmids for
us, we must first offer such manufacturing work/@X Int’l or its subsidiary.

We have also entered into a license and collalmratyreements pursuant to which we have granted W@Dexclusive rights to certain
of our product candidates in certain jurisdictiofsr example, VGX Int'l has exclusive rights in odtes including Korea to our VG400 fol
treatment of the avian flu. In exchange for thégkts VGX Int’l shares the development costs fansf our product candidates.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, we recognethue from VGX Int'l of $381,000, which considtef licensing fees, device
lease and other fees. Operating expenses relaié@Xo, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 20108ev&3.4 million relating to
manufacturing and engineering services. At DecerlheP010 we had an accounts receivable balang&2000 from VGX Int’l and its
subsidiaries.
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Intellectual Property

Patents and other proprietary rights are essdnt@lr business. We file patent applications tdgmbour technologies, inventions and
improvements to our inventions that we considerdrtgmt to the development of our business. Wefditgoatent registration extensively in the
United States and in key foreign markets. Althooghpatent filings include claims covering varidaatures of our products and product
candidates, including composition, methods of maciufre and use, our patents do not provide usaeitiplete protection, or guarantee,
against the development of competing productsdtiteon, some of our know-how and technology arepadentable. We thus also rely upon
trade secrets, knoWwew, continuing technological innovations and lisiey opportunities to develop and maintain our cetitipe position. We
also require employees, consultants, advisors alaborators to enter into confidentiality agreemsebut such agreements may provide
limited protection for our trade secrets, know-hmwother proprietary information.

Our intellectual property portfolio covers our prigpary technologies, including electroporationikaly and vaccine related technolog
As of February 23, 2011, our patent portfolio ir#d over 85 issued United States patents and 20&dgoreign counterpart patents.
Key vaccine related technology patents and puldigfzgent applications include the following:
» European patent no. 1809336B1, entit“Growth Hormone Releasing Hormone (GHRH) EnhancexMation Respon”
» US Pat No. 7,846,720, entitle"Optimized High Yield Synthetic Plasm”

» International publication WO 08/014521, entitletinproved Vaccines and Methods for Using the Saméjth includes HCV,
HPV, influenza, HIV, and cancer (hnTERT) SynC™ DNA.

» International publication WO2009/099716, entitl“Novel Vaccines Against Multiple Subtypes Of Denyliis.”
* International publication WO2009/073330, entitl“Novel Vaccines Against Multiple Subtypes Of InflzanVirus”

* US Pat No. 7,245,963, entitled, “Constant Currdattode Assembly for Electroporation,” which covéne CELLECTRA®P
electroporation device

Key electroporation related patents covering rasfdeeld strengths include the following:

» US Pat No. 5,273,525 issued December 28, 1993rsx@D13
e US Pat No. 6,110,161 issued August 29, 2

» US Pat No. 6,261,281 issued July 17, 2

» US Pat No. 6,958,060 issued October 25, 2

» US Pat No. 6,939,862 issued September 6, :

* European patent No. 999867 issued September 8,

If we fail to protect our intellectual property hig adequately our competitors might gain accessitdechnology and our business wa
thus be harmed. In addition, defending our intéllacproperty rights might entail significant exgenAny of our intellectual property rights
may be challenged by others or invalidated throagyministrative processes or litigation throughdbarts. In addition, our patents, or any
other patents that may be issued to us in thedutaay not provide us with any competitive advaesa@r may be challenged by third parties.
Furthermore, legal standards relating to the vigljdinforceability and scope of protection of iteetual property rights are uncertain. Effective

patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret ptiotemay not be available to us in each countrgngtwe operate. The laws of some foreign
countries may not be as protective of intellechraberty rights as those in the United States,domdestic and international mechanisms
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for enforcement of intellectual property rightstiose countries may be inadequate. Accordinglypiteesur efforts, we may be unable to
prevent third parties from infringing upon or mipappriating our intellectual property or otherwggning access to our technology. We may
be required to expend significant resources to toaind protect our intellectual property rightse Wiay initiate claims or litigation against
third parties for infringement of our proprietaights or to establish the validity of our proprigtaights. Any such litigation, whether or not it
is ultimately resolved in our favor, would resuitsignificant expense to us and divert the effoftsur technical and management personnel.

There may be rights we are not aware of, includipglications that have been filed but not publistied, when issued, could be asserted
against us. These third-parties could bring claagainst us, and that would cause us to incur sofist@xpenses and, if successful against us,
could cause us to pay substantial damages. Fuitlagpatent infringement suit were brought agairsstwe could be forced to stop or delay
research, development, manufacturing or saleseoptbduct or biologic drug candidate that is thiaiestt of the suit. As a result of patent
infringement claims, or in order to avoid potentilims, we may choose or be required to seeleadie from the third-party. These licenses
may not be available on acceptable terms, or aEaéin if we are able to obtain a license, thenkeewould likely obligate us to pay license f
or royalties or both, and the rights granted tonight be non-exclusive, which could result in oampetitors gaining access to the same
intellectual property. Ultimately, we could be peeted from commercializing a product, or be fortiedease some aspect of our business
operations, if, as a result of actual or threatgregdnt infringement claims, we are unable to einterlicenses on acceptable terms. All of the
issues described above could also impact our aoiabrs, which would also impact the success ottikaboration and therefore us.

Important legal issues remain to be resolved dise@xtent and scope of available patent protedtiphiologic products, including
vaccines, and processes in the United States &ed iotportant markets outside the United Statesh sis Europe and Japan. Foreign markets
may not provide the same level of patent protecti®provided under the United States patent sysémrecognize that litigation or
administrative proceedings may be necessary tordete the validity and scope of certain of our atiters’ proprietary rights. Any such
litigation or proceeding may result in a signifit@emmitment of resources in the future and coatdd us to interrupt our operations, redesign
our products or processes, or negotiate a licegreement, all of which would adversely affect cewanue. Furthermore, changes in, or
different interpretations of, patent laws in theitdd States and other countries may result in pd&ers that allow others to use our discoveries
or develop and commercialize our products.

We cannot guarantee that the patents we obtalmeaurtpatented technology we hold will afford usigigant commercial protection.

Significant Customers and Research and Development

During the year ended December 31, 2010 we defigét of our revenue from the NIAID; during the yeaded December 31, 2009 we
derived 49% of our revenue from Wyeth and 33% ofreuenue from the NIAID. Revenues from Wyeth wgeaerated under a collaboration
and licensing agreement, which Wyeth terminateglig 2009.

Since our inception, virtually all of our activitidnave consisted of research and developmentfigetted to developing our
electroporation technologies and DNA vaccines. Reteand development expense consists of expems&sdd in performing research and
development activities including salaries and besidhcilities and other overhead expenses, dirtitals, contract services and other outside
expenses. Our research and development expensgl®a&smillion in 2010 and $9.4 million in 2009.

Corporate History and Headquarters

We were originally incorporated on June 29, 198®iar the laws of California as Biotechnologies &Esimental Research, Inc. The
entity changed its corporate name to BTX, Inc. @c&nber 10, 1991, and
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Genetronics, Inc. on February 8, 1994. On April 1994, the board of directors approved a shareamgdagreement with Consolidated Un
Safety Technologies Inc. On September 2, 1997 jstexdl on the Toronto Stock Exchange as Genetr@®i@msedical Ltd, under the laws of
British Columbia, Canada, which wholly owned Geaeits, Inc. On June 15, 2001, we completed a changeisdiction of incorporation
from British Columbia, Canada, to the state of Belee and became Genetronics Biomedical Corporadi@glaware corporation. On
January 17, 2003, Genetronics voluntarily de-listech the Toronto Stock Exchange. On March 31, 2@0% corporate name changed from
Genetronics Biomedical Corporation to Inovio Bioriwadl Corporation. On June 1, 2009, we completedatitpiisition of VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“VGX”), a privately-held cpamy, pursuant to the terms of an Amended and Restaggreement and Plan of Merger
dated December 5, 2008, as further amended on MrchO09 by and among Inovio, Inovio’s wholly-owingubsidiary Inovio

Acquisition, LLC and VGX (the “Merger”). Upon thdosing of the Merger, Inovio Acquisition, LLC assathall of VGX'’s business, properti
and assets and assumed its obligations, changeanits to VGX Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and remains allytowned subsidiary of the
Company, utilizing a single, integrated managenteguin with Inovio. On May 14, 2010, the entity cheaigts corporate name to Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. We conduct our business tifrour United States wholly-owned subsidiaries, éhemics, Inc. and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, LLC.

Our principal executive offices are located at 13&ntry Parkway West, Blue Bell, Pennsylvania 19422 the telephone number is
(267) 440-4200.

Available Information

Our Internet website addressagvw.inovio.com We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quartesports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, Forms 3, 4, and 5 filed ondtkedf directors and executive officers, and anyeadments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofSkeurities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange @vailable free of charge on our
website as soon as reasonably practicable aftedewgronically file such material with, or furnigiito, the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC. You can also read and aogymaterials we file with the SEC at the SEC’sIRUReference Room at 100 F Street,
NE, Washington, DC 20549. You can obtain additionfdrmation about the operation of the Public Refiee Room by calling the SEC «
800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains aerfrdt site (www.sec.gov) that contains reportsxyand information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electroficavith the SEC, including us.

Information regarding our corporate governanceufiog the charters of our audit committee, our ir@tion and corporate governance
committee and our compensation committee, our @b@isiness Conduct and Ethics, our Corporate Gmrere Policy and information for
contacting our board of directors is available anlaternet site (www.inovio.com). We will providey of the foregoing information without
charge upon request to Peter Kies, 11494 SorrealleyRoad Suite A, San Diego, CA, 92121.

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics includeode of Ethics applicable to our Chief Executdicer and Chief Financial
Officer, who also serves as our principal accountfficer. Any amendments to or waivers of the CoflEthics will be promptly posted on ¢
Internet site (www.inovio.com) or in a report onrffo8-K, as required by applicable law.

Employees

As of March 4, 2011, we employed 41 people on ktifime basis and 3 people under consulting andegt@mployment agreements. Of
the combined total, 24 were in product researcli¢hvimcludes research and development, qualityrasse, clinical, engineering, and
manufacturing, and 20 were in general and admatist, which includes corporate development, infation technology, legal, investor
relations, finance, and corporate administratioon®&of our employees are subject to collective &iargg agreements.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following factoegarding information included in this Annual Reppdhe risks and uncertainties
described below are not the only ones we face.tidddil risks and uncertainties not presently kndeiis or that we currently deem
immaterial also may impair our business operatidhany of the following risks actually occur, dousiness, financial condition and operating
results could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have incurred losses since inception, expedhtur significant net losses in the foreseeable diné and may never become profitable.

We have experienced significant operating lossekate; as of December 31, 2010 our accumulateditefis approximately
$194.8 million. We have generated limited revenpeisarily consisting of license and grant reverarg] interest income. We expect to
continue to incur substantial additional operatogses for at least the next several years as wanad our clinical trials and research and
development activities. We may never successfummercialize our vaccine product candidates orntedporation-based DNA vaccine
delivery technology and thus may never have anyifsggnt future revenues or achieve and sustaifitptility.

We have limited sources of revenue and our sucdssiependent on our ability to develop our vaccined other product candidates and
electroporation equipment.

We do not sell any products and may not have amgrgiroducts commercially available for severalrgge at all. Our ability to generate
future revenues depends heavily on our success in:

» developing and securing United States and/or fareggulatory approvals for our product candidateduding securing regulatory
approval for conducting clinical trials with prodwandidates

» developing our electroporati-based DNA delivery technology; a
« commercializing any products for which we receippraval from the FDA and foreign regulatory autkies.

Our electroporation equipment and product cand&ail require extensive additional clinical studyd evaluation, regulatory approval
in multiple jurisdictions, substantial investmentasignificant marketing efforts before we genegatg revenues from product sales. We are
not permitted to market or promote our electropore¢équipment and product candidates before weuwecegulatory approval from the FDA
or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. If deenot receive regulatory approval for and sudodigscommercialize any products, we will
not generate any revenues from sales of electripnraquipment and products, and we may not betaldentinue our operations.

None of our human vaccine product candidates hagbeapproved for sale, and we may not develop conuially successful vaccin
products.

Our human vaccine programs are in the early stafyessearch and development, and currently incliadeine product candidates in
discovery, preclinical studies and Phase | and Il clinical stgdihere are limited data regarding the efficieotlPNA vaccines compared w
conventional vaccines, and we must conduct a satistamount of additional research and developrbefdre any regulatory authority will
approve any of our vaccine product candidates.sTieeess of our efforts to develop and commercialirevaccine product candidates could
fail for a number of reasons. For example, we cexioerience delays in product development andadiritials. Our vaccine product candid:
could be found to be ineffective or unsafe, or oilige fail to receive necessary regulatory cleagan®he products, if safe and effective, could
be difficult to manufacture on a large scale oraam®mical to market, or our competitors could depeduperior vaccine products more quic
and efficiently or more effectively market theimgpeting products.
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In addition, adverse events, or the perceptiordetese events, relating to vaccines and vaccineatgltechnologies may negatively
impact our ability to develop commercially successhiccine products. For example, pharmaceuticalpamies have been subject to claims
that the use of some pediatric vaccines has capessdnal injuries, including brain damage, cemeal/ous system damage and autism. These
and other claims may influence public perceptiothefuse of vaccine products and could result éaigr governmental regulation, stricter
labeling requirements and potential regulatory yiela the testing or approval of our potential proid.

We will need substantial additional capital to déee our electroporation-based DNA vaccine deliveéegchnology and vaccine and other
product candidates and for our future operatior

Conducting the costly and time consuming reseamahclinical and clinical testing necessary to obtagulatory approvals and bring our
vaccine delivery technology and product candidtedeaarket will require a commitment of substantiedds in excess of our current capital.
Our future capital requirements will depend on méagfors, including, among others:

» the progress of our current and new product devedop programs

» the progress, scope and results of ou-clinical and clinical testinc

» the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals

» the cost of manufacturing our products and prodantlidates

» the cost of prosecuting, enforcing and defendirgresg patent infringement claims and other intéllabproperty rights
» competing technological and market developments;

» our ability and costs to establish and maintaifatarative and other arrangements with third patibeassist in potentially bringir
our products to marke

Additional financing may not be available on acede terms, or at all. Domestic and internatiorgiital markets have been
experiencing heightened volatility and turmoil, rimakit more difficult to raise capital through tiesuance of equity securities. Furthermore, as
a result of the recent volatility in the capital nkets, the cost and availability of credit has baed may continue to be adversely affected by
illiquid credit markets and wider credit spreadsen€ern about the stability of the markets geneiallgt the strength of counterparties
specifically has led many lenders and institutidnaestors to reduce, and in some cases ceaseumey funding to borrowers. To the extent
we are able to raise additional capital throughstile of equity securities or we issue securitieinnection with another transaction, the
ownership position of existing stockholders coutdsbibstantially diluted. If additional funds arésea through the issuance of preferred stock
or debt securities, these securities are likelyaee rights, preferences and privileges senioutccommon stock and may involve significant
fees, interest expense, restrictive covenantstandranting of security interests in our assetsctbhting interest rates could also increase the
costs of any debt financing we may obtain. Raisiayital through a licensing or other transactiorolving our intellectual property could
require us to relinquish valuable intellectual pedp rights and thereby sacrifice long-term valoeghort-term liquidity.

Our failure to successfully address ongoing liqyidequirements would have a substantially negathygact on our business. If we are
unable to obtain additional capital on acceptadtms when needed, we may need to take actionadhratsely affect our business, our stock
price and our ability to achieve cash flow in théufe, including possibly surrendering our rigltsome technologies or product opportunities,
delaying our clinical trials or curtailing or ceagioperations.
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We depend upon key personnel who may terminatertbaiployment with us at any time and we may needtiite additional qualified
personnel in order to obtain financing, pursue calborations or develop or market our product candids.

The success of our business strategy will depemadsignificant degree upon the continued serviéé®wp management, technical and
scientific personnel and our ability to attract aethin additional qualified personnel and managgeciuding personnel with expertise in
clinical trials, government regulation, manufaatgri marketing and other areas. Competition forifj@dlpersonnel is intense among
companies, academic institutions and other orgéniza If we are unable to attract and retain kegspnnel and advisors, it may negatively
affect our ability to successfully develop, testimenercialize and market our products and produndicates.

We face intense and increasing competition and marfiyour competitors have significantly greater raswes and experience.

Many other companies are pursuing other formseattnent or prevention for diseases that we taFgetexample, many of our
competitors are working on developing and testisNH, HLN1 and universal influenza vaccines, aneésd\H1N1 vaccines developed by our
competitors have been approved for human use. @upetitors and potential competitors include lggbarmaceutical and medical device
companies and more established biotechnology coiepaihese companies have significantly greatanfiial and other resources and greater
expertise than us in research and developmentrisggovernment contracts and grants to suppoeares and development efforts,
manufacturing, pre-clinical and clinical testindptaining regulatory approvals and marketing. Th&é/make it easier for them to respond more
quickly than us to new or changing opportunitieshhologies or market needs. Many of these conopetiiperate large, well-funded research
and development programs and have significant mtsdapproved or in development. Small companies at&y prove to be significant
competitors, particularly through collaborativeaamgements with large pharmaceutical companiesrougfin acquisition or development of
intellectual property rights. Our potential compats also include academic institutions, governmlesgencies and other public and private
research organizations that conduct research,mekt protection and establish collaborative jeaments for product and clinical
development and marketing. Research and developmyesthers may seek to render our technologiesamyzts obsolete or noncompetitive.

If we lose or are unable to secure collaboratorspartners, or if our collaborators or partners dooh apply adequate resources to th
relationships with us, our product development apdtential for profitability will suffer.

We have entered into, or may enter into, distrimytco-promotion, partnership, sponsored researdlother arrangements for
development, manufacturing, sales, marketing ahdratommercialization activities relating to ouogucts. For example, in the past we have
entered into a license and collaboration agreemvéhtMerck. The amount and timing of resources egapby our collaborators are largely
outside of our control.

Wyeth terminated one of our existing collaboratigneements. If any of our other current or futwolaborators breaches or terminates
our agreements, or fails to conduct our collabeesatictivities in a timely manner, our commercidii@a of products could be diminished or
blocked completely. It is possible that collaboratwill change their strategic focus, pursue aléue technologies or develop alternative
products, either on their own or in collaboratiomhvothers. Further, we may be forced to fund paogs that were previously funded by our
collaborators, and we may not have, or be abletess, the necessary funding. The effectivenesargbartners, if any, in marketing our
products will also affect our revenues and earnings

We desire to enter into new collaborative agreemdtdwever, we may not be able to successfully tiggoany additional collaborative
arrangements and, if established, these relatipashay not be scientifically or commercially sustak Our success in the future depends in
part on our ability to enter into

30



Table of Contents

agreements with other highly-regarded organizatidhss can be difficult due to internal and extém@nstraints placed on these organizations.
Some organizations may have insufficient admintisteaand related infrastructure to enable collabors with many companies at once, wk
can extend the time it takes to develop, nego#inttimplement a collaboration. Once news of disonssegarding possible collaborations are
known in the medical community, regardless of whethe news is accurate, failure to announce alwothtive agreement or the entity’s
announcement of a collaboration with another emtifiyy result in adverse speculation about us, iegut harm to our reputation and our
business.

Disputes could also arise between us and our egisti future collaborators, as to a variety of ex@ttincluding financial and intellectual
property matters or other obligations under oueagrents. These disputes could be both expensivénageonsuming and may result in
delays in the development and commercializatioouwfproducts or could damage our relationship wittollaborator.

A small number of licensing partners and governmestntracts account for a substantial portion of ovevenue.

We currently derive, and in the past we have ddrigesignificant portion of our revenue from a lieti number of licensing partners and
government grants and contracts. For example, gidni@ year ended December 31, 2010, the NIAIDP#®&H Malaria Vaccine Initiative
(MVI) and the Department of Defense (U.S. Army dyatcounted for approximately 66%, 5%, and 6%uwfapnsolidated revenue,
respectively. If we fail to sign additional futucentracts with major licensing partners and theegoment, if a contract is delayed or deferred,
or if an existing contract expires or is cancebed we fail to replace the contract with new bussneur revenue would be adversely affected.

We have agreements with government agencies, whighsubject to termination and uncertain future fuing.

We have entered into agreements with governmemicéese such as the NIAID and the US Army, and wenid to continue entering into
these agreements in the future. Our business figiyadependent on the continued performance kgérgovernment agencies of their
responsibilities under these agreements, includdegiuate continued funding of the agencies and phegrams. We have no control over the
resources and funding that government agenciesdengte to these agreements, which may be subjertrtoal renewal and which generally
may be terminated by the government agencies atizey

Government agencies may fail to perform their resfalities under these agreements, which may cthesa to be terminated by the
government agencies. In addition, we may fail tdgren our responsibilities under these agreemaigsy of our government agreements are
subject to audits, which may occur several yeaes #fie period to which the audit relates. If aditigdentifies significant unallowable costs,
could incur a material charge to our earnings ducgon in our cash position. As a result, we mayhsuccessful entering, or ineligible to
enter, into future government agreements.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate sidigantly.

We expect our operating results to be subject sotguly fluctuations. Our net loss and other opegatesults will be affected by
numerous factors, including:

» variations in the level of expenses related toadectroporation equipment, product candidates turéudevelopment prograrn
* merger integration expenst

» addition or termination of clinical trials or fumdj support

« any intellectual property infringement lawsuit imish we may become involve
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« any legal claims that may be asserted against asyof our officers
» regulatory developments affecting our electroporagquipment and product candidates or those of@upetitors

» our execution of any collaborative, licensing aniar arrangements, and the timing of payments \ag make or receive und
these arrangements; a

« if any of our products receives regulatory approtreg levels of underlying demand for our produ

If our quarterly operating results fall below thepectations of investors or securities analysts pitice of our common stock could
decline substantially. Furthermore, any quartddgtfiations in our operating results may, in twanise the price of our stock to fluctuate
substantially. We believe that quarterly comparssohour financial results are not necessarily rivegfnl and should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future performance.

If we are unable to obtain FDA approval of our prodts, we will not be able to commercialize thentle United States

We need FDA approval prior to marketing our elgatm@tion equipment and products in the United Stdteve fail to obtain FDA
approval to market our electroporation equipment product candidates, we will be unable to sellmmaducts in the United States, which will
significantly impair our ability to generate anyweaues.

This regulatory review and approval process, wincludes evaluation of pre-clinical studies andickl trials of our products as well as
the evaluation of our manufacturing processes amdhird-party contract manufacturers’ facilitiés)engthy, expensive and uncertain. To
receive approval, we must, among other things, detnate with substantial evidence from wadlatrolled clinical trials that our electroporat
equipment and product candidates are both safeffective for each indication for which approvakizught. Satisfaction of the approval
requirements typically takes several years anditie needed to satisfy them may vary substantibged on the type, complexity and novelty
of the product. We do not know if or when we migideive regulatory approvals for our electroporaggquipment and any of our product
candidates currently under development. Moreover,a@provals that we obtain may not cover all @f ¢hinical indications for which we are
seeking approval, or could contain significant tations in the form of narrow indications, warningsecautions or contra-indications with
respect to conditions of use. In such event, oilitato generate revenues from such products waedreatly reduced and our business would
be harmed.

The FDA has substantial discretion in the apprpvatess and may either refuse to consider ourcegifan for substantive review or m
form the opinion after review of our data that application is insufficient to allow approval ofroelectroporation equipment and product
candidates. If the FDA does not consider or appoaweapplication, it may require that we condudaitidnal clinical, pre-clinical or
manufacturing validation studies and submit thah dieefore it will reconsider our application. Dedirg on the extent of these or any other
studies, approval of any applications that we stibmaly be delayed by several years, or may requite expend more resources than we have
available. It is also possible that additional gtgdif performed and completed, may not be suégkssconsidered sufficient by the FDA for
approval or even to make our applications appradbbny of these outcomes occur, we may be fotocedbandon one or more of our
applications for approval, which might significgntiarm our business and prospects.

It is possible that none of our products or anydpct we may seek to develop in the future will evetain the appropriate regulatory
approvals necessary for us or our collaboratoc®tomence product sales. Any delay in obtainingroinability to obtain, applicable
regulatory approvals would prevent us from comnaizing our products, generating revenues and sittgeand sustaining profitability.
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Clinical trials involve a lengthy and expensive gress with an uncertain outcome, and results of érlstudies and trials may not be
predictive of future trial results

Clinical testing is expensive and can take manysygacomplete, and its outcome is uncertain. Faib@n occur at any time during the
clinical trial process. The results of pre-clinistlidies and early clinical trials of our produetay not be predictive of the results of later-stage
clinical trials. Results from one study may notrelected or supported by the results of similadsts. Results of an animal study may not be
indicative of results achievable in human studiteman-use equipment and product candidates indtdges of clinical trials may fail to show
the desired safety and efficacy traits despitedmprogressed through pecénical studies and initial clinical testing. Thie required to obtai
approval by the FDA and similar foreign authoritiesinpredictable but typically takes many yeat®Wing the commencement of clinical
trials, depending upon numerous factors. In additagpproval policies, regulations, or the type antbunt of clinical data necessary to gain
approval may change. We have not obtained regylajgproval for any human-use products.

Our products could fail to complete the clinicé@ltiprocess for many reasons, including the folloyvi

* we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaofitine FDA or comparable foreign regulatory autties that our electroporatic
equipment and a product candidate are safe anctigfdor any indication

» the results of clinical trials may not meet thedleof statistical significance required by the FDAcomparable foreign regulatc
authorities for approva

» the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authositieay disagree with the design or implementatioounfclinical trials;

* we may be unable to demonstrate that our electatiporequipment and a product candidate’s clirecal other benefits outweigh
its safety risks

* we may be unable to demonstrate that our electatiporequipment and a product candidate preserdasiemtage over existing
therapies, or over placebo in any indications foicl the FDA requires a place-controlled trial;

» the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authositieay disagree with our interpretation of data fiyme-clinical studies or clinici
trials;

» the data collected from clinical trials of our puatl candidates may not be sufficient to supporstifamission of a new drt
application or other submission or to obtain regurlaapproval in the United States or elsewh

» the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authositieay fail to approve the manufacturing processdaailities of us or third-
party manufacturers with which we or our collaboratcontract for clinical and commercial suppligsd

» the approval policies or regulations of the FDAcomparable foreign regulatory authorities may gigantly change in a manner
rendering our clinical data insufficient for appab\

Delays in the commencement or completion of clirlitasting could result in increased costs to us afelay or limit our ability to generat
revenues.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinieating could significantly affect our productvééopment costs. We do not know
whether planned clinical trials will begin on timmebe completed on schedule, if at all. In additimmgoing clinical trials may not be completed
on schedule, or at all. The commencement and cdimplef clinical trials can be delayed for a numbéreasons, including delays related to:

» obtaining regulatory approval to commence a cliical;
» adverse results from third party clinical trialsatving gene based therapies and the regulatoporess theretc
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» reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prispeCROs and trial sites, the terms of which carsbbject to extensi
negotiation and may vary significantly among diéfer CROs and trial site

» future bans or stricter standards imposed on gasedditherapy clinical trial
» manufacturing sufficient quantities of our electogtion equipment and product candidates for usdinical trials;
« obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, appabto conduct a clinical trial at a prospectivies

» slower than expected recruitment and enrollmeipiatiEnts to participate in clinical trials for ariey of reasons, includin
competition from other clinical trial programs f&milar indications

» conducting clinical trials with sites internatiolyatiue to regulatory approvals and meeting intéoma standards

» retaining patients who have initiated a clinic@ltbut may be prone to withdraw due to side effédaim the therapy, lack
efficacy or personal issues, or who are lost tthierrfollow-up; and

» collecting, reviewing and analyzing our clinicahtrdata.

Clinical trials may also be delayed as a resuirobiguous or negative interim results. In additelinical trial may be suspended or
terminated by us, the FDA, the IRB overseeing theoal trial at issue, any of our clinical triatas with respect to that site, or other regulatory
authorities due to a number of factors, including:

» failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordangith regulatory requirements or our clinical prodts;

» inspection of the clinical trial operations or tréites by the FDA or other regulatory authoritiesulting in the imposition of a
clinical hold,;

» unforeseen safety issues; ¢
» lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicillt

If we experience delays in completion of, or if teeminate, any of our clinical trials, the commatgrospects for our electroporation
equipment and our product candidates may be haamedur ability to generate product revenues vélbelayed. In addition, many of the
factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the cenm@ment or completion of clinical trials may aldiimately lead to the denial of regulatory
approval of a product candidate. Further, delaytagncommencement or completion of clinical trimiay adversely affect the trading price of
our common stock.

We and our collaborators rely on third parties torduct our clinical trials. If these third partieslo not successfully carry out their
contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, wd aur collaborators may not be able to obtain régtory approval for or commercialize
our product candidates.

We and our collaborators have entered into agreesweéth CROs to provide monitors for and to mandgga for our on-going clinical
programs. We and the CROs conducting clinicaldriat our electroporation equipment and productigates are required to comply with
current good clinical practices, or GCPs, regutatiand guidelines enforced by the FDA for all of products in clinical development. The
FDA enforces GCPs through periodic inspectionsiaf $ponsors, principal investigators and trigdsi If we or the CROs conducting clinical
trials of our product candidates fail to complylwitpplicable GCPs, the clinical data generatetiérctinical trials may be deemed unreliable
and the FDA may require additional clinical trililsfore approving any marketing applications.

If any relationships with CROs terminate, we or oollaborators may not be able to enter into areaments with alternative CROSs. In
addition, these third-party CROs are not our emgday and we cannot control whether or not they tdemafficient time and resources to our
on-going clinical programs or perform trials eféiotly. These CROs may also have relationships etlier commercial entities, including our
competitors, for whom they may
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also be conducting clinical studies or other dragedopment activities, which could harm our compatiposition. If CROs do not successft
carry out their contractual duties or obligatiomsmeet expected deadlines, if they need to be ceglaor if the quality or accuracy of the
clinical data they obtain is compromised due tofttilare to adhere to our clinical protocols, regualy requirements, or for other reasons, our
clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terr@daand we may not be able to obtain regulatopy@pl for or successfully commercialize
our product candidates. As a result, our finar@aults and the commercial prospects for our procdaedidates would be harmed, our costs
could increase and our ability to generate reveoail be delayed. Cost overruns by or disputels aitr CROs may significantly increase our
expenses.

Even if our products receive regulatory approvaiely may still face future development and regulatdifficulties.

Even if United States regulatory approval is oladirthe FDA may still impose significant restrictsoon a product’s indicated uses or
marketing or impose ongoing requirements for paadiptcostly post-approval studies. This governnaéoversight may be particularly strict
with respect to gene based therapies. Our prodititalso be subject to ongoing FDA requirementseaing the labeling, packaging, storage,
advertising, promotion, recordkeeping and submissiosafety and other post-market information. ddidon, manufacturers of drug products
and their facilities are subject to continual reviend periodic inspections by the FDA and otheulagry authorities for compliance with
current good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, lagns. If we or a regulatory agency discover pyasly unknown problems with a
product, such as adverse events of unanticipatestiseor frequency, or problems with the facilishere the product is manufactured, a
regulatory agency may impose restrictions on thadpct, the manufacturer or us, including requinvithdrawal of the product from the
market or suspension of manufacturing. If we, aadpct candidates or the manufacturing facilitiesdur product candidates fail to comply
with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatgency may:

» issue Warning Letters or untitled lette

* impose civil or criminal penaltie:

e suspend regulatory approv

» suspend any ongoing clinical tria

» refuse to approve pending applications or supplésnenapplications filed by u

» impose restrictions on operations, including cosyv manufacturing requirements;
» seize or detain products or require us to initeafgoduct recall

Even if our products receive regulatory approvalthe United States, we may never receive approvalommercialize our products outsic
of the United States.

In order to market any electroporation equipmett groduct candidates outside of the United Stateanust establish and comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements oérotiountries regarding safety and efficacy. Appt@vacedures vary among countries and
can involve additional product testing and addgicadministrative review periods. The time requitedbtain approval in other countries
might differ from that required to obtain FDA appab The regulatory approval process in other ceesimay include all of the risks detailed
above regarding FDA approval in the United Statewell as other risks. Regulatory approval in omentry does not ensure regulatory
approval in another, but a failure or delay in afiteg regulatory approval in one country may havesgative effect on the regulatory proces
others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval inestcountries or any delay or setback in obtaisinch approval could have the same adverse
effects detailed above regarding FDA approval énlthmited States. Such effects include the riskisdbaproduct candidates may not be
approved for all indications requested, which cdinit the uses of our product candidates and fewvadverse effect on their commercial
potential or require costly, post-marketing follap-studies.
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We face potential product liability exposure and successful claims are brought against us, we niagur substantial liability.

The use of our electroporation equipment and DNéciree candidates in clinical trials and the salamf products for which we obtain
marketing approval expose us to the risk of protlability claims. Product liability claims mightebbrought against us by consumers, health
care providers, pharmaceutical companies or otfgdling or otherwise coming into contact with owoglucts. For example, pharmaceutical
companies have been subject to claims that thefuseme pediatric vaccines has caused personaigsjuncluding brain damage, central
nervous system damage and autism, and these casganie incurred material costs to defend thesmldf we cannot successfully defend
ourselves against product liability claims, we cbmlcur substantial liabilities. In addition, redbless of merit or eventual outcome, product
liability claims may result in:

» decreased demand for our product candid:

» impairment of our business reputati

» withdrawal of clinical trial participant:

e costs of related litigatior

» distraction of manageme's attention from our primary busine
» substantial monetary awards to patients or otlemelnts;

* loss of revenues; ar

» inability to commercialize our product

We have obtained product liability insurance cogerfor our clinical trials, but our insurance cage may not be sufficient to reimburse
us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Mereavsurance coverage is becoming increasinglgresipe, and, in the future, we may not
be able to maintain insurance coverage at a rebiopast or in sufficient amounts to protect usiegfdosses due to liability. On occasion,
large judgments have been awarded in class a@wsuliits based on products that had unanticipatedesfects. A successful product liability
claim or series of claims brought against us ceoaldse our stock price to decline and, if judgmertsed our insurance coverage, could
adversely affect our business.

We currently have no marketing and sales organipstiand have no experience in marketing productswié are unable to establish
marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agreents with third parties to market and sell ourqalucts, we may not be able to generate
product revenues

We currently do not have a sales organizationtfemharketing, sales and distribution of our elgmtration equipment and product
candidates. In order to commercialize any prodwetesmust build our marketing, sales, distributio@nagerial and other non-technical
capabilities or make arrangements with third partieperform these services. We contemplate eshaid our own sales force or seeking third-
party partners to sell our products. The establesttrand development of our own sales force to nankg products we may develop will be
expensive and time consuming and could delay aogymt launch, and we may not be able to succegsfallelop this capability. We will also
have to compete with other pharmaceutical and diwtelogy companies to recruit, hire, train andiretaarketing and sales personnel. To the
extent we rely on third parties to commercialize approved products, if any, we will receive lowevenues than if we commercialized these
products ourselves. In addition, we may have latl@o control over the sales efforts of third jearinvolved in our commercialization efforts.
In the event we are unable to develop our own ntigwdse@nd sales force or collaborate with a thirdipanarketing and sales organization, we
would not be able to commercialize our product idates which would negatively impact our abilitygenerate product revenues.

If any of our products for which we receive regutaty approval does not achieve broad market accep&rhe revenues that we gener:
from their sales will be limited

The commercial success of our electroporation eqgeip and product candidates for which we obtairketarg approval from the FDA
or other regulatory authorities will depend upoa #tceptance of these
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products by both the medical community and patemulation. Coverage and reimbursement of our prodandidates by third-party payors,
including government payors, generally is also ssagy for optimal commercial success. The degreeasket acceptance of any of our
approved products will depend on a number of factocluding:

» our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safetd efficacy

» the relative convenience and ease of administra

» the prevalence and severity of any actual or peeckadverse side effec

» limitations or warnings contained in a proc's FDA-approved labeling, including, for example, potdr“black boy” warnings

« availability of alternative treatment

» pricing and cost effectivenes

» the effectiveness of our or any future collaborg’ sales and marketing strategi

« our ability to obtain sufficient thi-party coverage or reimbursement; :

» the willingness of patients to pay out of pockethia absence of thi-party coverage

If our electroporation equipment and product caattid are approved but do not achieve an adequaieofeacceptance by physicians,

health care payors and patients, we may not gensudficient revenue from these products, and we me& become or remain profitable. In

addition, our efforts to educate the medical comityuamd third-party payors on the benefits of otoduct candidates may require significant
resources and may never be successful.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursent policies which, if not favorable to our produicandidates, could hinder or prevent
our products’ commercial success.

Our ability to commercialize our electroporatiorugmment and product candidates successfully witledhel in part on the extent to which
governmental authorities, private health insures ather third-party payors establish appropriateecage and reimbursement levels for our
product candidates and related treatments. Aseghtibid for coverage and reimbursement, third-paatyors generally require that drug
products have been approved for marketing by th&. Hbird-party payors also are increasingly chalieg the effectiveness of and prices
charged for medical products and services. We roap@ able to obtain third-party coverage or reimbment for our products in whole or in
part.

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or prevenir product? commercial success.

In both the United States and certain foreign dicigons there have been, and we anticipate thédfeantinue to be, a number of
legislative and regulatory changes to the healthsgstem that could impact our ability to sell afyur products profitably. In the United
States, the Federal government recently passethbasd reform legislation, the Patient Protectiod Affordable Care Act, or the ACA. The
provisions of the ACA are effective on various dat@er the next several years. While many of thailderegarding the implementation of the
ACA are yet to be determined, we believe there mélicontinuing trends towards expanding coveragede individuals, containing health
care costs and improving quality. At the same tithe rebates, discounts, taxes and other costsiassbwith the ACA are expected to be a
significant cost to the pharmaceutical industry.

The continuing efforts of the government, insuracempanies, managed care organizations and otliergaf healthcare services to
make and implement healthcare reforms may advesstdyt:

» our ability to set a price we believe is fair farrgroducts
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» our ability to generate revenues and achieve ontaiai profitability;
» the availability of capital; an
e our ability to obtain timely approval of our prodsi

If we fail to comply with applicable healthcare ratations, we could face substantial penalties anar dusiness, operations and financii
condition could be adversely affected.

Certain federal and state healthcare laws andaggno$ pertaining to fraud and abuse and patieigists may be applicable to our
business. We could be subject to healthcare fradchbuse and patient privacy regulation by botHelderal government and the states in
which we conduct our business, without limitatidhe laws that may affect our ability to operatdude:

» the federal healthcare program /Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other ¢fsinpersons from soliciting, receiving
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, ttduce either the referral of an individual, foritam or service or the purchasing
ordering of a good or service, for which paymenyha made under federal healthcare programs suitte ddedicare and Medice
programs

» federal false claims laws which prohibit, amongeotthings, individuals or entities from knowinglgegenting, or causing to |
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Mddiaar other thir-party payors that are false or fraudule

» The ACA expands the government’s investigative amircement authority and increases the penattiesdud and abuse,
including amendments to both the False Claims Adtthe Ant-Kickback Statute to make it easier to bring suidlemthose statute

» the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acdabitity Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibits egating a scheme to defraud
any healthcare benefit program or making falseestants relating to healthcare matters and whiahiaiposes certain requireme
relating to the privacy, security and transmissibmdividually identifiable health informatiot

» the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, whichragnather things, strictly regulates drug productketing, prohibits
manufacturers from marketing drug products forlabel use and regulates the distribution of drugas; anc

» state law equivalents of each of the above fedaved, such as anti-kickback and false claims laWwkvmay apply to items or
services reimbursed by any third-party payor, idcilg commercial insurers, and state laws goverthiegprivacy and security of
health information in certain circumstances, mahwlaich differ from each other in significant waged often are not preempted
HIPAA, thus complicating compliance effor

Additionally, the compliance environment is chamgiwith more states, such as California and Masssgtts, mandating implementation
of compliance programs, compliance with industhjies codes, and spending limits, and other stateet) as Vermont, Maine, and Minnesota
requiring reporting to state governments of giftanpensation, and other remuneration to physicldnder the ACA, starting in 2012,
pharmaceutical companies will be required to re@ory transfers of value made to doctors and tegdiiispitals and to disclose such data to
HHS, with initial disclosure to HHS due in 2013.€He laws all provide for penalties for non-compignThe shifting regulatory environment,
along with the requirement to comply with multijleisdictions with different compliance and/or refog requirements, increases the
possibility that a company may run afoul of onemmre laws.

If our operations are found to be in violation ofyaf the laws described above or any other govemai regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to penalties, including civil anidnénal penalties, damages, fines and the curtaitroenestructuring of our operations. Any
penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restringjuof our operations could adversely affect cuitity to operate our business and our
financial results. Any action
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against us for violation of these laws, even ifasuecessfully defend against it, could cause usdorisignificant legal expenses and divert our
management’s attention from the operation of owiress. Moreover, achieving and sustaining compéiamth applicable federal and state
privacy, security and fraud laws may prove costly.

If we and the contract manufacturers upon whom wely fail to produce our systems and product candikin the volumes that we requi
on a timely basis, or fail to comply with stringerggulations, we may face delays in the developrmeerd commercialization of our
electroporation equipment and product candidates.

We manufacture some components of our electroporatistems and utilize the services of contractufsaturers to manufacture the
remaining components of these systems and our pradpplies for clinical trials. The manufactureoof systems and product supplies
requires significant expertise and capital invesitneicluding the development of advanced manufawjuechniques and process controls.
Manufacturers often encounter difficulties in protion, particularly in scaling up for commerciabguction. These problems include
difficulties with production costs and yields, gtyaktontrol, including stability of the equipmemdiproduct candidates and quality assurance
testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as astompliance with strictly enforced federal, statd foreign regulations. If we or our
manufacturers were to encounter any of these difféss or our manufacturers otherwise fail to coynpith their obligations to us, our ability
provide our electroporation equipment to our padrasd products to patients in our clinical trisigo commercially launch a product would
jeopardized. Any delay or interruption in the sypgi clinical trial supplies could delay the comipde of our clinical trials, increase the co
associated with maintaining our clinical trial pragn and, depending upon the period of delay, requsrto commence new trials at significant
additional expense or terminate the trials complete

In addition, all manufacturers of our products meghply with cGMP requirements enforced by the Rbough its facilities inspection
program. These requirements include, among otligshquality control, quality assurance and theegation and maintenance of records and
documentation. Manufacturers of our products mayrsble to comply with these cGMP requirements\aitidl other FDA, state and foreign
regulatory requirements. We have little controlromer manufacturers’ compliance with these regatatiand standards. A failure to comply
with these requirements may result in fines and penalties, suspension of production, suspensiaelay in product approval, product
seizure or recall, or withdrawal of product appioifathe safety of any product is compromised tlueur or our manufacturers’ failure to
adhere to applicable laws or for other reasongnag not be able to obtain regulatory approval fosurcessfully commercialize our products,
and we may be held liable for any injuries susthiag a result. Any of these factors could causelaydf clinical trials, regulatory
submissions, approvals or commercialization ofaducts, entail higher costs or result in our gainable to effectively commercialize our
products. Furthermore, if our manufacturers faidétiver the required commercial quantities omaety basis, pursuant to provided
specifications and at commercially reasonable pria& may be unable to meet demand for our produntsvould lose potential revenues.

Our failure to successfully acquire, develop and rkat additional product candidates or approved pumds would impair our ability to grow

We may acquire, ificense, develop and/or market additional prodaot$ product candidates. The success of these actepends part
upon our ability to identify, select and acquiremising product candidates and products.

The process of proposing, negotiating and impleimgra license or acquisition of a product candidatapproved product is lengthy and
complex. Other companies, including some with safi#lly greater financial, marketing and sale®uveses, may compete with us for the
license or acquisition of product candidates amr@ged products. We have limited resources to ifleahd execute the acquisition or in-
licensing of third-party products, businesses @oetinologies and integrate them into our curremagtfucture. Moreover, we may devote
resources to potential acquisitions or in-licengipgortunities that are never completed, or we fa@yo realize the anticipated benefits of
such efforts. We may not be able to acquire thietsitp additional product candidates on termswheafind acceptable, or at all.
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In addition, future acquisitions may entail numer@perational and financial risks, including:
» exposure to unknown liabilitie
» disruption of our business and diversion of our aggamer’s time and attention to develop acquired productsahnologies
» incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuanafesecurities to pay for acquisitiol
* higher than expected acquisition and integraticsts;
* increased amortization expens
« difficulty and cost in combining the operations getsonnel of any acquired businesses with ouradipeis and personne

* impairment of relationships with key suppliers astomers of any acquired businesses due to chamgesnagement and
ownership; ant

» inability to retain key employees of any acquiregibesses

Further, any product candidate that we acquire ragyire additional development efforts prior to enercial sale, including extensive
clinical testing and approval by the FDA and apgilie foreign regulatory authorities. All produchd&ates are prone to risks of failure typical
of product development, including the possibilitata product candidate will not be shown to bédehtly safe and effective for approval by
regulatory authorities.

Our business involves the use of hazardous materehd we and our third-party manufacturers must cpip with environmental laws and
regulations, which can be expensive and restrictthwe do business.

Our and our third-party manufacturers’ activitiegdlve the controlled storage, use and disposhhafrdous materials, including the
components of our product candidates and othertiaza compounds. We and our manufacturers areubjéederal, state and local laws
regulations governing the use, manufacture, stotagadling and disposal of these hazardous matetiathe event of an accident, state or
federal authorities may curtail the use of thesten®ls and interrupt our business operations.dfane subject to any liability as a result of our
or our third-party manufacturers’ activities invislg hazardous materials, our business and finanoiadition may be adversely affected.

We may be subject to stockholder litigation, whiglould harm our business and financial condition.

We may have actions brought against us by stockhslgklating to the Merger, past transactions, gésim our stock price or other
matters. Any such actions could give rise to sutiethdamages, and thereby have a material adeéieset on our consolidated financial
position, liquidity, or results of operations. Eviéan action is not resolved against us, the uad®y and expense associated with stockholder
actions could harm our business, financial condiiad reputation. Litigation can be costly, timesaming and disruptive to business
operations. The defense of lawsuits could alsdtrésdiversion of our management'’s time and atemaway from business operations, which
could harm our business.

Our results of operations and liquidity needs couté materially affected by market fluctuations ag@neral economic conditions.

Our results of operations could be materially afddy economic conditions generally, both in thetéd States and elsewhere around
the world. Recently, concerns over inflation, eyergsts, geopolitical issues, the availability aodt of credit, the United States mortgage
market and a declining residential real estate ptdarkthe United States have contributed to in@damlatility and diminished expectations for
the economy and the markets going forward. Thesders combined with volatile oil prices, declinibgsiness and consumer
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confidence and increased unemployment, have ptatggian economic recession. Domestic and intemeltcapital markets have also been
experiencing heightened volatility and turmoil. $heevents and the continuing market upheavals @ay &n adverse effect on us. In the e

of a continuing market downturn, our results ofrgpiens could be adversely affected. Our futuré obgquity or debt capital and access to the
capital markets could be adversely affected, amdstmek price could decline. There may be disrupiioor delay in the performance of our
third-party contractors and suppliers. If our cantors, suppliers and partners are unable to gdltiefr contractual commitments, our business
could suffer. In addition, we maintain significarhounts of cash and cash equivalents at one or finareial institutions that are in excess of
federally insured limits. Given the current insteiof financial institutions, we may experienasses on these deposits.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

It is difficult and costly to generate and proteatir intellectual property and our proprietary tecluogies, and we may not be able to ens
their protection.

Our commercial success will depend in part on oldtgi and maintaining patent, trademark, trade $eanel other intellectual property
protection relating to our electroporation equiptreamd product candidates, as well as successfafgnding these intellectual property rights
against third-party challenges.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies can be highly uncertain and invobmplex legal and factual
questions for which important legal principles rémanresolved. The laws and regulations regardiegoreadth of claims allowed in
biotechnology patents has evolved over recent ya@dscontinues to undergo review and revision, othe United States. The biotechnology
patent situation outside the United States carvba eore uncertain depending on the country. Chaimgeither the patent laws or in
interpretations of patent laws in the United Stated other countries may diminish the value ofintellectual property. Accordingly, we
cannot predict the breadth of claims that may meweald or enforced in our licensed patents, ourrgater in third-party patents, nor can we
predict the likelihood of our patents survivingatgnt validity challenge.

The degree of future protection for our intelle¢tor@perty rights is uncertain, because legal decisnaking can be unpredictable,
thereby often times resulting in limited protectiarhich may not adequately protect our rights anpeus to gain or keep our competitive
advantage, or resulting in an invalid or unenfobtegatent. For example:

* we, or the parties from whom we have acquiredaanised patent rights, may not have been the difdetthe underlying patet
applications or the first to make the inventionsared by such patent

» the named inventors or co-inventors of patentsatemt applications that we have licensed or acquiray be incorrect, which may
give rise to inventorship and ownership challen

« others may develop similar or alternative technigegor duplicate any of our products or techn@edhat may not be covered by
our patents, including desi-arounds

» pending patent applications may not result in idsuegents

» theissued patents covering our products and téohies may not provide us with any competitive adages or have any
commercial value

» the issued patents may be challenged and invatidateendered unenforceab

» the issued patents may be subject to reexaminatibich could result in a narrowing of the scope&laims or cancellation of clain
found unpatentable

* we may not develop or acquire additional proprietachnologies that are patentat
» our trademarks may be invalid or subject to a tpady's prior use; o
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« our ability to enforce our patent rights will depleon our ability to detect infringement, and litiiga to enforce patent rights m
not be pursued due to significant financial cogditggrsion of resources, and unpredictability odedrable result or ruling

We depend, in part, on our licensors and collalbosab protect a portion of our intellectual prageights. In such cases, our licensors
and collaborators may be primarily or wholly resgibte for the maintenance of patents and prosetuatipatent applications relating to
important areas of our business. If any of thesggsafail to adequately protect these productdvgisued patents, our business and prospects
would be harmed significantly.

We also may rely on trade secrets to protect amelogy, especially where we do not believe papeatection is appropriate or
obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficuftriatect. Although we use reasonable efforts togatoour trade secrets, our employees,
consultants, contractors, outside scientific calalors and other advisors may unintentionally difwily disclose our trade secrets to
competitors. Enforcing a claim that a third-pantyity illegally obtained and is using any of ousde secrets is expensive and time consuming,
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, tooutside the United States are sometimes letisgvib protect trade secrets. Moreover, our
competitors may independently develop equivaleoikadge, methods and know-how.

If we or our licensors fail to obtain or maintaiatent protection or trade secret protection formproduct candidates or our technologies,
third parties could use our proprietary informatiaich could impair our ability to compete in timarket and adversely affect our ability to
generate revenues and attain profitability.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual propertyights of third parties, it will be costly and timmconsuming, and an unfavorable outcome
that litigation would have a material adverse effean our business.

Other companies may have or may acquire intellépnogerty rights that could be enforced againstfuey do so, we may be required
to alter our technologies, pay licensing fees aseeactivities. If our products or technologiesiife the intellectual property rights of others,
they could bring legal action against us or ougrigors or collaborators claiming damages and sgé&ianjoin any activities that they believe
infringe their intellectual property rights.

Because patent applications can take many yedssue, and there is a period when the applicagamins undisclosed to the public,
there may be currently pending applications unkntowas or reissue applications that may later tésussued patents upon which our
products or technologies may infringe. There caldt be existing patents of which we are unawaaedbr products or technologies may
infringe. In addition, if third parties file pateapplications or obtain patents claiming productteohnologies also claimed by us in pending
applications or issued patents, we may have tacjgzate in interference proceedings in the Uniteaté®s Patent and Trademark Office to
determine priority of invention. If third partietef oppositions in foreign countries, we may alswénto participate in opposition proceedings in
foreign tribunals to defend the patentability of filed foreign patent applications.

If a third party claims that we infringe its intettual property rights, it could cause our businesaiffer in a number of ways, including:

* we may become involved in tir-consuming and expensive litigation, even if thénslss without merit, the third par's patent i
invalid or we have not infringet

* we may become liable for substantial damages fstrip&ingement if a court decides that our tecbg@s infringe upon a thir
party's patent

* we may be enjoined by a court to stop making,regliir licensing our products or technologies witrenlicense from a patent
holder, which may not be available on commerciatigeptable terms, if at all, or which may requisdaipay substantial royalties
or grant cros-licenses to our patents; a
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* we may have to redesign our products so that tbayotl infringe upon othe’ patent rights, which may not be possible or cc
require substantial investment or tin

If any of these events occur, our business coufeisand the market price of our common stock meglide.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock is expected to beatitd and an investment in our common stock couleatine substantially in value.

In light of our small size and limited resourcesweell as the uncertainties and risks that carcaéfar business and industry, our stock
price is expected to be highly volatile and carstbigject to substantial drops, with or even in theeace of news affecting our business. Period
to period comparisons are not indicative of futpeeformance. The following factors, in additionthe other risk factors described in this
annual report, and the potentially low volume afigs in our common stock, may have a significapaichon the market price of our common
stock, some of which are beyond our control:

» developments concerning any research and develdpoiiical trials, manufacturing, and marketindoefs or collaborations

« fluctuating public or scientific interest in thetpatial for influenza pandemic or other applicatidar our vaccine or other prodt
candidates

» our announcement of significant acquisitions, sgyat collaborations, joint ventures or capital coinments;
» fluctuations in our operating resu

« announcements of technological innovatic

* new products or services that we or our competiéfies;

» the initiation, conduct and/or outcome of intelledtproperty and/or litigation mattel

» changes in financial or other estimates by seegréinalysts or other reviewers or evaluators obaginess
» conditions or trends in b-pharmaceutical or other healthcare indust

* regulatory developments in the United States ahdratountries

* negative perception of gene based ther.

» changes in the economic performance and/or magteations of other biotechnology and medical decim@mpanies
» additions or departures of key personi

» sales or other transactions involving our commonlst

» sales or other transactions by executive officedir@ctors involving our common stoc

» changes in accounting principle

» global unrest, terrorist activities, and econonrid ather external factors; a

» catastrophic weather and/or global disease pande

The stock market in general has recently experigénelatively large price and volume fluctuations plarticular, the market prices of
securities of smaller biotechnology and medicalicieeompanies have experienced dramatic fluctuatibat often have been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating results of
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these companies. Continued market fluctuationsccrmdult in extreme volatility in the price of themmon stock, which could cause a decline
in the value of the common stock. In addition, pnolatility may increase if the trading volumeoafr common stock remains limited or
declines.

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdabDelaware law could delay or prevent a change oftol which could limit the
market price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmatontains provisions that could delay or prexeeahange of control of our company
or changes in our board of directors that our diotrers might consider favorable. Some of thesgigians include:

» the authority of our board of directors to issuarel of undesignated preferred stock and to deterthie rights, preferences and
privileges of these shares, without stockholderewg;

» all stockholder actions must be effected at a dalled meeting of stockholders and not by writtensent; ant
» the elimination of cumulative votin

In addition, we are governed by the provisions eft®n 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Lakiclvmay prohibit certain
business combinations with stockholders owning BB%hore of our outstanding voting stock. These @ther provisions in our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation, amendedrasthted bylaws and Delaware law could make it rddfieult for stockholders or potential
acquirers to obtain control of our board of direstor initiate actions that are opposed by the-therent board of directors, including to delay
or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contegbliving our company. Any delay or prevention afreange of control transaction or changes
in our board of directors could cause the markieepof our common stock to decline.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commomrlstnd we do not anticipate paying dividends in loeeseeable future.

We have paid no cash dividends on our common stodkte, and we currently intend to retain our fetearnings, if any, to fund the
development and growth of our business. In additioa terms of any future debt or credit facilitayrmpreclude or limit our ability to pay any
dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, ij,aof our common stock will be your sole sourcepofential gain for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
We have no unresolved written comments from the St&€ regarding our filings under the Exchange.Act

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We own no real property and have no plans to aeariy real property in the future. Our corporatadugiarters is located at 1787 Sentry
Park West in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania. This lease signed on December 19, 2009 and runs through 2@r2016. The annual rent for the
approximately 6,442 square feet property will b@2000 for the first year, $126,000 for the secgear, $129,000 for the third year, $132,000
for the fourth year, $135,000 for the fifth yead&139,000 for the sixth year. At the end of thesketerm, we have the option of renewing this
lease for an additional three-year lease term ainanial rate equal to the fair market rental valiuthe property, as defined in the lease
agreement.

The corporate office in San Diego is located at9#18orrento Valley Road in San Diego, CalifornibeTease was amended in Decen
2010 to increase the leased space to approximb3edP0 square feet. The lease runs through Audgyst@®L3 and the annual rent based on the
new lease terms will be $221,000 in the first year,
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$255,000 in the second year and $184,000 for thepthird year. At the end of the lease term,vawe the option of renewing this lease fol
additional five-year lease term at an annual rgteakto the fair market rental value of the propests defined in the lease agreement.

During 2010 we consolidated operations previousifigrmed in The Woodlands, Texas to our Blue Bedl &an Diego locations. As a
result, in November 2010 we transferred our facliase in The Woodlands, Texas to a wholly-owndisgliary of our affiliated entity, VGX
Int’l.

We believe our current facilities will be adequettaneet our operating needs for the foreseeahleduShould we need additional space,
we believe we will be able to secure additionakgpat commercially reasonable rates.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Not applicable.

ITEM 4. RESERVED.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Informatior

Our common stock is listed and traded on the NY $fteA under the symbol “INO.” The following table séorth the quarterly high and
low per share closing prices of our common stockHe two most recent fiscal years.

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009
Period: High Low High Low
First Quarte! $1.4¢ $1.0C $0.5¢ $0.2¢
Second Quarte $1.4¢ $1.01 $0.9¢ $0.31
Third Quartel $1.2€ $0.7¢ $3.1¢ $0.6€
Fourth Quarte $1.31 $1.1C $1.6¢ $1.04

As of February 23, 2011, we had approximately 50t8mon stockholders of record. This figure doesimctide beneficial owners who
hold shares in nominee name. The closing pricelpare of our common stock on February 23, 2011844dk5, as reported on the NYSE
Amex.

Dividends

The payment of any dividends on our common stoekitisin the discretion of our board of directorse\Wave not paid cash dividends on
our common stock and the board of directors dogégxgect to declare cash dividends on the commark $h the foreseeable future.
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Performance Grap!

The graph below matches Inovio Pharmaceuticals'slcamulative 5-year total shareholder return ommon stock with the cumulative
total returns of the NYSE Amex Composite index #ralS & P SuperCap Biotechnology index. The gragsumes that the value of the
investment in our common stock and in each of tidexes (including reinvestment of dividends) waB0dd&n December 31, 2005 and tracks it
through December 31, 2010.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the NYSE Amex Composite Index
and S&P SuperCap Biotechnolegy Index

§160 -
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—H— Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Ine. — A — NYSE Amex Composite ---&3--- S&P SuperCap Blotechnology Index

*R100 invested on 12/31/03 in stock or index, incloding reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal vear ending December 31,

Copyrnghtc 2011 S&P, a division of The MeGraw-Hill Companies Tnc. All nghts resarved
12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08 12/09 12/10
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc 100.0C 144.9: 40.52 22.91] 50.22 50.6¢
NYSE Amex Composit 100.0C 119.5¢ 144.6: 87.0z 118.5( 152.1:
S&P SuperCap Biotechnolog 100.0C 101.0¢ 95.4¢ 104.1¢ 98.51 101.5¢

The stock price performance included in this grégphot necessarily indicative of future stock pregformance.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected cordaikd financial data for the periods indicatedivéer from consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with United SStgeerally accepted accounting principles.

Operations Data

License fee and milestone payme

Revenue under collaborative research &
development arrangemet

Grants & miscellaneous reven

Total revenue

Loss from operation

Interest & other income (expense),

Loss from investment in affiliated enti

Net loss

Net loss attributable to n-controlling interes

Imputed & declared dividends on preferred
stock

Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceutic
Inc.

Per common sha—basic &diluted:
Net loss
Imputed & declared dividends preferred st

Net loss attributable to common stockholc

Balance Sheet Dat:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Long-term investment
Total asset

Current liabilities
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
$ 527,22: $ 4,929,30! $ 791,40: $ 2,793,47 $ 1,337,10
— 125,99¢ 1,077,96 1,854,30: 962,20°
5,617,48. 4,064,801 228,26: 159,94 1,168,861
6,144,70! 9,120,11. 2,097,63. 4,807,72! 3,468,17!
(19,220,16) (13,957,75) (13,658,46) (15,898,42) (13,346,19)
2,551,33l (1,256,55)) 692,84: 4,693,97 1,002,25:;
(969,91 (9,244,61) — — —
(17,638,74) (24,458,92) (12,965,62) (11,204,44) (12,343,94)
24,95( 47,43¢ — — —
o o = (23,339 (2,005,66)

$ (17,613,79) $ (24,411,48)

$ (12,965,62)

$ (11,227,77)

$ (14,349,60)

$ 017 $ 039 $ 030 $ 027 $ (0.40)
— — — — (0.06)

$ 017 $ 039 % 030 $ 027 $ (0.4€)
$ 19,99848 $ 3029621 $ 14,11528 $ 1025092 $ 8,321,60
1,846,27 10,397,53 — 16,999,60 14,700,00
— — 9,169,47. _ =
56,067,39 80,628,91 38,987,02 39,775,02 35,949,61
6,436,70: 19,350,03 14,709,58 3,354,49 6,859,72;
(194,838,22)  (177,224,43)  (152,812,94)  (139,847,32)  (128,619,54)
47,100,91 61,184,94 19,106,14 31,034,75 18,151,86
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This report contains forward-looking statementse3d statements relate to future events or our éufinancial performance. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statemémtterminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue,” t he negative of such terms or other comparable teotogy. These statements are only
predictions. Actual events or results may diffeterially.

Although we believe that the expectations reflectdatie forward-looking statements are reasonaie cannot guarantee future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievementsrédweer, neither we, nor any other person, assurapassibility for the accuracy and
completeness of the forward-looking statementsai&@nder no obligation to update any of the forddwooking statements after the filing of
this Annual Report to conform such statements tioehcesults or to changes in our expectations.

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in coaiwm with our consolidated financi
statements and the related notes and other findirdiarmation appearing elsewhere in this AnnuapBe. Readers are also urged to carefully
review and consider the various disclosures madesbyhich attempt to advise interested partieheffactors which affect our business,
including without limitation the disclosures madedtem 1A of Part | of this Annual Report under @eption “Risk Factors.”

Risk factors that could cause actual results tedifrom those contained in the forward-lookingtetaents include but are not limited to:
our history of losses; our lack of products thav@aeceived regulatory approval; uncertainties irére in clinical trials and product
development programs, including but not limitedht®e fact that pre-clinical and clinical results magt be indicative of results achievable in
other trials or for other indications, that resufi®m one study may not necessarily be reflectesipported by the results of other similar
studies, that results from an animal study maybaoindicative of results achievable in human stsidileat clinical testing is expensive and can
take many years to complete, that the outcometkmical trial is uncertain and failure can occat any time during the clinical trial
process, and that our electroporation technologgl &NA vaccines may fail to show the desired safetyefficacy traits in clinical trials; th
availability of funding; the ability to manufactuwaccine candidates; the availability or potentaailability of alternative therapies or
treatments for the conditions targeted by us or@altaborators, including alternatives that may fpere efficacious or cost-effective than any
therapy or treatment that we and our collaborathope to develop; whether our proprietary rights ardorceable or defensible or infringe or
allegedly infringe on rights of others or can witdasd claims of invalidity; and the impact of goverent healthcare proposals.

Overview

We are engaged in the discovery, development, alidedy of a new generation of vaccines, called Di&cines, focused on cancers
and infectious diseases. Our SynCbn technologylesdhe design of “universal” DNA-based vaccingsatde of providing cross-protection
against new, unmatched strains of pathogens suiclfl@snza. Our electroporation DNA delivery techogy uses brief, controlled electrical
pulses to increase cellular DNA vaccine uptakdidhihuman data has shown this method can safelysgmificantly increase gene expression
and immune responses. Our clinical programs inchiig/cervical cancer (therapeutic), avian influe(@eeventative), HCV and HIV
vaccines. We are advancing preclinical research faniversal seasonal/pandemic influenza vaccineeisas other products. Our partners and
collaborators include University of Pennsylvaniatidnal Microbiology Laboratory of the Public HdalAgency of Canada, MVI (PATH),
NIAID (NIH), Merck, ChronTech, University of Southmpton, and HIV Vaccines Trial Networ*HVTN?).

All of our potential human products are in reseant development phases. No revenues have beeratghfrom the sale of any such
products, nor are any such revenues expected feasttthe next several years. We earn revenuelfcemse fees and milestone revenue,
collaborative research and development agreemgriaists and government contracts. Our product catedwill require significant additional
research
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and development efforts, including extensive praecil and clinical testing. All product candidathat we advance to clinical testing will
require regulatory approval prior to commercial,us®d will require significant costs for commeri@ation. We may not be successful in our
research and development efforts, and we may rgaresrate sufficient product revenue to be profiabl

On June 1, 2009, we completed the Merger resuitimmyr acquisition of VGX. We believe the Mergewvadces our ability to play a
leadership role in the discovery, development, deltvery of DNA vaccines.

On May 14, 2010, we amended our Certificate of tpoaation to change our name from “Inovio BiomedtliCarporation” to “Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.”

Recent Developments

On January 27, 2011, we entered into investor @setgreements with investors relating to the resand sale of (a) 21,130,400 sh
of common stock, and (b) warrants to purchasea ¢6t10,565,200 shares of common stock with amaise price of $1.40 per share, for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $24.BomilThe shares of common stock and warrants welekin units, consisting of one shar
common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.50 o gf common stock, at a purchase price of $letfupit. The warrants have a five-year
term from the date of issuance and are first egable commencing on the 180th day after the dasoénce. We may call the warrants if the
closing bid price of the common stock has beepaxdt|$2.80 over 20 trading days and certain othrditions are met. We received net
proceeds from the transaction of approximately @23illion, after deducting the placement agentts &ad other estimated offering expenses.

On March 24, 2010, we entered into the Agreemetit WGX Int’l. Under the Agreement, we granted VGX'l an exclusive license to
the Product, i.e., Inovio’s SynCéh universal inflaa vaccine delivered with electroporation to beeligped in certain countries in Asia.

As consideration for the license granted to VGXl,Imte have received payment of $3.0 million agseaarch and development initiation
fee, and will receive research support, annuaheemaintenance fees and royalties on net prodieg.d4n addition, contingent upon
achievement of clinical and regulatory milestorves will receive development payments over the tefithe Agreement. The Agreement also
provides us with exclusive rights to supply devif@sclinical and commercial purposes (includinggdé use components) to VGX Int'l for use
in the Product.

The term of the Agreement commenced upon execationwill extend on a country by country basis uthi last to expire of all Royalty
Periods for the territory (as such term is defiimethe Agreement) for any Product in that countmyiess the Agreement is terminated earlier in
accordance with its provisions as a result of brebg mutual agreement, or by VGX Int'l's right terminate without cause upon prior written
notice.

In January 2010, we announced that we expandeexisting license agreement with the University ehRsylvania, adding exclusive
worldwide licenses for technology and intellectpadperty for novel DNA vaccines against pandemfluenza, Chikungunya, and foot-and-
mouth disease. The amendment also encompassehieawkine and cytokine molecular adjuvant techne@egi he technology was develo)
in the University of Pennsylvania laboratory of féssor David B. Weiner, a pioneer in the field di®vaccines, and chairman of our
scientific advisory board. Under the terms of thiginal license agreement completed in 2007, waiokd exclusive worldwide rights to
develop multiple DNA plasmids and constructs with potential to treat and/or prevent HIV, HCV, HBRM influenza and included molecular
adjuvants. These prior and most recent agreemadtarmendments provide for royalty payments, basditore sales, to the University of
Pennsylvania.

As of December 31, 2010, we had an accumulateditefi$194.8 million. We expect to continue toumsubstantial operating losses in
the future due to our commitment to our researchdevelopment programs, the funding of preclingtatlies, clinical trials and regulatory
activities and the costs of general and adminisgatctivities.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The SEC defines critical accounting policies aséhtat are, in management’s view, important tgpthrérayal of our financial condition
and results of operations and require managemgeiggnent. Our discussion and analysis of our fifereondition and results of operations is
based on our audited consolidated financial statésnevhich have been prepared in accordance witted$tates generally accepted
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The preparatiof these financial statements requires us to reakimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenubexpenses. We base our estimates on experienamaratious assumptions that we believe
are reasonable under the circumstances, the regwitsich form the basis for making judgments altbetcarrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from atheurces. Actual results may differ from thoséneates. Our critical accounting policies
include:

Revenue Recognitiohicense fees are comprised of initial fees and stilee payments derived from collaborative licensing
arrangements. We continue to recognize non-refuadabbestone payments upon the achievement of pdcnilestones upon which we have
earned the milestone payment, provided the milesparyment is substantive in nature and the achiemtof the milestone was not reasonably
assured at the inception of the agreement. We gefgnents for milestone events which are reasoregsyred and recognize them ratably
the minimum remaining period of our performancegdtions. Payments for milestones that are noorestdy assured are treated as the
culmination of a separate earnings process anckaognized as revenue when the milestones arevachie

We have adopted a strategy of co-developing ondicgy our gene delivery technology for specificegor specific medical indications.
Accordingly, we have entered into collaborativeegesh and development agreements and have redaiveidg for pre-clinical research and
clinical trials. Payments under these agreemeritg;hware non-refundable, are recorded as reventleaslated research expenditures are
incurred pursuant to the terms of the agreementpeovided collectability is reasonably assured.

We receive non-refundable grants under availablegonent programs. Government grants towards cuesgenditures are recorded as
revenue when there is reasonable assurance thaweecomplied with all conditions necessary toinecthe grants, collectability is reasona
assured, and as the expenditures are incurred.

Research and development expenSege our inception, virtually all of our activitidhave consisted of research and development®ffort
related to developing our electroporation technig®@nd DNA vaccines. Research and developmennsgpeonsist of expenses incurred in
performing research and development activitiewiticlg salaries and benefits, facilities and otharbead expenses, clinical trials, contract
services and other outside expenses. Researcteaatbpment expenses are charged to operationgwaité incurred.

Valuation and Impairment Evaluations of Goodwilidamtangible Assetssoodwill represents the excess of acquisition owst the fair
value of the net assets of acquired businessest Becember 31, 2010, our intangible assets reguftom the acquisition of VGX and Inovio
AS, and additional intangibles including previousapitalized patent costs and license costs, net@imulated amortization, totaled
$11.2 million. Intangible assets are amortized dheir estimated useful lives ranging from 5 toyg&rs. We are concurrently conducting
Phase | and pre-clinical trials using acquiredrigtales, and we have entered into certain signifitaensing agreements for use of these
acquired intangibles.

Historically we have recorded patents at cost andrized these costs using the straight-line methea the expected useful lives of the
patents or 17 years, whichever is less. Patens cosisist of the consideration paid for patentsratated legal costs. Effective June 1, 2009, in
connection with our acquisition of VGX, all new pat costs will be expensed as incurred. Patens costently capitalized will continue to be
amortized over the expected life of the patent. &tfiect of this change was immaterial to prior pds. License costs are recorded based on the
fair value of consideration paid and amortized gghre straightine method over the shorter of the expected udiééudf the underlying paten
or the term of the related license agreement.
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The determination of the value of such intangildseds requires management to make estimates amd@gms that affect our
consolidated financial statements. We assess patenpairments to intangible assets when theevidence that events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amousnodsset may not be recovered. Our judgments riegaite existence of impairment
indicators and future cash flows related to inthleggassets are based on operational performarmér @fcquired businesses, market conditions
and other factors. If impairment is indicated, wduce the carrying value of the intangible asséitovalue. While our current and historical
operating and cash flow losses are potential indisaof impairment, we believe the future cash 8dw be received from our intangible assets
will exceed the intangible assets’ carrying vaklmd accordingly, we have not recognized any impaitrtosses through December 31, 2010.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite bvare not amortized but instead are measured feairment annually, or when events
indicate that impairment exists. Our accountingqyolvith respect to reviewing goodwill for impairmieis a two step process. The first step of
the impairment test compares the fair value ofreporting unit with its carrying value includingadated goodwill. If the carrying value of our
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then theoselcstep of the impairment test is performed tosueathe impairment loss, if any. We test
goodwill for impairment at the entity level, whighconsidered our reporting unit. Our estimateadrf ¥alue is determined using both the
Discounted Cash Flow method of the Income Appraauhthe Guideline Public Company method of the MaApproach. The Discounted
Cash Flow method estimates future cash flows obaoisiness for a certain discrete period and thecodints them to their present value. The
Guideline Public Company method computes valuecatdrs (“multiples”) from the operating data of #elected publicly traded guideline
companies. After these multiples were evaluateprgpiate value indicators were selected and agptighe operating statistics of the
reporting unit to arrive at indications of valug@eSifically, we relied upon the application of Tiotavested Capital based valuation multiples
each guideline company. In applying the Income ladket Approaches, premiums and discounts wergméted and applied to estimate the
fair values of the reporting unit. To arrive at thdicated value of equity under each approachthere assigned a relative weighting to the
resulting values from each approach to determinetidr the carrying value of the reporting unit exdsits fair value, thus requiring step two
of the impairment test.

We conduct the impairment test annually on Noven30¢h for each fiscal year for which goodwill issdwated for impairment. We are
also aware of the requirement to evaluate goodwiilimpairment at other times should circumstararése. To date, we have concluded tha
fair value of the reporting unit significantly exaded the carrying value and therefore, step twbefmpairment test has never been perfori

Although there are inherent uncertainties in tisisegsment process, the estimates and assumptiarsevaee consistent with our internal
planning. If these estimates or their related aggiams change in the future, we may be requira@¢ord an impairment charge on all or a
portion of our goodwill and intangible assets. Rartnore, we cannot predict the occurrence of futapairment-triggering events nor the
impact such events might have on our reported asdees. Future events could cause us to conchateérhpairment indicators exist and that
goodwill or other intangible assets associated withacquired businesses are impaired. Any regpitippairment loss could have an adverse
impact on our results of operations.

Stock-based Compensati@tock-based compensation cost is estimated atr#mt date based on the fair-value of the awardiend
recognized as an expense ratably over the reqssitéce period of the award. Determining the appate fairvalue model and calculating t
fair value of stockbased awards at the grant date requires consiégtatgment, including estimating stock price vdiigti expected option lifi
and forfeiture rates. We develop our estimatesasehistorical data. If factors change and we emgifferent assumptions in future periods,
the compensation expense that we record may difjaificantly from what we have recorded in thereat period. A small change in the
estimates used may have a relatively large changeeiestimated valuation. We use the Black-Schulieing model to value stock option
awards. We recognize compensation expense usirgjrtight-line amortization method.

52



Table of Contents

Registered Common Stock Warrami&e account for registered common stock warrantsyaunt to the authoritative guidance on
accounting for derivative financial instrumentsemdd to, and potentially settled in, a company’si@tock, on the understanding that in
compliance with applicable securities laws, thdsteged warrants require the issuance of registegedrities upon exercise and do not
sufficiently preclude an implied right to net casgitlement. We classify registered warrants orcthesolidated balance sheet as a current
liability which is revalued at each balance shegedubsequent to the initial issuance. Determitlisgappropriate fair-value model and
calculating the fair value of registered warraetguires considerable judgment including estimasitogk price volatility and expected warrant
life. We develop our estimates based on histodesd. A small change in the estimates used may daskatively large change in the estimated
valuation. We use the Black-Scholes pricing modelalue the registered warrants. Changes in therfaiket value of the warrants are
reflected in the consolidated statement of opematas “Other income/(expense), net.”

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information regarding recent accounting pronounagemis contained in Note 3 to the Consolidated fdred Statements, included
elsewhere in this report.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2010 ané 200

and the results of these two periods are useckididtussion thereafter.

Increase/
Increase/ (Decrease
December 31, December 31, (Decrease)
2010 2009 $ %
Revenues:
License fee and milestone payme $ 527,22. $ 4,929,30 $(4,402,08) (89)%
Revenue under collaborative research and develaf
arrangement — 125,99¢ (125,99¢) (200
Grants and miscellaneous revel 5,617,48. 4,064,801 1,552,67 38
Total revenues 6,144,70! 9,120,111 (2,975,400 (33
Operating expenses
Research and developmt 13,256,60 9,408,45 3,848,14 41
General and administrati 12,108,26 13,669,40 (1,561,14) (11)
Total operating expense: 25,364,86 23,077,86 2,287,00. 10
Loss from operations (19,220,16) (13,957,75) (5,262,40) (38)
Other income/(expense), r 2,476,81 (1,258,84) 3,735,66 297
Interest income, ne 74,51« 2,29: 72,22 315(
Loss from investment in affiliated enti (969,919 (9,244,61) 8,274,70! 90
Net loss (17,638,74) (24,458,92) 6,820,17! 28
Net loss attributable to n-controlling interes 24,95( 47,43¢ (22,489 (47)
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $(17,613,79) $(24,411,48) $ 6,797,68 28%
Revenue

Our revenue consists of license fees, milestonenpays, and amounts received from collaborativearebeand development
arrangements and grants.
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Our total revenue decreased $3.0 million or 33%Heryear ended December 31, 2010, as comparée iear ended December 31, 2
due to decreases in license fees and revenue fobaborative research and development arrangenodistst by an increase in grants and
miscellaneous revenue.

The $4.4 million decrease in license fees and moilespayments for the year ended December 31, 20tbmpared to 2009 was
primarily due to no revenues recognized in 2010eutide Wyeth collaboration and licensing agreemer2009 we accelerated and recognized
$4.1 million of deferred revenue due to the camtielh of the Wyeth agreement in July 2009. The elese was also attributable to less revenue
recognized from other smaller license agreemeittas@ decreases were partially offset by revenwegnézed in 2010 from the VGX Int'l
Collaboration and License Agreement.

The $126,000 decrease in revenue under collaberegsearch and development arrangements duringiteended December 31, 2010
as compared to 2009 was due to no revenues reeabuimer our research and collaboration agreemigmterck, as we have provided the
majority of the required device development for imstheir clinical trials. We believe that developnt activities will be limited until trial
results are obtained.

The $1.6 million increase in grant and miscellarse@yenue for the year ended December 31, 2016ragared to 2009, was primarily
due to higher revenues recognized from our contwitbtthe NIAID of $4.1 million for the year end&kcember 31, 2010 as compared to $3.0
million for 2009. The NIAID contract, which was mifidd in September 2010, has an initial term o&fivears with two one-year options
(period of performance is September 30, 2008 —eBeiper 29, 2015 including the two options). The entrvalue of the contract for the five
years is $24.6 million with option years six anglesevalued at $1.3 million and $1.0 million, respesdy, for a total potential value of $26
million, and will fund research and developmentitd¥ DNA-based vaccines delivered via our propnigtelectroporation system. The
increase is also attributed to the $733,000 gramtrded in October 2010 under The Patient ProteetmhAffordable Care Act of 2010
(“PPACA"). The grant was related to three of ounjpcts, including the Phase Il clinical trial of X&100, a therapeutic vaccine for cervical
dysplasia and cancer as well as development psojecSynCon™ universal flu and dengue vaccines.ARACA provides small and mid-
sized biotech, pharmaceutical and medical deviogpamies with up to a 50% tax credit for investmeamtgualified therapeutic discoveries for
tax years 2009 and 2010, or a grant for the sanmiantax-free. These increases were partially bffgdess revenue recognized under our
PATH Malaria Vaccine Initiative (“MVI") contract ahfrom the Department of Defense (“U.S. Army”) grd®ATH is an international
nonprofit organization funded by private donors. lié&e a research program and agreement with thédMAV to evaluate in a preclinical
feasibility study our SynCofi  DNA vaccine developmglatform to target antigens froRlasmodiurrspecies and deliver them intradermally
using the CELLECTRA electroporation device. Theiahiagreement with MVI was for $685,000 and wampteted in February 2010. In
September 2010 we entered into an amended agreaiteATH to further this study in non-human pries The amended agreement has a
total value of $804,000 and is expected to be cetaglby August 2011. The U.S. Army grant had d tatlue of $933,000 and was completed
in May 2010. This project funded research and dgrakent of DNA-based vaccines delivered via our ped@ry electroporation system and
focused on identifying DNA vaccine candidates vtith potential to provide rapid, robust immunityprotect against bio-warfare and bioterror
attacks.

Research and Development Exper

The $3.8 million increase in research and develoyiragpenses for the year ended December 31, 20dénazared to 2009, was
primarily due to higher costs related to work perfed for the NIAID contract, higher outside sergi@nd contract labor expenses related to
research and development projects, higher outsigmeering professional services related to CELLRBP development, higher clinical trial
costs and higher personnel costs due to greatdogagheadcount on average throughout the yearinthease was partially offset by a
decrease in expenses incurred by our Norwegiaridiahies as these entities ceased operations il @88@vell as lower stock based
compensation expense.
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Our research and development activities reflectefiarts to advance our products through the vargtages of product development.
expenditures that will be necessary to executadeuelopment plans are subject to numerous uncgéesjnvhich may affect our research and
development expenditures and capital resources Ewarlier results are positive, we may obtaiffedent results in later stages of
development, which could impact our developmeneexiitures for a particular product. Although wergpa considerable amount of time
planning our development activities, we may be megito alter our plan based on new circumstancevents. Any deviation from our plan
may require us to incur additional expenditureaarelerate or delay the timing of our developmeensling.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include busidegelopment expenses and the amortization afgitike assets. The $1.6 million
decrease in general and administrative expensdbdgrear ended December 31, 2010 as compared t@dr ended December 31, 2009, was
primarily due to lower legal and related fees asged with the Merger and other corporate mattgpan closing of the Merger in 2009, we
incurred costs such as Merger related compenstatikey employees, higher accounting, audit andatada fees, higher insurance costs, and
higher employee stock based compensation due tacttederated vesting of all Inovio stock optionseTecrease was also attributable to a
decrease in expenses incurred by our Norwegiaridiahiss as these entities ceased operations if. Zfese decreases were partially offse
an increase in recurring operating expenses inofutlie amortization of intangible assets acquinetthé Merger due to a full year operating as
a combined company in 2010 when compared to agpgear in 2009.

Stock-based Compensation.

Stock-based compensation cost is measured ataheé date, based on the fair value of the awardoediby estimated forfeitures, and is
recognized as expense over the employee’s reqemitéce period. Total compensation cost for ooclsplans for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $898,000 and $1li8mof which $281,000 and $595,000 was includetesearch and development
expenses and $617,000 and $1.2 million was inclidlgéneral and administrative expenses, respégtidé December 31, 2010, there was
$928,000 of total unrecognized compensation cektted to unvested stock options, which we exgerttognize over a weighted-average
period of 1.7 years, as compared to $1.4 milliartfie year ended December 31, 2009 expected tedogmized over a weighted-average
period of 2.5 years. Total stock-based compensd#ioaptions granted to non-employees for the yeaded December 31, 2010 and 2009 was
$277,000 and $339,000, respectively.

Other Income/(Expense), net

We recorded other income/(expense), net, for tlesyended December 31, 2010 and 2009 of $2.5 méalia $(1.3 million),
respectively. The increase in other income (expemss, is primarily due to the revaluation of tgred common stock warrants issued by
October 2006, August 2007 and July 2009. We revileavarrants at each balance sheet date to flaie vid unexercised, the warrants will
expire at various dates between October 2011 dgd0a4.

Interest Income, n¢

Interest income/(expense), net, for the years efsmgmber 31, 2010 and 2009 was $75,000 and $x@8fkctively. The increase in
interest income/(expense), net, for the year efmbmber 31, 2010 as compared to the year endeshiber 31, 2009, was primarily due to a
decrease in interest expense related to the caleediebt obtained in connection with the Mergeiiclkihwas converted to common stock in
August 2009, offset by lower interest income earteel to a lower cash and investments balance.
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Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity

Gain (loss) is a result of the change in the fairkat value of the investment in VGX Int’l as of éenber 31, 2010.

Income Taxe

Since inception, we have incurred operating lossesaccordingly have not recorded a provisionriopime taxes for any of the periods
presented. As of December 31, 2010, we had nettipgross carry forwards for federal, CaliforniedaPennsylvania income tax purposes of
approximately $71.6 million, $24.7 million and $89nillion, respectively, net of the net operatingdes that will expire due to IRC Section
382 limitations. We also had federal and Califoméisearch and development tax credits of approein&5650,000 and $1.6 million,
respectively, net of the federal research and dgveént credits that will expire due to IRC Sect3®8 limitations. If not utilized, the net
operating losses and credits will begin to expir@@11. Utilization of net operating losses andlitseare subject to a substantial annual

limitation due to ownership change limitations pdad by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as aetnd

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2009 an8l 200

The audited consolidated financial data for theyended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2@08gented in the following table

and the results of these two periods are useckididtussion thereafter.

Increase/
Increase/ (Decrease
December 31 December 31 (Decrease)
2009 2008 %

Revenues:
License fee and milestone payme $ 4,911,08 $ 791,40: $ 4,119,68 521%
License fee and milestone payments from affiliaetity 18,22 — 18,22 10C
Revenue under collaborative research and developanemgement 125,99¢ 1,077,96' (951,97) (88)
Grants and miscellaneous revel 4,023,94. 228,26« 3,795,67 1,66:
Grants and miscellaneous revenue from affiliatetttye 40,86¢ — 40,86¢ 10C
Total revenues 9,120,11. 2,097,63. 7,022,47! 33t
Operating expenses
Research and developmt 9,408,45 5,750,49. 3,657,96. 64
General and administrati\ 13,669,40 10,005,60 3,663,80 37
Total operating expense:! 23,077,86 15,756,09 7,321,77! 46
Loss from operations (13,957,75) (13,658,46) (299,29) 2
Other income/(expense), r (1,258,84) 49,00¢ (2,307,85) (2,66¢)
Interest income/(expense), I 2,29: 643,83¢ (641,54)) (100
Loss from investment in affiliated enti (9,244,61) — (9,244,61) (100)
Net loss (24,458,92) (12,965,62) (11,493,30) (89
Net loss attributable to n-controlling interes 47,43¢ — 47,43¢ 10C
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $(24,411,48)  $(12,965,62)  $(11,445,86) (88)%

Revenue

Our revenue consists of license fees, milestonenpays, and amounts received from collaborativearebeand development

arrangements and grants.
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Our total revenue increased $7.0 million or 335%tifie year ended December 31, 2009, as compated tear ended December 31,
2008 due to increases in license fee revenuesmanekise in grants and miscellaneous revenue, tffseidecrease in revenues under
collaborative research and development arrangements

The $4.1 million increase in license fees and roles payments for the year ended December 31, @0@®mpared to 2008 was
primarily due to the acceleration of $4.1 milliohdeferred revenues recognized as a result ofdhedllation of the Wyeth collaboration and
licensing agreement in July 2009. Revenue fromrdibense agreements remained consistent duringghes ended December 31, 2009 and
2008.

The $952,000 decrease in revenue under collaberegsearch and development arrangements duringfireended December 31, 2009
as compared to 2008 was due to a decrease in Meliaborative research billings of $506,000, aslagIno billings to Wyeth in 2009 from
our collaborative agreement related to the comrabzaition of the Elgen device. Revenues from calfakive research and development
arrangements are expected to continue to deckn@/yeeth terminated its collaboration and licensaggeement as of July 2009 and under our
research and collaboration agreement with Merckhaee provided the majority of the required dewdegelopment for use in their clinical
trials and we believe that development activitiéé lve limited until trial results are obtained.

The $3.8 million increase in grant and miscellarse@yenue for the year ended December 31, 2008ragared to 2008 was primarily
due to revenues recognized from our contract vai¢hNIAID and the PATH Malaria Vaccine InitiativeMVI1”) of $3.0 million and $440,000,
respectively, since June 1, 2009, and higher ree®necognized from the U.S. Army grant of $373,0aMecember 31, 2009, the original
NIAID contract was for five years with two c-year options (period of performance is SeptemBe808 — September 29, 2015 including the
two options). The value for the five years was $2tillion with option years six and seven value@a2 million and $1.1 million,
respectively, for a total potential value of $2&Blion, and will fund research and developmentid¥ DNA-based vaccines delivered via our
proprietary electroporation system. PATH is anrimé¢ional nonprofit organization funded by privdtenors. We have a research program and
agreement with the PATH MVI to evaluate in a preiclal feasibility study our SynCahDNA vaccine development platform to target antig
from Plasmodiunspecies and deliver them intradermally using th&lEECTRA @ electroporation device. The original agrestnwith MVI
was for $685,000 and ran through February 2010.U0.8e Army grant had a total value of $933,000dech research and development of
DNA-based vaccines delivered via our proprietagcebporation system and ran through May 2010. progect focused on identifying DNA
vaccine candidates with the potential to providadarobust immunity to protect against bio-warfarel bioterror attacks. During the years
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we recognizetinevof $57,000 and $135,000, respectively, ataliia to the operations of our
Norwegian subsidiary, Inovio AS, which amountecgpproximately 1% and 6% of our total revenue. IDAE’ revenue primarily consists of
amounts received from grants and licensing revelmogio AS was dissolved in December 2009. Opegadictivities for Inovio AS are now
conducted in the United States.

Research and Development Exper

The $3.7 million increase in research and developiragpenses for the year ended December 31, 200@ngsared to the year ended
December 31, 2008, was primarily due to highersoedated to work performed for the NIAID contrastwell as higher other outside services
and contract labor expenses related to researcbarelopment projects. The increase was partidlsebby a decrease in research and
development expenses incurred by our Norwegianidiabies as these entities were winding down opanatduring 2009, as well as a decre
in outside lab testing and lab and engineering lsuymrchases. Research and development expensbstatle to Inovio AS were $311,000
and $751,000 for the years ended December 31, 2802008, respectively.

Our research and development activities reflecteffarts to advance our products through the varigtages of product development.
expenditures that will be necessary to executadleuelopment plans are
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subject to numerous uncertainties, which may affectresearch and development expenditures anthtegsources. Even if earlier results are
positive, we may obtain different results in ladtages of development, which could impact our dgwakent expenditures for a particular
product. Although we spend a considerable amoutitr& planning our development activities, we mayréquired to alter our plan based on
new circumstances or events. Any deviation frompmlan may require us to incur additional expendisuor accelerate or delay the timing of
our development spending.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include busitegelopment expenses and the amortization afgitiee assets. The $3.7 million
increase in general and administrative expensa$iéoyear ended December 31, 2009, as comparéé year ended December 31, 2008, was
primarily due to higher legal and related fees aisged with the Merger and other corporate mattépmn closing of the Merger, we also
incurred costs that would have not been incurrettiérprior year, such as Merger related compensatikkey employees, higher amortization
expense as a result of the intangible assets tha acquired from VGX, and higher employee stodetdacompensation due to the accelerated
vesting of all Inovio stock options. The increassvelso attributed to higher accounting, audit\aidation fees related to the Merger and the
combined company. These increases were partidiedy a decrease in outside consulting serviglesad to partnering our SECTA therapy
program and other corporate advisory services. thaddilly, as a result of the dissolution of our Wegian subsidiaries, general and
administrative expenses were offset by the reverfsah $887,000 deferred tax liability previousgcorded in connection with the original
acquisition of the Norwegian entity. General anthaaistrative costs attributable to Inovio AS we4%,000 and $376,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Stock-based Compensation.

Stock-based compensation cost is measured atdhé dgite, based on the fair value of the awardoediby estimated forfeitures, and is
recognized as expense over the employee’s reqasitéce period. Total compensation cost for ooclsplans for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $1.8 million and sillion, of which $595,000 and $286,000 was idéd in research and development
expenses and $1.2 million and $746,000 was includgéneral and administrative expenses, respégtié December 31, 2009, there was
$1.4 million of total unrecognized compensationtcodated to unvested stock options, which we ekperecognize over a weighted-average
period of 2.5 years, as compared to $752,000 foyé&ar ended December 31, 2008. Total stock-bamagensation for options granted to non-
employees for the years ended December 31, 2002G0®Iwas $339,000 and $58,000, respectively.

Other Income (Expense), net

We recorded other income (expense), net, for tlaesyended December 31, 2009 and 2008 of $(1.2mjland $49,000, respectively.
The increase in other income (expense), net, isaily due to the revaluation of registered commatmtk warrants issued by us in October
2006, August 2007 and July 2009. We revalue theamgs at each balance sheet date to fair valumedgercised, these warrants have or will
expire at various dates through July 2014.

Interest Income (Expense), |

Interest income (expense), net, for the years ebdegmber 31, 2009 and 2008 was $2,000 and $644@8tkctively. The decrease in
interest income (expense), net, for the year eEmbmber 31, 2009 as compared to the year endeshiber 31, 2008, was primarily due to a
lower average cash and investments balance and boweeage interest rate during the year, as walhadscrease in interest expense related to
the convertible debt obtained in connection with fherger. This debt was converted to common stodkuigust 2009.
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Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity
Gain (loss) is a result of the change in the investt fair market value as of December 31, 2009.

Income Taxe

Since inception, we have incurred operating lossesaccordingly have not recorded a provisionriopime taxes for any of the periods
presented. As of December 31, 2009, we had nettipgross carry forwards for federal, CaliforniedaPennsylvania income tax purposes of
approximately $106.2 million, $67.5 million and $33nillion, respectively. We also had federal aradifdrnia research and development tax
credits of approximately $2.6 million and $1.6 moitl, respectively. If not utilized, the net opengtiosses and credits will begin to expire in
2013. Utilization of net operating losses and deedie subject to a substantial annual limitatioe th ownership change limitations provided
by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, our primary uses of cash have beefin@ance research and development activities inotydlinical trial activities in the
oncology, DNA vaccines and other immunotherapy sidaur business. Since inception, we have satisfur cash requirements principally
from proceeds from the sale of equity securities.

Working Capital and Liquidity

As of December 31, 2010, we had working capits16.4 million, as compared to $25.2 million as @cPmber 31, 2009. The decrease
in working capital during the year ended Decemlier2®10 was primarily due to expenditures relatedur research and development
activities, as well as various general and adnratise expenses related to legal, consultants,uadog and audit, and corporate development.
These expenditures were offset by the $3.0 milleneived from VGX Int'l in connection with the Mdr@010 Collaboration and License
Agreement, as well as a decrease in the valuafioegéstered common stock warrants.

In January 2011, the Company entered into invgeicchase agreements with investors relating tésteance and sale of (a) 21,130,400
shares of common stock, and (b) warrants to puechdstal of 10,565,200 shares of common stock aritlexercise price of $1.40 per share,
for an aggregate purchase price of approximatefy3aillion. The shares of common stock and wasamre sold in units, consisting of one
share of common stock and a warrant to purchagedd.& share of common stock, at a purchase pfigé.a5 per unit. The Company received
net proceeds from the transaction of approxim&k28.0 million, after deducting the placement agefee and estimated offering expenses
payable by the Company.

Net cash used in operating activities was $11.8anibnd $14.1 million for the years ended Decen83er2010 and 2009, respectively.
The decrease in net cash used in operating aetiitr the year ended December 31, 2010, compatkdhe prior year, was primarily the
result of the $3.0 million received from VGX Intfi connection with the March 2010 Collaboration &ntense Agreement as well as a
decrease in legal and other expenses paid assbuidtethe Merger and other corporate matters dffgencreased spending on clinical,
engineering and other research and developmenitasito support our programs.

Prior to July 1, 2010 we held Auction Rate Secesiif*ARS”), which were municipal debt obligationglwan underlying long-term
maturity. Due to conditions in the global creditrkets these securities were not liquid as of Deaarsth, 2009. In December 2008, we, via
wholly-owned subsidiary Genetronics, which held ARS, accepted an offer of ARS Rights from UBS wahpermitted us to require UBS to
purchase our ARS at par value at any time duriegptiriod of June 30, 2010 through July 2, 2012Ja@in 1, 2010, we exercised the ARS
Rights, and we sold the remaining ARS at par value.
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In conjunction with the acceptance of the ARS Rghte also amended our existing loan agreementWBi& Bank USA, increasing the
existing credit line up to $12.1 million, with t#RS pledged as collateral. We fully drew down oa line of credit in December 2008. On
July 1, 2010, upon exercise of our ARS Rights lithe of credit was paid in full.

We initiated an At-Thevarket Equity Distribution Agreement in August 2040d raised $2.3 million net of expenses, as oebder 31
2010. In January 2011 we raised an additional 8ilkbn, net of expenses, through this program.

As of December 31, 2010, we had an accumulateditiefi$194.8 million. We have operated at a lasses 1994, and we expect to
continue to operate at a loss for some time. Theuatnof the accumulated deficit will continue teiiease, as it will be expensive to continue
research and development efforts. If these aaiwitire successful and if we receive approval ftwrFDA to market our DNA vaccine
products, then even more funding will be requitedniarket and sell the approved vaccine productsgnigpment. We cannot predict the
outcome of the above matters at this time. We @aduating potential collaborations as an additiomay to fund operations. We will continue
to rely on outside sources of financing to meetaapital needs beyond 2013.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatfitive or are reasonably likely to have a cumwefuture effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenexpenses, and results of operations, liquiditgjtahexpenditures or capital resources.

Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2010, we did not have any atiegerial long-term debt or other known contractldigations, except for the
operating leases for our facilities, which expme2D13 through 2017, and operating leases for copiehich expire in 2011,

We are contractually obligated to make the follayvaperating lease payments as of December 31, 2010:

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1 -3 years 3 —5years 5 years
Operating lease obligatiol $1,344,59 $325,36¢ $701,42 $271,63 $46,16¢

In the normal course of business, we are a pargyvariety of agreements pursuant to which we neagliligated to indemnify the other
party. It is not possible to predict the maximuntgmdial amount of future payments under these tgbegreements due to the conditional
nature of our obligations and the unique facts@raimstances involved in each particular agreemdistorically, payments made by us un
these types of agreements have not had a mat#eéet en our business, consolidated results of apars or financial condition.

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magaot our consolidated financial position, resuftemerations or cash flows due to
adverse changes in financial and commodity markeép and rates. We are exposed to market riskgpifiyrin the area of changes in United
States interest rates and conditions in the credikets, and the recent fluctuations in interetgisrand availability of funding in the credit
markets primarily impact the performance of oureistiiments. We do not have any material foreign aggrer other derivative financial
instruments. Under our current policies, we douss interest rate derivative instruments to maexgesure to interest rate changes. We
attempt to increase the safety and preservatiauoinvested principal funds by limiting defaukj market risk and reinvestment risk. We
mitigate default risk by investing in investmenade securities.
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Fair Value measurements

We account for our common stock warrants pursuatite authoritative guidance on accounting forndgive financial instruments
indexed to, and potentially settled in, a compaimyis stock, on the understanding that in compliamitle applicable securities laws, the
registered warrants require the issuance of regidtgecurities upon exercise and do not suffigigaéclude an implied right to net cash
settlement. We classify registered warrants orctinsolidated balance sheet as a current liabliay is revalued at each balance sheet date
subsequent to the initial issuance.

As of December 31, 2010, we no longer hold tradiecurities. Previously, we classified all of ouréatment securities consisting of A
issued primarily by municipalities as trading sées and reported them on the consolidated balaheet at market value.

In December 2008, we, via our wholly-owned subsidi@enetronics, which held the ARS, accepted agraf ARS Rights from our
investment advisor, UBS Financial Services, Insulasidiary of UBS AG, or UBS. The ARS Rights pdted us to require UBS to purchase
our ARS at par value at any time during the pedbdune 30, 2010 through July 2, 2012. On July01,02we exercised the ARS Rights, and we
sold the remaining ARS held by us at par value.

Foreign Currency Risk

We have operated primarily in the United Statesrandt transactions during the year ended Decemhe2(.0, have been made in
United States dollars. Accordingly, we have not hag material exposure to foreign currency ratettlations, with the exception of the
valuation of our equity investment in VGX Int'l wdfi is denominated in South Korean Won. We do ne¢ fzy foreign currency hedging
instruments in place.

Certain transactions related to us are denominatethrily in foreign currencies, including Eurog;jtidh Pounds, Canadian Dollars,
South Korean Won and Singapore Dollars. As a resultfinancial results could be affected by fasteuch as changes in foreign currency
exchange rates or weak economic conditions indoraiarkets where we conduct business, includingntipact of the existing crisis in the
global financial markets in such countries anditijggact on both the United States dollar and thecdhébreign currencies.

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsdjpeculative purposes. We do not engage in exchatgdéedging or hold or issue
foreign exchange contracts for trading purposestadtly, we do not expect the impact of fluctuasion the relative fair value of other
currencies to be material in 2011.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this Item 8 is incorgi@d by reference to our Consolidated Financiak8tants and the Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm beigim at page F-1 of this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2010, we carried out an evaoatvith the participation of our Chief Executivéfi©er and Chief Financial Officer,
of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls pratedures (as defined in

61



Table of Contents

Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based thpatrevaluation, our Chief Executive Officer ande@trinancial Officer concluded that

our disclosure controls and procedures were effes of the end of the period covered by thisntdpaecording, processing, summarizing
and reporting, on a timely basis, information regdito be disclosed in reports that we file or sitlumder the Exchange Act and our disclosure
controls and procedures were also effective torenthat information we disclose in the reports e dr submit under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our managemenigding our Chief Executive Officer and Chief FinaiOfficer, to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Managemer's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinancRéporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting, as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchangeoh 1934. Our internal control over financial ogfing is a process designed under the
supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and GHieancial Officer to provide reasonable assuraegarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of our financialestants for external purposes in accordance witheddr$tates generally accepted accounting
principles.

As of December 31, 2010, management, with theqjpatiion of the Chief Executive Officer and Chiefi&ncial Officer, assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting based on the criteria for effectiveeimial control over financial reporting
established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framekbissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgaitzre (“COSO”) of the Treadway
Commission. Based on the assessment, managememnhietd that we maintained effective internal colnbver financial reporting as of
December 31, 2010.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repogtin

There have not been any changes in our internatalaver financial reporting (as defined in RuleZa-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) that occurred during the fourth qgraof our fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 lthae materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our inteFgantrol over financial reporting.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered PWaimounting Firrr

The independent registered public accounting flrat iudited the consolidated financial statemératdre included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K has issued an audit reporhereffectiveness of our internal control over ficiahreporting as of December 31, 2010.
The report appears below.

62



Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’srivaecontrol over financial reporting as of DecemBg, 2010, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framdwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiratiaf the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Ismmanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting, ¢
for its assessment of the effectiveness of intezaatrol over financial reporting included in thecampanying ManagemestAnnual Report ¢
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our resgibility is to express an opinion on the compargternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@d@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigfenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness et@st#ig and evaluating the design and operatifegtfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thgté€ttain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maimta, in all material respects, effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2010, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Inovio Pharmacésiticer. as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, andetlaged consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flowsefich of the three years in the period ended DbeeBil, 2010 and our report dated
March 16, 2011 expressed an unqualified opiniorethre

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 16, 2011
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this Item 10 is herétgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of B0t0 fiscal year.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is heréigorporated by reference from our definitive pretgitement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 2010 fiscal year.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is herétgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 2010 fiscal year.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Director independence and other information reqguing this Iltem 13 is hereby incorporated by refeesftom our definitive proxy
statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14thiw 120 days after the end of our 2010 fiscalryea

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is herétgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 2010 fiscal year.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
1. Financial Statemen
Consolidated financial statements required to leel tiereunder are indexed on Page F-2 hereof.

2.  Financial Statement Schedu

Schedules not listed herein have been omitted Iseddwe information required to be set forth theigimot applicable or is included in the
Financial Statements or notes thereto.
3. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of thisnaral report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit
Number Description of Document
3.1(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatinoofporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of theisegn’s Registratior
Statement on Form-3 (File No. 33-108752) filed on September 12, 20C
(b) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetificate of Incorporation as filed with the DelamgeSecretary of State
September 10, 2004 (incorporated by reference tobix3.1 of the registrant’s Form 8-K current refiled September 16,
2004).
(c) Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Redt@rtificate of Incorporation as filed with the |Bware Secretary of
State on March 31, 2005 (incorporated by refer@gadexhibit 3.1 of the registrant’s Form 8-K curreaport filed on April 4,
2005).
(d) Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Redt@ertificate of Incorporation as filed with the |Bware Secretary of

State on May 14, 2010 (incorporated by referendextubit 3.1 of the registrant’s on Form 10-Q gedst report for the quarter
ended March 31, 2010 filed on May 17, 20!

3.2(a) Certificate of Designations, Rights and PrefererafeSeries C Convertible Preferred Stock of regist(incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the registr's Registration Statement on Fori-3 filed on June 21, 2004

(b) Certificate of Decrease of Shares of Series C Cativel Convertible Preferred Stock of registrantgirporated by reference
Exhibit 3.4 of the registra’s Registration Statement on Fori-3 filed on June 21, 2004
3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Inovio Pharmacdatitiec. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit &1@he registrant’s
Form &K current report filed on August 18, 200
4.12 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated asputeSiber 15, 2006 by and between the registraneacid of the

purchasers listed on Schedule 1 to the SecuritieshBse Agreement (Exhibit 10.23 herein) (incorfeatdy reference to
Exhibit 4.3 of the registra’s Form K current report filed on September 20, 20(

4.13 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Septeitihe?2006 by and among registrant and certain toveindicated on
schedule thereto (incorporated by reference tolkixh0.5 of the registrant’s Form 10-Q quarterlgag for the quarter ended
September 30, 2010 filed on November 9, 20
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Exhibit
Number

4.14

4.16+

4.17+

4.18

10.1

10.2t

10.3t

10.4

10.5+
10.6

10.8

10.9

10.10+

10.11#

Description of Document

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant to be usethbybetween the registrant and each of the puechéisted or
Schedule 1 to the Securities Purchase and Exchisgrgement (Exhibit 10.25 herein) (incorporated &ference to Exhibit 4.2
of the registrar's Form 1i-K annual report for the year ended December 316 2i¢d on March 16, 2007

Form of Restricted Stock Award Grants under the720nnibus Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated bgnmafice to Exhibit 4.3
to the registrar’s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed on May 14, 2007

Form of Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Optiora@ts under the 2007 Omnibus Stock Incentive Pteco(porated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the regist’'s Registration Statement on For-8 filed with on May 14, 2007

Form of Common Stock Warrant issued by Inovio Plaeuiticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to BixHi.1 to the
registran’s Form &K current report filed on January 24, 201

Lease Agreement by and between the registrant @d $entry Park West LLC dated December 10, 20a®(porated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s FditaK annual report for the year ended DecembeRBQ9 filed on March 26,
2010).

License Agreement dated September 20, 2000 by etmeebn the registrant and the University of Soudhidla Research
Foundation, Inc. (incorporated by reference to BEitHi0.5 of the registrant’s Form 10-Q quarterlgag for the quarter ended
September 30, 2000 filed on November 9, 20

Non-Exclusive License and Research Collaboration Agegrdated as of May 21, 2004 by and among thetragisanc
Merck & Co., Inc. and Genetronics, Inc., a subsidif the registrant (incorporated by referenc&xbibit 10.1 to the
registran’s Form 1-Q quarterly report for the quarter ended June 804Z4iled on August 13, 2004

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incotpadrly reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the regist’'s Form &K current
report filed on August 6, 2007

Employment Agreement dated as of December 27, Béideen Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Peter Kilesl herewith).

Voting Trust Agreement dated June 1, 2009 by andngninovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the stockholdisted on Schedule
thereto, Simon Benito, Tee Khiang Ng and Dr. Mor@wilins (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@he registrant’s
Form &K current report filed on June 1, 200

Securities Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 20@d among Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and tirehasers identified on
the signature pages thereto (incorporated by neferéo Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s FornK&urrent report filed on July 3
2009).

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors adfficers of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorgied by reference
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Form 10-Q quastedport for the quarterly period ended June 3092@iled on August 19,
2009).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datezb@c6, 2009 by and between Inovio Pharmaceutitaisand
Dr. Avtar Dhillon (incorporated by reference to Ebih10.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K current refded on October 6,
20009).

Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Incentive Phaororated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thestegn’s Form 1-Q
quarterly report for the quarterly period endedt8eyoer 30, 2009, filed on November 13, 20(
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Exhibit
Number

10.12#

10.13%

10.14%

10.15%

10.16%

10.17%

10.18%

10.20%

10.21%

10.22

10.23%

10.24%

Description of Document

Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Incentive Phaororated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thestegn’s Form 1-Q
quarterly report for the quarterly period ended thaB1, 2010, filed on May 17, 201(

License Agreement dated June 26, 2000 by and amaylgr College of Medicine, Valentis, Inc. and Ajgol Veterinary
Systems, Inc., as filed with the registr's Registration Statement on For-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

License Agreement dated January 25, 2001 by ankketBaylor College of Medicine and Applied Vetariy Systems, Inc.
assigned to VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amengédrst Amendment dated April 17, 2002, Second Adment dated

May 29, 2002, Third amendment dated March 5, 2602rth Amendment dated April 14, 2004 and Fifth Awxh@ent dated
February 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference talktxh0.27 as filed with the registrant’s RegisivatStatement on Form S-4
(File No. 33:-156035) on April 27, 2009

License Agreement dated November 5, 2001 by anddaet The Trustees of the University of Pennsylvani VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amentidagad August 15, 2005 (incorporated by refergadexhibit 10.29 as
filed with the registrar s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

R&D Alliance Agreement dated December 19, 2005y lzetween Ganial Immunotherapeutics, Inc. and \
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextabit 10.31 as filed with the registrant’s Rerasion Statement on Form S-
4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 21, 20@Adwamong Ronald O. Bergan, Mary Alice Bergan, \é6&
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextabit 10.32 as filed with the registrant’s Reation Statement on Form S-
4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

License Agreement dated May 9, 2007 by and betBastor University and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inccérporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.34 as filed with the regist’s registration statement on Form S-4 (File 883-156035) on April 27,
20009).

Non-Exclusive License Agreement dated September 1, B@Ghd between VGX Animal Health, Inc. and V(
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.36 as filed with the registrant’s Reation Statement on Form S-
4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

License Agreement dated September 1, 2007 by ametba VGX Animal Health, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceusc#nc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 agifidgth the registrant’s Registration Statement om#S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009

Assignment of Contingent Payments Agreement datgdl&@r 20, 2007 by and among Ronald O. Bergan, Macg Bergan,
VGX Animal Health, Inc., and VGX Pharmaceuticals;.l (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38ilasl with the
registran’s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33:-156035) on April 27, 2009

R&D Collaboration and License Agreement dated Ddoami 8, 2006 by and between VGX International, &amd VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amentidegad October 31, 2007 and as amended by Secmedidment dated
August 4, 2008 (incorporated by reference to ExHibi39 as filed with the registrant’s Registrati8tatement on Form S-4
(File No. 33:-156035) on April 27, 2009

Sales and Marketing Agreement dated February 28 B9 and between VGX International and VGX Phamuiéicals, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 agifidgth the registrant’s Registration Statement om#S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009
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Exhibit
Number

10.25+

10.26%

10.27

10.29%

10.30+

10.31+

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35%

10.36

10.37

211
23.1
24.1

Description of Document

Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2008 by amden J. Joseph Kim, Ph.D. and VGX Pharmaceutitrads, as
amended by First Amendment of Employment Agreerdated March 31, 2008 (incorporated by referendextubit 10.43 as
filed with the registrar's Registration Statement on For-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

CELLECTRAZ® Device License Agreement dated April 2608 by and between VGX International and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.44 as filed with the registrant’s Reation Statement on Form S-
4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 10, 2008 bgraodg VGXI, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Incc@irporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.48 as filed with the regist’'s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File 388-156035) on April 27,
2009).

Patent License Agreement dated April 27, 2007 lyylz@tween The Trustees of the University of Pervasyh and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amentdatad June 12, 2008 (incorporated by referen&skibit 10.50 as filed
with the registrar s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

2001 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Pharmacel#jdac., as amended (incorporated by referen&extobit 10.62 as filet
with the registrar s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

2007 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Animal Healtit. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a683filed with the
registran’s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Memorandum of NIH Research Grant Agreement by ataiden National Institute of Allergy and InfectidDseases and
VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by refeestacExhibit 10.66 as filed with the registrant'sdg®stration Statement on
Form ¢-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued@®) Pharmaceuticals, Inc. since 2003 (incorpordtgdeference ti
Exhibit 10.67 as filed with the registr’s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Form of Warrant Purchase Agreement for WarranBuehase Common Stock issued by VGX Pharmaceutloalssince
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68lad with the registrant’s Registration StatementForm S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009

License and Collaboration Agreement dated Marct2240 between Inovio Pharmaceuticals, inc. and W@#rnational, Inc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 as fikdth the registrant’s Form 10-Q quarterly repant the quarter ended March
31, 2010 filed on May 17, 201(

Equity Distribution Agreement dated August 27, 2@¥dween Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Rotht@bpartners, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 as fikgth the registrars Form &K current report filed on August 27, 201

Placement Agent Agreement dated January 24, 2(t%deba Inovio Pharmaceuticals, inc. and Roth Capitatners, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 as fikgth the registrars Form &K current report filed on January 24, 201

Subsidiaries of the registral
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.
Power of Attorney (included on signature pay
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuésecurities Exchange Act Rule -14(a).
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursus&ecurities Exchange Act Rule -14(a).
321 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adbptasuant to Section 906 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002
#  The registrant hereby agrees to furnish the,staffs confidential basis, a supplemental copyngf@mitted schedule upon the staff's
request

+  Designates management contract, compensatory pamamgemen
T We have applied with the Secretary of the Seesrdand Exchange Commission for confidential tregtihof certain information pursuant

to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of4l98e have filed separately with our applicatiozogy of the exhibit including all
confidential portions, which may be made availdblepublic inspection pending the Securities andhiange Commissios’review of thi

application in accordance with Rule :-2.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduolp authorized on March 16, 2011.

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: s/ J. 0SEPHK IM
J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below constitutes anairgpp). Joseph Kim
and Peter Kies, and each of them severally, hieeotrue and lawful attorney-in-fact with powersofbstitution and resubstitution to sign in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all cigmdio do any and all things and execute anyadlndstruments that such attorney may deem
necessary or advisable under the Securities ExehAngof 1934 and any rules, regulations and resuémts of the United States Securities
Exchange Commission in connection with the Annughétt on Form 10-K and any and all amendments dieastfully for all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in peeswmhhereby ratifies and confirms all said attorrieyfact and agents, each acting alone, and
his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfdityor cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ J..0SePHK IM President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc March 16, 201
J. Joseph Kim (Principal Executive Officer
/sl AvVTAR D HILLON Executive Chairman March 16, 2011
Avtar Dhillon
/sl PeTERK IES Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Oféic March 16, 201:
Peter Kies and Principal Financial Office
/s/ SimoN X. B ENITO Director March 16, 201:
Simon X. Benito
/s/ MORTONC OLLINS Director March 16, 2011
Morton Collins
/s/  DaAviD W ILLIAMS Director March 16, 201
David Williams
/s  KEITHW ELLS Director March 16, 2011
Keith Wells
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as oeBéer 31, 2010 and 2009, and
the related consolidated statements of operatgtoskholders’ equity, and cash flows for each efttiree years in the period ended
December 31, 2010. These financial statementhareesponsibility of the Company’s management. 1©siponsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 201D2909, and the consolidated results of its operatand its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20@nformity with United States generally accepaedounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bogsnited States), Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over fici@ahreporting as of December 31, 2010, based iberier established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiaha@ur report dated March 16, 2011
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 16, 2011
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2010

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivale $ 19,998,48
Shor-term investmen-certificates of depos 1,846,27.

Shor-term investmen-auction rate securitie —
Auction rate security right —
Accounts receivabl 32,881

Accounts receivable from affiliated ent 72,14¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 273,97!
Prepaid expenses and other current assets frolatafii entity 653,43t
Total current assets 22,877,20
Fixed assets, ni 276,79"
Intangible assets, n 11,180,00
Goodwiill 10,113,37
Investment in affiliated entit 11,360,88
Other asset 259,12¢
Total assets $ 56,067,39

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 3,410,61
Accounts payable and accrued expenses due taadtllientity 1,680,94
Accrued clinical trial expense¢ 178,32¢
Line of credit —

Common stock warran 370,92¢
Deferred revenu 420,89
Deferred revenue from affiliated ent 375,00(
Total current liabilities 6,436,70:
Deferred revenue, net of current port 72,78(
Deferred revenue from affiliated entity, net of runt portion 2,336,69
Deferred rent, net of current porti 67,11:
Deferred tax liabilitie: 53,18¢
Total liabilities 8,966,438

Commitments and contingenci
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock-par value $0.001; Authorized shares: 10,000,082ed and outstanding: 26 ¢
26 at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 200%cteply —
Common stoc—par value $0.001; Authorized shares: 300,000,33@ieid and outstandin

105,038,192 at December 31, 2010 and 102,746,068@mber 31, 20C 105,03t
Additional paic-in capital 241,233,33
Accumulated defici (194,838,22)
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 2,85(
Total Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholder’ equity 46,502,99
Non-controlling interes 597,91¢
Total stockholder equity 47,100,91
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 56,067,39

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.

F-3

2009

$ 30,296,21

10,397,53
3,145,15
259,200
58,85
409,84!
44,566,80
343,45
12,968,93
10,113,37
12,330,80
305,54

$ 80,628,91

$ 3,445,75
445,09:
299,26

12,114,76
2,774,85
270,32t
19,350,03
82,59«

11,33¢

19,443,97

102,744
237,577,97
(177,224,43)
105,79
60,562,07
622,86
61,184,94
$ 80,628,91
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues:

License fee and milestone rever

License fee and milestone revenue from affiliatetity
Revenue under collaborative research and developanemgement
Grants and miscellaneous revel

Miscellaneous revenue from affiliated ent

Total revenues

Operating expenses

Research and developmt

General and administrati\

Total operating expense:

Loss from operations

Other income (expense)

Other income/(expense), r

Interest income, ne

Loss from investment in affiliated enti

Net loss

Net loss attributable to n-controlling interes

Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le.

Loss per common shar—basic and diluted:
Net loss per share attributable to Inovio Pharmaceiticals, Inc. stockholders

Weighted average number of common share
outstanding—basic and diluted

For the Years ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
$ 21391t $ 4,929,300 $ 791,40
313,30 18,22: —
— 125,99 1,077,96
5,549,58: 4,005,71 228,26
67,90 40,86 —
6,144,70! 9,120,11 2,097,63;
13,256,60 9,408,45 5,750,49.
12,108,26 13,669,40 10,005,60
25,364,86 23,077,86 15,756,09
(19,220,16) (13,957,75) (13,658,46)
2,476,81 (1,258,84)) 49,00
74,51 2,297 643,83
(969,91/) (9,244,61) —
(17,638,74) (24,458,92) (12,965,62)
24,95( 47,43 —
$(17,613,79)  $(24,41148)  $(12,965,62)
$ 0179 $ 039 % (0.30)
103,201,88 74,714,13 43,914,00

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated

Preferred stock Common stock

other Non- Total
Additional Receivables Accumulated comprehensive controlling stockholders’
Number Number paid-in from
of shares of shares  Amount capital stockholders deficit (loss) income interest equity
Balance at December 31, 2C 113,38: 43,814,73 $ 43,81t $170,730,62 $  (50,000) $(139,847,32) $ 157,53: — $ 31,034,75
Exercise of stock options for ca — 1,25( 1 1,087 — — — — 1,08¢
Conversions of preferred stock to
common stocl (113,31) 113,31: 115 — — — — — —
Reserve for stockholder note receiva — — — — 50,00( — — — 50,00(
Issuance of common stock for
consulting service — 56,25( 55 46,52( — — — — 46,57¢
Stocl-based compensatic — 37,50( 38 1,090,68! — — — — 1,090,72.
Comprehensive los
Net loss attributable to common
stockholder: — — — — — (12,965,62) — — (12,965,62)
Unrealized loss on investmet — — — — — — (9,945 — (9,94%)
Foreign currency translation lo — — — — — — (141,42) — (141,42)
Total comprehensive lo: — — — — — — — — (13,116,99)
Balance at December 31, 2C 71 44,023,05 $ 44,02: $171,868,91 —  $(152,812,94) $ 6,15¢ — $ 19,106,14
Issuance of common stock to VGX
Pharmaceutical Sharehold: — 41,492,75 41,49 26,098,94 — — — — 26,140,43
Stock options and warrants assumed in
connection with Merge — — — 5,137,03: — — — — 5,137,03!
Non-controlling interest assumed in
connection with merge — — — — — — — 670,30° 670,30°
Issuance of common stock and warrants
for cash, net of financing costs of
$1.6 million — 11,111,121 11,11 28,395,24 — — — — 28,406,35
Fair value of common stock warrants
issued in connection with equity
financing — — — (1,263,38) — — — — (1,263,38)
Exercise of stock options for ca — 794,04 79¢E 357,94} — — — — 358,74(
Cashless exercise of stock optic — 519,49: 51¢ (519 — — — — —
Conversions of preferred stock to
common stocl (45) 66,17¢ 66 (66) — — — — —
Conversion of convertible debt to
common stocl — 4,600,68 4,601 4,826,11. — — — — 4,830,71!
Stocl-based compensatic — 138,75( 13¢ 2,157,741 — — — — 2,157,87
Comprehensive los
Net loss attributable to common
stockholder: — — — — — (24,411,48) — (47,439  (24,458,92)
Foreign currency translation ge — — — — — — 99,637 — 99,63
Total comprehensive lo: — — — — — — — — (24,359,28)
Balance at December 31, 2C 26 102,746,05 $102,74¢ $237,577,97 —  $(177,224,43) $ 105,79¢ $ 622,86¢ $ 61,184,94
Issuance of common stock for cash, net
of financing costs of $71,8:¢ — 1,994,67. 1,99¢ 2,312,12 — — — — 2,314,12.
Exercise of stock options for ca — 297,46: 297 168,36¢ — — — — 168,66!
Stocl-based compensatic — — — 1,174,86 — — — — 1,174,86
Comprehensive los
Net loss attributable to common
stockholder: — — — — — (17,613,79) — (24,95()  (17,638,74)
Foreign currency translation lo — — — — — — (102,94¢) — (102,949
Total comprehensive lo: — — — — — — — — (17,741,69)
Balance at December 31, 2C 26 105,038,19 $105,03¢ $241,233,33 —  $(194,838,22) $ 2,85( $ 597,91¢ $ 47,100,91

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash isegerating activities
Depreciatior
Amortization of intangible asse
Change in value of common stock warre
Change in value of sheterm investmen—auction rate securitie
Change in value of auction rate security ric
Gain on lon-term investment
Unrealized loss on trading securit
Recognition of auction rate securities rig
Stocl-based compensatic
Compensation for services paid in common s
Interest converted into common stc
Interest expense accrued on line of cr
Interest income accrued on sl-term investmen-certificates of depos
Reserve for inventory purchased from related pa
Recognition/(amortization) of deferred tax liabdi
Deferred ren
Impairment of long term investmer
Loss on disposal of fixed ass:
Loss from investment in affiliated enti
Gain from lon¢-term investment in affiliated enti
Accretion of discount on availal-for-sale securitie
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Accounts receivable from affiliated ent
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets frolnataffi entity
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Accounts payable and accrued expenses due tastlientity
Deferred revenu
Deferred revenue from affiliated ent
Net cash used in operating activitie
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of shi-term investmen-certificates of depos
Sale of sho-term investmen-certificates of depos
Sale of sho-term investmen-auction rate securitie
Purchases of lor-term investment
Maturities of lon-term investment
Purchases of capital ass
Sale of capital asse
Net cash provided by acquisitit
Acquired intangible assets and other as
Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ofis=sicost
Proceeds from stock option exerci:
Proceeds from line of crec
Repayment of line of crec
Reserve for stockholder note receiva

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casveénts

(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash equivale
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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For the Years ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
$(17,638,74) $(24,458,92) $(12,965,62)
194,62 237,22: 195,28t
1,913,91; 1,439,75! 797,74:
(2,403,92) 1,286,88. (142,489
(3,152,47) — —
3,145,15 (1,228,05)) —
— 1,136,33i —
— — 4,380,52!
— — (4,281,49)
1,174,86 2,157,87! 1,090,72.
— — 46,57¢
— 430,71} —
61,15: 166,174 —
(6,279) — —
— 177,96 —
53,18¢ (887,25() (63,000
55,77+ (131,020) (61,949
25,00 — 114,75(
21,18: 26,40¢ 9,79:
969,91 9,244,61. —
— (5,502) —
— — (60,34Y)
226,32 288,15! 464,82
(13,299 1,103,92! —
35,89( 242,321 19,51¢
(553,45() — —
21,41¢ (18,400 —
(156,07)  (1,043,83) (583,84))
1,235,85 428,35! —
140,75 (4,673,91)) (87,529
2,711,69 — —
(11,937,52)  (14,080,19)  (11,126,51)
(8,000,00) = =
6,160,001 — —
13,550,00 = =
— — (4,500,00()
= = 8,000,001
(181,649 (48,369 (121,940
32,50( = =
— 1,611,281 —
(124,980 (116,56)) (461,85))
11,435,87 1,446,34! 2,916,20;
2,314,12.  28,406,35 —
168, 66! 358,74( 1,08¢
— — 12,220,49
(12,175,91) (160,84)) (111,07)
— — 50,000
(9,693,12) _ 28,604,25 12,160,51
(102,940 210,52t (85,849
(10,297,72)  16,180,93 3,864,35:
30,296,21 14,115,28 10,250,92
$ 19,09848 $ 30,29621 $ 14,11528
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INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. The Company

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company” or ‘W) is engaged in the discovery, development, delivery of a new generation of
vaccines, called DNA vaccines, focused on canasddr#ectious diseases. The Company’s SynCon tdogp@nables the design of
“universal” DNA-based vaccines capable of providangss-protection against new, unmatched straipathfogens such as influenza. The
Company'’s electroporation DNA delivery technologes brief, controlled electrical pulses to increzedilar DNA vaccine uptake. Initial
human data has shown this method can safely andisaptly increase gene expression and immuneoresgs. The Company’s clinical
programs include human papillomavirus (“HPV”)/ceali cancer (therapeutic), avian influenza (prev@rgs hepatitis C virus (“HCV”) and
human immunodeficiency virus (“HIV") vaccines. TB®@mpany is advancing preclinical research for aensial seasonal/pandemic influenza
vaccine and other product candidates. The Compaaytsers and collaborators include University ehfisylvania, Drexel University,
National Microbiology Laboratory of the Public H#aAgency of Canada, Program for Appropriate Tedbgywin Health/Malaria Vaccin
Initiative (“PATH” or “MVI"), National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (“NIAID"Merck, ChronTech, University of Southampt
United States Military HIV Research Program (“USMPIRR U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infecs Diseases (“USAMRIID”) and
HIV Vaccines Trial Network (“HVTN?).

On May 14, 2010, the Company amended its Certdioatincorporation to change its name from “InoBiomedical Corporation” to
“Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.”

2. VGX Pharmaceuticals Business Acquisition

On June 1, 2009 (the “Acquisition Date”) the Compaompleted the acquisition of VGX Pharmaceutichis, (“VGX”), a privately-
held company, pursuant to the terms of an Amendddestated Agreement and Plan of Merger datedrblaee’b, 2008, as further amended
on March 31, 2009 (the “Merger Agreement”) by amtbag Inovio, Inovio’s wholly-owned subsidiary InovAcquisition, LLC and VGX (the
“Merger”).

Upon the closing of the Merger, based on an exahaatip of 0.9812 (the “Merger Exchange Ratio”)d am terms and conditions as set
forth in the Merger Agreement,

« all of the issued and outstanding shares of comstark of VGX were canceled and converted into ifjletito receive shares of
common stock of Inovic

« all outstanding options to purchase shares of V@Xron stock became exercisable for shares of I’'s common stock
» all outstanding warrants to purchase shares of ¥@Xmon stock became exercisable for shares ofd’s common stock, ar
« all outstanding convertible debt of VGX became dmrtvertible into Inovi’s common stock on existing tern

As of the Acquisition Date, an aggregate of 41,492,shares of Inovio’s common stock were issuatiégdormer stockholders of VGX,
and an additional 18,794,187 shares of Inovio’'smam stock were reserved for issuance upon exes€igee assumed options and warrants
and conversion of the principal of and maximumries¢ payable on the VGX convertible debt. Immediyafi@lowing the Acquisition Date the
continuing holders of Inovio securities owned apgrately 51.59% of Inovio’s issued and outstandingimon stock and the former holders
of VGX securities owned approximately 48.41% ofuinds issued and outstanding common stock.
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Upon the closing of the Merger, Inovio Acquisitidtl,C succeeded to all of VGX's business, properéied assets and assumed its
obligations (other than the outstanding optionsaadants to purchase shares of VGX common stoakitacame exercisable to purchase
shares of Inovio common stock), changed its namé&3® Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and remains a wholly-edisubsidiary of the Company,
utilizing a single, integrated management team Wwitvio.

Prior to the date of the Merger Agreement, Inozisodle relationship with VGX was as a party tacariising agreement with VGX, ente
into in the ordinary course of business, and asl@eh of 25,000 shares of VGX common stock acquineglation to such agreement. The
shares of VGX common stock held by Inovio were e#lad upon closing of the Merger.

After a review of relevant factors and in accordandth the guidance regarding business combingtioesio was determined to be the
accounting acquirer. The Merger was accounteddorgthe purchase method of accounting for busicessinations under U.S. GAAP.
Accordingly, the historical consolidated financsghtements of Inovio were carried forward at théstorical cost and the purchase price
allocated to VGX'’s identifiable assets and lia@ktwas based on their estimated fair values aAtiygiisition Date.

The final determination of the purchase price atmn was based on the fair values of major clagbassets acquired, including
identifiable intangibles and the fair value of ligkes assumed as of the Acquisition Date. Theesscpurchase price of the acquired entity over
the fair value of assets and liabilities was rednggh by the Company as goodwill on the accompangorsolidated balance sheet.

As a result of the Merger, Inovio acquired VGX'svdped technology, which consists of VGX's CELLERA @ technology and GHR
technology.

The purchase price allocation for acquisitions nexguextensive use of accounting estimates andijedds to allocate the purchase price
to the identifiable tangible and intangible assetguired, including in-process research and dewedmp, and liabilities assumed based on their
respective fair values. Additionally, the Companystdetermine whether an acquired entity is coms@tleo be a business or a set of net assets
because a portion of the purchase price can onllbeated to goodwill in a business combination.

Management estimated the fair value of the VGX tped technology using reasonable assumptions lmasaitorical experience. The
valuation methodology used to estimate the valub®technologies was the excess earnings mettnisl miethod reflects the present value of
the operating cash flows generated by the techiedagfter taking into account the cost to realieerevenue, and an appropriate discount rate
to reflect the time value and risk associated withassets. First, yearly revenues for each teoggalere forecasted for a projected period of
time of 10 years. Related cost of sales and opgratkpenses were then deducted from the reveraenstiNext, in order to value the
technology, the value and required rate of retarrother assets that contribute to the generafidineorevenue earned by that particular
technology asset were determined. The requiredn®gtn these other assets (the other asset cidss#ified were: net working capital, fixed
assets, and assembled workforce) were “chargegbtoather deducted from) the future net operaitimgme to determine the returns
specifically earned by the technology. Then, aalist rate was applied that considered the reasemadplectation of the risk profile of the
proprietary technology in order to bring the futimeome to a present value. In the case of CELLEEPRechnology, a discount rate of 45%
was used for the core technology and 60% for tHestoine and royalty; for the GHRH technology, a 48i%ount rate was utilized.

There was no purchase price amount allocated toir@chin-process research and development.

The total purchase price of the acquisition isneated as follows:

Value of Inovio shares issu $26,156,18
Value of vested warrants and options assu 5,137,03:
$31,293,22

F-8



Table of Contents

The fair value of the Inovio shares used in deteimg the purchase price was $0.63 per share bas#tealosing price of Inovio
common stock on June 1, 2009.

The purchase price has been allocated to each wlagw of identifiable assets acquired and liaédiassumed based on their fair values
as of June 1, 2009. The allocation to identifisdeets and liabilities is summarized below:

Fair Value
Identifiable assets acquirt $25,012,94
Intangible assets (developed technolc 8,441,58.
Goodwill 6,212,65!
Assumed liabilities (7,703,64)
Assumed noncontrolling intere (670,30)
Total $31,293,22

The excess of the purchase price over the fairevafunet assets acquired resulted in goodwill gragimately $6.2 million.

The percentage of non-controlling ownership intecesisists of 12% in VGX Animal Health (“VGX AH")ral 88% ownership by the
Company. The estimated fair value utilized was Basethe last round of financing by VGX AH in 186807, in which that entity issued shares
of its common stock to a third party. There hadnbee subsequent financing rounds. The Company agddhe valuation model to reflect
current assumptions and due to the fact that thedebeen no additional milestone events, suchdisi@thl marketing approval, significant
licensing agreements, material adverse eventgyge lsales contracts that would have materiallpgéd any of the key assumptions used ii
last valuation of VGX AH.

The Company'’s investment in an affiliated entitgnesents the Company’s ownership interest in VGXrhrational, Inc. (“VGX Int'l")
and is measured at fair value. The fair marketevalithe Company’s interest in VGX Int'l was detémed using the closing price of VGX
Int’I's shares of common stock as listed on thedéor Stock Exchange as of June 1, 2009.

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortitan combines the results of operations of Inovid  GX assuming the Merger was
consummated on January 1, 2008. The pro formatsestd not necessarily indicative of what wouldéhagcurred if the Merger had been in
effect for the periods presented. In addition, tasynot intended to be a projection of future ltss;and do not reflect any synergies that might
be achieved from combined operations.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2010 2009 2008
Revenue $ 6,144,70! $11,182,06 $ 5,213,20
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $(17,557,87) $(29,835,18) $(28,274,06)
Net loss per common she $ (0.17) $ (0.32) $ (0.39)

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatio

Inovio incurred a net loss from operations of $1miBion for the year ended December 31, 2010. iadwad working capital of
$16.4 million and an accumulated deficit of $19hilion as of December 31, 2010. The Company’sightib continue its operations is
dependent upon its ability to obtain additionalitapn the future
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and achieve profitable operations. The Company&spe continue to rely on outside sources of fairag to meet its capital needs and the
Company may never achieve positive cash flow. Tleessolidated financial statements do not inclute adjustments to the specific amounts
and classifications of assets and liabilities, Wwhitight be necessary should Inovio be unable t¢imoa in business. Inovio’s consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year endszeBiber 31, 2010 have been prepared on a goingrmrrobasis, which contemplates the
realization of assets and the settlement of lisésliand commitments in the normal course of bsitier the foreseeable future. The Company
has evaluated subsequent events after the balheeedate through the date it issued these finbstaigements.

In January 2011, the Company entered into invgeicchase agreements with investors relating tésteance and sale of (a) 21,130,400
shares of common stock, and (b) warrants to puechdstal of 10,565,200 shares of common stock aritlexercise price of $1.40 per share,
for an aggregate purchase price of approximatefy3aillion. The shares of common stock and wasamre sold in units, consisting of one
share of common stock and a warrant to purchagedd.& share of common stock, at a purchase pfigé.a5 per unit. The Company received
net proceeds from the transaction of approxim&k28.0 million, after deducting the placement agefee and estimated offering expenses
payable by the Company.

Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiestade the accounts of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, &mcl its domestic and foreign
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and traiisas have been eliminated in consolidation.

Variable Interest Entities

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢‘FASB”) issued authoritative guidance thatuiegs companies to perform a
qualitative analysis to determine whether a vagablerest in another entity represents a contigllinancial interest in a variable interest
entity. A controlling financial interest in a vabia interest entity is characterized by having lhbthpower to direct the most significant
activities of the entity and the obligation to attstosses or the right to receive benefits of thigtye This guidance also requires on-going
reassessments of variable interests based on chamfgets and circumstances. This guidance beedfeetive for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2009. The Company adopted the prawgsid the guidance in the first quarter of 2010 detérmined that none of the entit
with which the Company currently conducts busireess collaborations are variable interest entigasept VGXI (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of VGX Int’l). The Company determined that VGX Ihis the primary beneficiary to consolidate VGXI.

Reorganizatior
In October 2010, the Company began liquidatiortiriactive wholly-owned subsidiary Inovio Asia Ptéd. (“IAPL”). The Company
expects liquidation to be complete in the secorattgn of 2011 and does not expect any impact améial position.

In April 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors il@mpented a reduction in force which impacted ounddmian operations. In
connection with this decision, operations previgysrformed in Norway ceased as of July 31, 2088,ae continuing in the United States
of December 31, 2009, both of our wholly-owned Negian subsidiaries, Inovio AS and Inovio Tec ASJ baen dissolved.

Foreign currencie:

The Company translates the financial statemenits obn-United States operations using the endeoieg exchange rates for assets and
liabilities and the average exchange rates for eagbrting period for results of
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operations. Net gains and losses resulting frontréreslation of foreign financial statements argl effect of exchange rates on intercompany
receivables and payables of a long-term investmanire are recorded as a separate component &hstders’ equity under the caption
“Accumulated other comprehensive incomehese adjustments will affect net income upon #ie er liquidation of the underlying investme
Through December 31, 2010 there have been no akteti foreign currency exchange gains or losses.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateménticcordance with United States generally aeceatcounting principles requires us
to make estimates and judgments that affect therregh amounts of assets, liabilities, revenuesexpenses, and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Inovio basegstémates on historical experience and on vardosr assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the resulihioh form the basis for making judgments aboutdfeying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sourcesu® results may differ from these estimates umifézrent assumptions or conditions. On an
ongoing basis, the Company reviews its estimatensore that these estimates appropriately refleaniges in the business or as new
information becomes available.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are considered by the Compang koghly liquid investments purchased with origingdturities of three months or le
from the date of purchase and are stated at cbgthvapproximates market value. At December 310281d 2009 cash equivalents included
$16.9 million and $24.1 million held in money markends, respectively.

Accounts receivabl

Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced ansoantl do not bear interest. Inovio performs ongoirglit evaluations of our
customers’ financial condition. Credit is extendedustomers as deemed necessary and generallyndoegjuire collateral. Management
believes that the risk of loss is significantly wedd due to the quality and financial position of oustomers. No allowance for doubtful
accounts was deemed necessary at December 31a2622D09.

Fixed asset

Property and equipment are stated at cost and def@é using the straight-line method over thenestied useful life of the assets,
generally three to five years. Leasehold improvemare amortized over the shorter of the remaitengp of the related leases or the estimated
economic useful lives of the improvements. Repaitd maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Long-lived assets

All long-lived assets are reviewed for impairmanvalue when changes in circumstances dictate dhgsen undiscounted future
operating cash flows, and appropriate losses awgrézed and reflected in current earnings, tcetttent the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its estimated fair value determined byfleeof appraisals, discounted cash flow analysesroparable fair values of similar assets.
The Company has not recognized any losses on leed-assets through December 31, 2010.

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition owst the fair value of the net assets of acquiregiiesses. Intangible assets are
amortized over their estimated useful lives randiogn 5 to 18 years. Acquired intangible assetscarginuously being developed for the
future economic viability contemplated at the tiof@cquisition. The Company is concurrently conthygcPhase | and pre-clinical trials using
the acquired intangibles, and has entered int@aicesignificant licensing agreements for use oséhacquired intangibles.
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Historically the Company has recorded patents st @od amortized these costs using the straigatratiathod over the expected useful
lives of the patents or 17 years, whichever is.IBasent cost consists of the consideration paigdtents and related legal costs. Effective
June 1, 2009, in connection with the acquisitioWGiX, all new patent costs are being expensedastied. Patent cost currently capitalized
will continue to be amortized over the expectee tif the patent. The effect of this change was itened to prior periods. License costs are
recorded based on the fair value of consideratad and amortized using the straight-line methoer dkie shorter of the expected useful life of
the underlying patents or the term of the relateehise agreement. As of December 31, 2010, the @oyfpintangible assets resulting from
acquisition of VGX and Inovio AS, and additionaldngibles including previously capitalized patemsts and license costs, net of accumulated
amortization, totaled $11.2 million.

The determination of the value of such intangildsets requires management to make estimates amd&ms that affect the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The@my assesses potential impairments to intangidets when there is evidence that
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleatdlrying amount of an asset may not be recové@tegl Company’s judgments regarding the
existence of impairment indicators and future déshs related to intangible assets are based oratipeal performance of our acquired
businesses, market conditions and other factomqghirment is indicated, the Company will reduee tarrying value of the intangible asset to
fair value. While current and historical operatangd cash flow losses are potential indicators @faimment, the Company believes the future
cash flows to be received from its intangible asgell exceed the intangible assets’ carrying vaara accordingly, the Company has not
recognized any impairment losses through Decembe?(®10.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite Bvare not amortized but instead are measured fmirment annually, or when events
indicate that impairment exists. The Company’s aoting policy with respect to reviewing goodwillrfonpairment is a two step process. The
first step of the impairment test compares thevfaiue of our reporting unit with its carrying valincluding allocated goodwill. If the carrying
value of the Company’s reporting unit exceedsdis\alue, then the second step of the impairnmesitis performed to measure the impairment
loss, if any. The Company tests goodwill for impaéint at the entity level, which is considered ararting unit. The Company’s estimate of
fair value is determined using both the Discour@egh Flow method of the Income Approach and thel@mie Public Company method of-
Market Approach. The Discounted Cash Flow methdidhases future cash flows of our business for gadediscrete period and then discot
them to their present value. The Guideline Pubbenpany method computes value indicators (“multiplé®m the operating data of the
selected publicly traded guideline companies. Atfteise multiples were evaluated, appropriate vialdieators were selected and applied to the
operating statistics of the reporting unit to agrat indications of value. Specifically, the Compaslied upon the application of Total Invested
Capital based valuation multiples for each guidetompany. In applying the Income and Market Apphes, premiums and discounts were
determined and applied to estimate the fair vatieke reporting unit. To arrive at the indicatedue of equity under each approach, the
Company then assigned a relative weighting to ¢selting values from each approach to determinelveinehe carrying value of the reporting
unit exceeds its fair value, thus requiring step tfthe impairment test.

The Company conducts the impairment test annualljlavember 30th for each fiscal year for which geilids evaluated for
impairment. The Company is also aware of the reguént to evaluate goodwill for impairment at ottieres should circumstances arise. To
date, the Company has concluded that the fair vafitiee reporting unit significantly exceeded tlaerging value and therefore, step two of the
impairment test has never been performed.

Although there are inherent uncertainties in tisisegsment process, the estimates and assump&o@smfipany is using are consistent
with its internal planning. If these estimatestwit related assumptions change in the futureCtipany may be required to record an
impairment charge on all or a portion of our godtlamd intangible assets. Furthermore, the Comgamyot predict the occurrence of future
impairment triggering events nor the impact suoknés might have on its reported asset values. E@vents could cause the Company to
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conclude that impairment indicators exist and gaaidwill or other intangible assets associated watlacquired businesses are impaired. Any
resulting impairment loss could have an adverseotpn the Company’s results of operations. See Rdbr further discussion of the
Company’s goodwill and intangible assets.

Income taxe

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets arilitigsbfor temporary differences between the fic@ahreporting basis and the tax bi
of the Company’s assets and liabilities along wigh operating loss and tax credit carryovers. The@any records a valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets to reduce theamsficg value to an amount that it believes is niikely than not to be realized. When the
Company establishes or reduces the valuation aioevagainst its deferred tax assets, its provigioincome taxes will increase or decrease,
respectively, in the period such determination &le

Valuation allowances against the Company'’s defetagdissets were $37.1 million and $51.0 millioDatember 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2009, respectively. Changes in theatiah allowances, when they are recognized iptbgision for income taxes, are included
as a component of the estimated annual effectiveata.

Revenue recognitic

License fees are comprised of initial fees and stolee payments derived from collaborative licengimgngements. Inovio continues to
recognize non-refundable milestone payments up@athievement of specified milestones, providedhtestone payment is substantive in
nature and the achievement of the milestone wassasbnably assured at the inception of the agneedmevio defers payments for milestone
events which are reasonably assured and recoghigesratably over the minimum remaining periodhaf performance obligations. Payments
for milestones which are not reasonably assurettreaged as the culmination of a separate earmirgress and are recognized as revenue
the milestones are achieved.

Inovio has adopted a strategy of co-developingcenking its gene delivery technology for spedaif@mes or specific medical indications.
Accordingly, Inovio has entered into collaboratiesearch and development agreements and has réending for pre-clinical research and
clinical trials. Payments under these agreemeritg;hware non-refundable, are recorded as reventleaslated research expenditures are
incurred pursuant to the terms of the agreemertgeovided collectability is reasonably assured.

Inovio receives non-refundable grants under avkglgbvernment programs. Inovio records governmesnttg applicable towards current
expenditures as revenue when there is reasonahleaase that the Company has complied with all itimmd$ necessary to receive the grants,
collectability is reasonably assured, and the eel@xpenditures have been incurred.

Research and development expel

Since Inovio’s inception, virtually all of the Compy’s activities have consisted of research aneldpment efforts related to developing
electroporation technologies. Research and devedopexpenses consist of expenses incurred in peirigrresearch and development
activities including salaries and benefits, faghtand other overhead expenses, clinical trialstract services and other outside expenses.
Research and development expenses are chargedrtdiops as they are incurred. Inovio reviews artiues clinical trials expense based on
work performed, which relies on estimates of tetts incurred based on patient enroliment, conapleif studies and other events.

Net loss per shar

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividiegntt loss for the year by the weighted averagebeummf common shares outstanding
during the year. Diluted loss per share is caledlah accordance with the treasury
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stock method and reflects the potential dilutioat tivould occur if securities or other contractésgkue common stock were exercised or
converted to common stock. Since the effect offfmimed exercise of common stock options and otimefertible securities was anti-dilutive
for all periods presented, basic and diluted Ie@ssspare are the same.

The following table summarizes potential commorrefiahat were excluded from historical basic amatelil net loss per share
calculation because of their anti-dilutive effect:

As of As of As of
December 31, December 31, December 31,

Common stock equivalents 2010 2009 2008
Options to purchase common st 12,649,96 13,142,03 4,616,71.
Warrants to purchase common st 7,771,13. 14,161,36 6,890,441
Convertible preferred stoc 38,23: 38,23t 104,40¢
Non-vested restricted common stc — — 138, 75(
Total 20,459,33 27,341,63 11,750,32

Leases

Leases are classified as either capital or operétimses. Leases which transfer substantiallyf dfieobenefits and risks incidental to the
ownership of assets are accounted for as if theieam acquisition of an asset and incurrence obéigation at the inception of the lease. All
other leases are accounted for as operating ldase$o’s Blue Bell, PA headquarters and San DiegA,facility leases, which have escalating
payments, are both expensed on a straight-line loasir the term of the lease. These leases reptbseprimary expense and commitment as
indicated in Note 12 “Commitments” below. Otherdesa exist for office machinery, such as copiergrein lease expense is recorded as
incurred.

Stock-based compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense fehale-based awards made to employees and dirdoiovi® estimates the fair
value of stock options granted using the Black-$hoption pricing model. The Black-Scholes optiting model was developed for use in
estimating the fair value of traded options, whieve no vesting restrictions and are fully traredfée. In addition, option valuation models
require the input of highly subjective assumptidnsluding the expected stock price volatility sepected option life. Inovio amortizes the
fair value of the awards on a straight-line ba&lsoption grants are amortized over the requisievice period of the awards. Expected
volatility is based on historical volatility. Theqgected life of options granted is based on histdexpected life. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the United States Treasury yield in effetlie time of grant with maturities appropriaiethe expected term of the stock option. The
forfeiture rate is based on historical data andiimoecords stock-based compensation expense onthdse awards that are expected to vest.
The dividend yield is based on the fact that nadgimds have been paid on common stock historicatig,none are currently expected to be
paid.

Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model argepted below:

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Risk-free interest rat 1.09%- 2.65% 1.37%-1.88% 1.38%-3.18%
Expected volatility 134% 96%— 132% 69%-91%
Expected life in year 4 4 4

Dividend yield — — —
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Other Accumulated Comprehensive Loss

Components of comprehensive loss are reporteckindhsolidated financial statements in the pemodthich they are recognized. The
components of comprehensive loss for us includéasst unrealized gains and losses on investmextfoaeign currency translation
adjustments. The components of accumulated othmpihensive loss are indicated on the Consolidatettments of Stockholder’s Equity.

Pending Adoption of Recent Accounting Pronounces

We describe below recent pronouncements that mag daignificant effect on our financial statemelt& do not discuss recent
pronouncements that are not anticipated to havmpact on or are unrelated to our financial cowditiresults of operations, or related
disclosures.

Accounting Standards Update 2009-13In September 2009, the Financial Accounting StassiBoard (“FASB”) ratified the final
consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Eaidé&") that revised the authoritative guidance fevenue arrangements with multiple
deliverables. The guidance addresses how to deterwiiether an arrangement involving multiple deblddes contains more than one unit of
accounting and how the arrangement consideratiounldtbe allocated among the separate units of aticmy We adopted the provisions of
this guidance on a prospective basis on Janud§11l, the effect of which will be dependent ontdrens of any new or materially modified
arrangements subsequent to adoption.

Accounting Standards Update 2010-+#In April 2010, the FASB ratified the final conseissthat offers an alternative method of
revenue recognition for milestone payments. Theande states that an entity can make an accoymtiiny election to recognize a payment
that is contingent upon the achievement of a sakigeamilestone in its entirety in the period inialhthe milestone is achieved. The guidance
will be effective for fiscal years, and interim pogts within those years, beginning on or after JUHe2010 with early adoption permitted,
provided that the revised guidance is applied spiectively to the beginning of the year of adoptibime guidance may be applied
retrospectively or prospectively for milestonesiaehd after the adoption date. We are currentlyuatimg the effects, if any, the adoption of
this guidance will have on our consolidated finahstatements.

4. Marketable Securities and Fair Value Measuremerst

The guidance regarding fair value measurementblesias a three-tier fair value hierarchy whictoptizes the inputs used in measuring
fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, definedbaservable inputs such as quoted prices in actarkets; Level 2, defined as inputs other
than quoted prices in active markets that are edhectly or indirectly observable; and Level &fided as unobservable inputs in which little
or no market data exists, therefore requiring aiyeto develop its own assumptions.

The following table presents the Company'’s finahagsets and liabilities that are measured aw/lire on a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2010:

Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2010

Using Quoted Price Using Significant Using Significant
Other Unobservable
in Active Markets Unobservable
for Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:
Money market fund $16,852,60 $ 16,852,60 $ — $ —
Certificates of depos 1,846,27. — 1,846,27. —
Investment in affiliated entit 11,360,88 11,360,88 — —
Total Assets $30,059,76 $ 28,213,49 $ 1,846,27. $ —
Liabilities:
Common stock warran $ 370,92¢ $ — $ — $ 370,92¢
Total Liabilities $ 370,92¢ $ — $ — $ 370,92
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The following table presents the Company’s finahassets and liabilities that are measured at/&dire on a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2009:

Using Quoted Price
in Active Markets

Using Significant
Unobservable

for Identical Assets Inputs

Total (Level 1) (Level 3)
Assets:
Money market fund $24,082,07 $ 24,082,07 $ —
Shor-term investment 10,397,53 — 10,397,53
Auction rate securities righ 3,145,15 — 3,145,15!
Investment in affiliated entit 12,330,80 12,330,80 —
Total Assets $49,955,56 $ 36,412,87 $ 13,542,68
Liabilities:
Common stock warran $ 2,774,85! $ — $ 2,774,85l
Total Liabilities $ 2,774,85 $ — $ 2,774,85I

Level 1 assets at December 31, 2010 and 2009 iachahey market funds held by the Company whiclvaleed at quoted market
prices, as well as the Company’s investment in M@, for which the fair value is based on the ketrvalue of 8,075,775 common shares on
December 31, 2010 listed on the Korean Stock Exghan

Level 2 assets at December 31, 2010 include orniéicate of deposit held by the Company with a migyuof 12 months. The Company
determines fair value through broker quotationdwétasonable levels of price transparency. Ceatie of deposit are initially valued at the
transaction price and subsequently valued, atrideo€each reporting period, typically utilizing rkat observable data. There were no Level 2
assets at December 31, 2009.

There are no Level 3 assets as of December 31, 2@v8I 3 assets held as of December 31, 2009deataunicipal debt obligations
known as auction rate securities (“ARS”). Due taditions in the global credit markets, these seiestirepresenting a par value of
$13.6 million, were not liquid. In December 2008 Company, via its wholly-owned subsidiary Genats, Inc. (“Genetronics”), which held
the ARS, accepted an offer of ARS Rights from UBge ARS Rights permitted the Company to require WSurchase the Company’s ARS
at par value at any time during the period of J8@e2010 through July 2, 2012. On July 1, 2010 Gbepany exercised these ARS Rights and
the ARS were sold at the par value.

Level 3 liabilities held as of December 31, 2010 2009 consist of common stock warrant liabilitssociated with warrants to purchase
the Company’s common stock issued in October 280ust 2007 and July 2009. If unexercised, the avas will expire at various dates
between October 2011 and July 2014.

There have been no transfers of assets or liasilietween the fair value measurement classifitatio

The following table presents a summary of changdair value of the Company’s total Level 3 finasdcssets for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2010 2009
Balance at beginning of ye $ 13,542,68 $13,450,96
Sale of auction rate securiti (13,550,00) —
Change in value of auction rate securi 3,152,47! 1,228,05!
Change in value of auction rate security ric (3,145,15) 1,136,33)
Balance at end of ye: $ — $13,542,68
Realized gain included in other income/(expensef) $ 7,31¢ $ 91,72
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As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company decdos. $371,000 and $2.8 million common stock warrahility, respectively. The
Company reassesses the fair value of the commaok starrants at each reporting date utilizing a Bi&choles pricing model. Inputs used in
the pricing model include estimates of stock priokatility, expected warrant life and rigkee interest rate. The Company develops its estis
based on historical data. As a result of theseutations, the Company recorded a net gain of $2libmand net loss of ($2.6 million) for the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respgcfied net gain/(loss) is reflected in the Comy's consolidated statement of operatior
a component of other income/(expense), net.

The following table presents the changes in fameaf the Company total Level 3 financial liabilities for the yeagaded December 3
2010 and 2009:

Year Ended
Year Ended December 31
December 31,
2010 2009
Balance at beginning of ye $ 2,774,85! $ 224,58
Fair value gain included in other income/ (expense) (2,403,92) 2,550,26!
Balance at end of ye: $ 370,92 $2,774,85!

5. Line of Credit

On August 26, 2008, the Company received notice fdBS Bank USA (“UBS”) that the Comparsyapplication had been approved fi
$5.0 million uncommitted demand revolving line oédit (“Line of Credit”) secured by ARS held by tB®mpany in an account with UBS
Financial Services, Inc. (the “Collateral Accounty) provide additional working capital. On Decemb®, 2008, the Company amended its
existing loan agreement with UBS Bank USA, incragghe existing credit line up to $12.1 million tivithe ARS pledged as collateral. The
Company fully drew down on the line of credit ondember 23, 2008. Advances under the Line of Ceexditued interest at LIBOR plus 1.0
(the “Spread Over LIBOR”). The loan was treate@ dso net cost loan”, as it accrued interest ata equal to the average rate of interest paid
to the Company on the pledged ARS, and the nateisteost to the Company was zero. During the geded December 31, 2010, the
Company sold all of the ARS held at par value dedline of credit was paid off in full.

6. Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk

% of Total % of Total % of Total

Customer 2010 Revenue 2009 Revenue 2008 Revenue
Wyeth $ 75,00( 1%  $4,496,15. 4%% $ 846,69 40%
NIAID 4,064,31! 66 2,985,59! 33 — —
PATH/MVI 303,41 5 439,89 5 — —
U.S Army grani 373,31! 6 466,18 5 92,95¢ 4
VGX Int'l (affiliated entity) 381,20¢ 6 59,08 1 — —
Merck — — 125,99¢ 1 631,54¢ 30
United States Government gr—Patient Protectio

and Affordable Care Act of 201“PPACA") 733,43t 12 — — — —
All other 214,01( 4 547,20¢ 6 526,43¢ 26
Total Revenut $6,144,70! 10C%  $9,120,11: 10%  $2,097,63. 10C%

During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@08, the Company recognized revenue from varicesse fees and milestone
payments, collaborative research and developmeraeatents and grants and government contracts. Be@émber 31, 2009, $211,000 or
81% of our total consolidated accounts receivablarire of $259,000 was attributable to the US Arfrs/of December 31, 2010, none of our
accounts receivable balance was attributable tJBérmy.
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There is minimal credit risk with these customeasdal upon collection history, their size and finan@ondition. Accordingly, the

Company does not consider it necessary to recoedeave for uncollectible accounts receivable.

7. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets at December 31, 2010 and 2009 carfisket following:

Cost
As of December 31, 201

Machinery, equipment and office furnitL $1,685,48

Leasehold improvemen 393,06¢

As of December 31, 200

Machinery, equipment and office furnitt $1,778,99

Leasehold improvemen 341,13:
$2,120,12;

Accumulated

depreciation

and Net book

amortization value
$(1,485,57)  $199,91:
(316,18() 76,88¢
$(1,801,75)  $276,79!
$(1,499,15)  $279,83
(277,51) 63,62(
$(1,776,66)  $343,45°

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decembh&030, 2009 and 2008 was $195,000, $237,000 598,300, respectively. The
Company determined that the carrying value of thesg-lived assets was not impaired for the perjp@sented.

8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The following sets forth the goodwill and intangitdssets by major asset class:

Useful December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009
Life Accumulated Net Book Accumulated Net Book
(Yrs) Gross Amortization Value Gross Amortization Value
Non-Amortizing:
Goodwill(a) $10,113,37 $ — $10,113,37 $10,11337 $ — $10,113,37
Amortizing:
Patents 8-17 5,802,552 (4,151,95)  1,650,57: 5,802,521  (3,727,74)  2,074,78
Licenses 8-17 1,323,76: (989,379 334,38° 1,198,78: (965,907 232,87
CELLECTRA® (b) 5-11 8,106,271 (1,915,12) 6,191,14. 8,106,271 (705,57) 7,400,69
GHRH(b) 11 335,31« (50,16¢) 285,14t 335,31« (18,48:) 316,83:
Other(c) 18 4,050,000 (1,331,25)  2,718,75! 4,050,000  (1,106,25)  2,943,75!
Total intangible asse 19,617,87 (8,437,87) 11,180,00 19,492,89 (6,523,95) 12,968,93
Total goodwill and intangible
assets $29,731,24  $(8,437,87) $21,293,37 $29,606,26 $(6,523,95) $23,082,30

() Goodwill was recorded from the Inovio AS acquisitio January 2005 and from the acquisition of V@Xune 2009 for $3.9 million ar

$6.2 million, respectively

(b) CELLECTRA®and GHRH are developed technologies which wererdecbfrom the acquisition of VG
(c) Other intangible assets represent the fair valuecqtiired contracts and intellectual property fitben Inovio AS acquisitior
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Aggregate amortization expense on intangible asga$s$1.9 million, $1.4 million and $798,000 foethears ended December 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008, respectively. Amortization expeeszted to intangible assets at December 31, 201€afch of the next five fiscal years and
beyond is expected to be incurred as follows:

2011 $ 1,869,51
2012 1,821,171
2013 1,770,533
2014 942, 71¢
2015 870,20(
Thereaftel 3,905,81

$11,179,96

In accordance with the guidance regarding goodmitl other non-amortizing intangible assets, the @ has completed its annual
impairment test and fair value analysis for gootiwéld throughout the year. The Company condu@sripairment test annually on
November 3(h. There was no impairment or impairment indicat@spnt and no loss was recorded during the yededebecember 31, 201
2009 and 2008, respectively.

9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses at Decerhp2@B0 and 2009 consist of the following:

As of As of
December 31 December 31

2010 2009
Trade accounts payat $ 703,19¢ $1,127,39I
Trade accounts payable due to affiliated er 861,04¢ 445,09:
Accrued compensatic 1,508,43i 1,130,96!
Other accrued expens 1,377,30! 1,486,65:

Other accrued expenses due to affiliated e 819,90( —

$5,269,88! $4,190,10:

10. Deferred Revenue

The Company defers revenue recognition of cashiptscom licensing and other agreements and rezegrihem ratably over the
minimum remaining period of our performance obligas. The combined current and long-term deferes@mue balance of $3.2 million as of
December 31, 2010 consists primarily of cash rekfvom our collaboration and license agreemertt WEX Int’'l as well as cash receipts
from various licensing and other agreements. Thebdoed current and long-term deferred revenue lalah $353,000 as of December 31,
2009 consists primarily of cash received from vasiticensing and other agreements.

11. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stocl

Outstanding

as of
December 31,
Authorized Issued 2010 2009
Series A Preferred Stock, par $0.( 1,00(¢ 817 — —
Series B Preferred Stock, par $0.( 1,00( 75C — —
Series C Preferred Stock, par $0.( 1,091 1,091 26 26
Series D Preferred Stock, par $0.( 1,966,29: 1,966,29: — —
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The following is a summary of changes in the nundderutstanding shares of our preferred stockHerytears ended December 31, 2008,
2009 and 2010:

Series C Series D
Shares Outstanding as of January 1, 2 71 113,31:
Preferred Shares convert — (113,31)
Shares Outstanding as of December 31, : 71 —
Preferred Shares convert (45) —
Shares Outstanding as of December 31, : 26 —
Shares Outstanding as of December 31, : 26 —

No shares of the Company’s preferred stock wergexded during the year ended December 31, 2010ntine year ended
December 31, 2009, 45 shares of the Company’ssS€referred stock were converted into 66,176eshaf the Company’s common stock.

The shares of the Company’s outstanding Seriee@iPed Stock have the following pertinent rightsl arivileges, as set forth in the
Companys Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporadiuhits Certificates of Designations, Rights aneféences related to the varic
series of preferred stock.

Rights on Liquidatior

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary ligatibn, dissolution or winding up of the Companyl{guidation event”), before any
distribution of assets of the Company shall be ntad® set apart for the holders of common stdo&, holders of Series C Preferred Stock, pari
passu, are entitled to receive payment of suchsasf¢he Company in an amount equal to $10,00Gpare of such series of preferred stock,
plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends therebether or not earned or declared).

If the assets of the Company available for distidyuto stockholders exceed the aggregate amouhedfquidation preferences payable
with respect to all shares of each series of predestock then outstanding, then, after the paymesitich preferences is made or irrevocabl
aside, the holders of the Company’s common stoeleatitled to receive a pro rata portion of sugdetsbased on the aggregate number of
shares of common stock held by each such holderhdlders of the Company’s outstanding preferredksshall participate in such a
distribution on a pro-rata basis, computed basetth@emumber of shares of common stock which woelthéd by such preferred holders if
immediately prior to the liquidation event all bdfetoutstanding shares of the preferred stock had benverted into shares of common stock at
the then current conversion value applicable td ezcies.

A Change of Control of the Company (as definechinCertificates of Designations, Rights and Preifezs) is not a liquidation event
triggering the preferences described above, aindiead addressed by separate terms in the Sefestificates of Designations, Rights, and
Preferences.

Although the liquidation preferences are in exagdshe par value of $0.001 per share of the Comizapseferred stock, these preferen
are equal to or less than the stated value of shates based on their original purchase price.

Voting Rights

The holders of all series of the Company’s preféstock outstanding have full voting rights and pesvequal to the voting rights and
powers of holders of the Company’s common stockamecdentitled to notice of any stockholders’ magiimaccordance with the Company’s
Bylaws. Holders of the Company’s preferred stoakeatitled to vote on any matter upon which holadéthe Company’s common stock have
the right to vote, including, without limitatiorhe right to vote for the election of directors ttiger with the holders of common stock as one
class.
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Conversion Rights

The Series C Preferred Stock each provide the hofdguch shares an optional conversion right aogtige a mandatory conversion uj
certain triggering events.

Right to Converfhe holder of any share or shares of Series C Peef&tock has the right at any time, at such h@dmption, to convert
all or any lesser portion of such holder’s shafeb® Preferred Stock into such number of fullydpand non-assessable shares of Common
Stock as is determined by dividing (i) the aggredaguidation Preference applicable to the particgkries of preferred shares, plus accrued
and unpaid dividends thereon by (ii) the applicabdemversion Value (as defined in the relevant séfiertificate of Designations, Rights and
Preferences) then in effect for such series ofgorefl shares. The Company is not obligated to igaydractional shares or scrip representing
fractional shares upon such conversion and insgkall pay the holder an amount in cash equal th faction multiplied by the current mart
price per share of the Company’s common stock.

Mandatory Conversioithe Company has the option upon thirty (30) daysr pyritten notice, to convert all of the outstamglishares of
the Series C Preferred Stock into such numberllyf fiaid and non-assessable shares of common atikdetermined by dividing (i) the
aggregate Liquidation Preference of the sharekeofdalevant series of preferred stock to be coadgrtus accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon by (ii) the applicable Conversion ValuedaBned in the relevant series’ Certificate of Deations, Rights and Preferences) then in
effect, if at any time after twelve months followithe Original Issue Date of each such seriesefepred stock all of the following triggering
events occur:

(i) The registration statement covering all of firares of common stock into which the particulaieseof preferred stock is
convertible is effective (or all of the shares ofrtmon stock into which the preferred stock is cotible may be sold without restriction
pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act @31@s amended);

(ii) the Daily Market Price (as defined in the a@ppble Certificates of Designations, Rights anddéences) of the common stock
crosses a specified pricing threshold for twentjhefthirty consecutive trading days prior to tlaedthe Company provides notice of
conversion to the holders; and

(iii) the average daily trading volume (subjectttjustment for stock dividends, subdivisions anahlsimations) of the common
stock for at least twenty of the thirty consecutirgeling days prior to the date the Company praviaatice of conversion to the holders
exceeds 25,000 shares.

As of December 31, 2010, our outstanding shardiseoSeries C Preferred Stock were convertible 38@33 shares of our common st
at a conversion price of $6.80 per share, andhécable Daily Market Price of the common stock titgggering mandatory conversion
equaled $18.00 per share.

Convertible Subordinated Promissory Notes

On June 1, 2009, the Company consummated the tt@orssicontemplated by the Merger Agreement. VG &ia aggregate of
$4,400,000 in principal amount of convertible sulated promissory notes, and an aggregate of 8868n accrued and unpaid interest on
such notes, as of June 30, 2009. Pursuant to thegaviAgreement the notes were convertible at thimgestockholders’ option into our
common stock; the notes also automatically conddrt® the Company’s common stock in the event titCompany’s common stock traded
at or above $2.10 per share for five consecutizginig days. The conversion price of the notes wa35fper share. As of August 4, 2009, the
Company’s common stock had traded at or above $#i8hare for five consecutive trading days, &ednotes were automatically converted
into 4,600,681 shares of Inovio’s common stock.

Common Stock

In January 2011, the Company entered into invgeicchase agreements with investors relating tésgeance and sale of (a) 21,130,400
shares of common stock, and (b) warrants to puechdstal of 10,565,200 shares of common stock aritlexercise price of $1.40 per share,
for an aggregate purchase price of

F-21



Table of Contents

approximately $24.3 million. The shares of commimtls and warrants were sold in units, consistingre# share of common stock and a
warrant to purchase 0.50 of a share of common stick purchase price of $1.15 per unit. The Wésrhave a five-year term from the date of
issuance and are first exercisable commencing®id&0th day after the date of issuance. The Compeayycall the warrants if the closing bid
price of the common stock has been at least $2:8020 trading days and certain other conditioesnagt. The Company received net proci
from the transaction of approximately $23.0 milliafter deducting the placement agent’s fee arichattd offering expenses payable by the
Company.

In August 2010, the Company entered into an At-Masket Equity Distribution Agreement (the “Agreenti§rwith an outside placeme
agent (the “Placement Agent”), under which the Canypmay, from time to time, offer and sell its coomrstock having aggregate sales
proceeds of up to $25.0 million through or to thi@cBment Agent, for resale. Sales of the Compazgyrsmon stock through the Placement
Agent, if any, will be made by means of ordinarghers’ transactions on the NYSE Amex or otherwismarket prices prevailing at the time
of sale or as otherwise agreed upon by the Comaadythe Placement Agent. The Placement Agent aillaommercially reasonable efforts
sell the Company’s common stock from time to tilm@sed upon instructions from the Company. The Compall pay the Placement Agent a
commission, or allow a discount, as the case mainleach case equal to 3.0% of the gross salegeds of any common stock sold through
the Placement Agent under the Agreement. The Coyipas agreed to reimburse the Placement Ageneftaio expenses incurred by them in
connection with the transactions contemplated byAbreement, up to an aggregate of $30,000, plus ap additional $5,000 per calendar
quarter related to ongoing maintenance, due diigexxpenses and other expenses associated therewith

As of December 31, 2010, the Company has soldaaabtl 994,672 shares of common stock under thedémgent. The sales were made
at a weighted average price of $1.20 per sharemgtlproceeds to the Company of $2.3 million, afestucting commissions and other fees.

In July 2009, the Company entered into a secuntigshase agreement with certain institutional #ees relating to the sale and issuance
of (a) 11,111,110 shares of common stock and (Iojamts to purchase a total of 2,777,776 sharesmfwon stock with an exercise price of
$3.50 per share, for an aggregate purchase priappybximately $30 million. The warrants issuediegin August 2010, unexercised. The
shares of common stock and warrants were soldits, wonsisting of one share of common stock an@uaant to purchase 0.25 of a share of
common stock, at a purchase price of $2.70 per Th& Company received net proceeds from the tctioseof approximately $28.4 million,
after deducting offering expenses.

Upon the closing of the Merger in June 2009, anmeggte of 41,492,757 shares of the Company’s constomk were issued to the
former stockholders of VGX, and an additional 18,2187 shares of the Company’s common stock weesved for issuance upon exercise of
the assumed options and warrants and conversithre gdrincipal of and maximum interest payable an\WiGX convertible debt. In August
2009 the VGX convertible debt was automaticallyweted into 4,600,681 shares of the Company’s comstack. VGX warrants assumed
were ten-year warrants to purchase an aggregdt®238,406 shares of the Company’s common stock avitxercise price ranging from $0.26
to $1.28 per share, exercisable at various dades March 25, 2013 through April 28, 2016. As of Bexber 31, 2010, none of these warrants
have been exercised.

In August 2007, the Company entered into an agreemith an outside consulting advisor pursuant kicl the Company issued
230,000 registered shares of common stock andteegiswarrants to purchase 150,000 shares of consinok, as payment of a non-
refundable retainer in connection with the engagerotits services. The warrants issued have arceseeprice of $3.00 per share, and are
exercisable through August 3, 2012. As of Decendlie2010, none of these warrants have been exdrcise

In January 2007, the Company exchanged 2,201,84dcted shares of common stock and warrants toh@ase up to 770,573 restricted
shares of common stock for 2,201,644 ordinary shafés Singapore
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subsidiary Inovio Asia Pte. Ltd. (IAPL), pursuaatthe terms of the Securities Purchase and Exchaggeement under which the ordinary
shares were originally issued by IAPL in Octobe®@@or $5.3 million. The warrants issued have agreise price of $2.87 per share and are
exercisable through October 13, 2011. As of DecerBbe2010, none of these warrants have been eeekci

The Company accounts for registered common stockawts issued in October 2006, August 2007 and 200® under the authoritative
guidance on accounting for derivative financiatinsents indexed to, and potentially settled inpmpany’s own stock, on the understanding
that in compliance with applicable securities latheg, registered warrants require the issuancegidtered securities upon exercise and do not
sufficiently preclude an implied right to net casditlement. The Company classifies registered wegan the consolidated balance sheet as a
current liability which is revalued at each balasbeet date subsequent to the initial issuanceriéting the appropriate fair-value model and
calculating the fair value of registered warramtguires considerable judgment, including estimasiogk price volatility and expected warrant
life. The Company develops its estimates basedsiarital data. A small change in the estimatesiusay have a relatively large change in
estimated valuation. The Company uses the B&ahoeles pricing model to value the registered westaChanges in the fair market value of
warrants are reflected in the consolidated statéwieoperations as “Other income/ (expense), net.”

Warrants
In addition to warrants granted as discussed alitbeeCompany provides the following additional imfation regarding other warrants.

Participants in our October 2006 registered offgrxirith foreign investors received five-year wargata purchase an aggregate of
1,593,821 shares of our common stock with an eserngiice of $2.87 per share, exercisable througbl@c 13, 2011. As of December 31,
2010, none of these warrants have been exercised.

In December 2010, warrants expired to purchase2388 shares of our common stock issued in cororeetith our December 2005
private placement.

In September 2010, warrants expired to purchas@®0BGhares of our common stock, which were isguednnection with a license
agreement with the University of South Florida Resk Foundation, Inc. (USF).

In December 2009, a warrant expired to purchasg0BGshares of our common stock, which was issuednmection with the leasing of
our corporate headquarters.

In May 2009, warrants expired to purchase 713,8@8es of our common stock, which were issued imeotion with our Series C
Preferred Stock offering.

In July 2008, warrants expired to purchase 2,0@L.dbares of our common stock, which were issuesimection with our Series A and
B Preferred Stock offerings.

Stock options

The Company has one active stock and cash-baseutive plan, the Amended and Restated 2007 Ommitmesitive Plan (thelhcentive
Plan), pursuant to which the Company has granted stodkrupaind restricted stock awards to executive efficdirectors and employees. -
plan was adopted on March 31, 2007, approved bgttekholders on May 4, 2007, approved by the $tolders as amended on May 2, 2008,
and approved by the stockholders as amended atade@®n August 25, 2009 and May 14, 2010. On Mgy2010 the stockholders approved
to increase the aggregate number of shares awaflabgrant under the Incentive Plan by 2,000,080 ta provide that the aggregate number of
shares available for grant under the plan willlireéased on January 1 of each year beginning ih B9 a number of shares equal to the lesser
of (1) 2,055,331
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or (2) such lesser number of shares as may bentieted by the Board. At December 31, 2010, the IticerPlan reserves 5,750,000 shares of
common stock for issuance as or upon exercisecehitive awards granted and to be granted at fulates. At December 31, 2010, the
Company had 2,140,103 shares of common stock &lailar future grant under the plan, and 240,000 e of vested restricted stock and
options to purchase 3,054,684 shares of commok stastanding under the plan. The awards grantdchaailable for future grant under the
Incentive Plan generally vest over three yearshtarwe a maximum contractual term of ten years. Tiberitive Plan terminates by its terms on
March 31, 2017.

The Incentive Plan supersedes all of the Compamg'gious stock option plans, which include the Adeh2000 Stock Option Plan,
under which the Company had options to purchas#61483 shares of common stock outstanding at DeeeB1ih 2010. The terms and
conditions of the options outstanding under théaegpremain unchanged.

Total compensation cost for our stock plans recghin the consolidated statement of operationthioyears ended December 31, 2|
2009 and 2008 was $898,000, $1.8 million, and #illion, respectively, of which $281,000, $595,0&d $286,000 was included in research
and development expenses and $617,000, $1.2 milhdr$746,000 was included in general and admatigér expenses, respectively.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, there was $928,00%2.4 million of total unrecognized compensatiost, respectively, related to
unvested stock options, which is expected to begeized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 yaaais2.5 years, respectively.

The fair value of options granted to non-employaethe measurement dates were estimated usingdbk-Bcholes pricing model. Total
stock-based compensation for options granted teemaployees for the years ended December 31, 2@D®, 2nd 2008 was $277,000,
$339,000 and $58,000, respectively. As of DecerBlheP010 and 2009, 4,404,200 and 4,159,619 nonegraeloptions remained outstanding,
respectively.

The following table summarizes total stock optionsstanding at December 31, 2010:

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted-average
remaining Weighted

Options contractual life average Options Weighted-average

Exercise price outstanding (in years) exercise prict exercisable exercise price
$0.00- $1.00 1,533,96! 4.7 $ 0.32 1,528,34i $ 0.32
$1.01-%$2.00 9,451,73 6.4 $ 1.3t 8,138,07! $ 1.34
$2.01- $4.00 1,338,02. 4.7 $ 2.9¢ 1,338,02. $ 2.9¢
$4.01- $6.00 276,24¢ 2.8 $ 4.94 276,24¢ $ 4.94
$6.01- $6.12 50,00( 3.2 $ 6.12 50,00( $ 6.12
12,649,96 5.9 $ 1.4¢ 11,330,68 $ 1.5C

At December 31, 2010, the aggregate intrinsic vafugptions outstanding was $1.3 million, the agate intrinsic value of options
exercisable was $1.3 million, and the weighted ageremaining contractual term of options exerdésalas 5.7 years.

At December 31, 2009, the aggregate intrinsic vafugptions outstanding was $1.5 million, the aggte intrinsic value of options
exercisable was $1.5 million, and the weighted ayeremaining contractual term of options exerdésalas 6.1 years.
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Stock option activity under our stock option plaves as follows:

Number of Weighted-average
shares exercise price

Balance, December 31, 20 3,465,46. $ 3.1%
Granted 1,474,501 0.8€
Exercisec (1,250 0.87
Cancellec (321,999 3.14
Balance, December 31, 20 4,616,71. 2.4z
Stock options assumed in Mer¢ 9,082,68. 1.04
Granted 1,902,001 1.52
Exercisec (1,428,47) 0.57
Cancellec (1,030,88) 2.5¢
Balance, December 31, 20 13,142,03 1.54
Granted 442 ,50( 1.12
Exercisec (297,46 0.57
Cancellec (637,109 2.7
Balance, December 31, 20 12,649,96 $ 1.4¢

The weighted average exercise price was $2.8h&d83,561 options which expired during the yeaedrDecember 31, 2010, $3.01
the 742,094 options which expired during the yemteel December 31, 2009 and $3.56 for the 233,186rmgwhich expired during the year
ended December 31, 2008.

The weighted average grant date fair value peresivas $0.93 for options granted during the yeaedrmdkecember 31, 2010, $1.21 for
options granted during the year ended Decembe2(®19 and $0.46 for options granted during the yeded December 31, 2008.

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisad $193,000 during the year ended December 3D, #116 million during the year
ended December 31, 2009 and $0 during the yeaddddeember 31, 2008.

The Company has no non-vested restricted shamefszacember 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009.
As of December 31, 2010, there was no unrecogriaatpensation cost related to nonvested stock-tamagensation arrangements.

VGX Animal Health (“VGX AH") has adopted a 2007 etyuincentive plan for the issuance of options tapéoyees and consultants.
There were no options granted under the plan duhegear ended December 31, 2010. There were Q@%tions granted during the year
ended December 31, 2009 with a weighted averageisgerice of $0.75. At December 31, 2010, theeean,800,167 options outstanding,
1,716,834 options exercisable and 199,833 optiga#dadle for future grants under the plan. Thereen® options exercised or cancelled
during the year ending December 31, 2010 and 2009.

12. Commitments

Our corporate headquarters is located at 1787 ywPankway West in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania. Our cogpe office in Blue Bell is leased
space for approximately 6,442 square feet and exgin April 30, 2016. The annual rent will be $D2®, for the first year, $126,000 for the
second year, $129,000 for the third year, $132f60¢he fourth year, $135,000 for the fifth yeada$139,000 for the sixth year. At the end of
the lease term, we have the option of renewingléfaise for an additional three-year lease ternm @naual rate equal to the fair market rental
value of the property, as defined in the leaseeagseat.
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The corporate office in San Diego is located at9#18orrento Valley Road in San Diego, CalifornihisTiease was amended in
December 2010 to include approximately 13,000 sgteset and will run through August 31, 2013. Thaual rent based on the new lease
terms will be $221,000 in the first year, $255,00the second year and $184,000 for the partiad thear. At the end of the lease term, we |
the option of renewing this lease for an additidied-year lease term at an annual rate equaledain market rental value of the property, as
defined in the lease agreement.

During 2010 the Company consolidated operationgipusly performed in The Woodlands, Texas to itseBBell and San Diego
locations. As a result, in November 2010 the Comgpgeamsferred its facility lease in The Woodlantiexas to a whollyswned subsidiary of it
affiliated entity, VGX Int’l. The Company has norfher obligations under the lease.

Rent expense was $607,000, $599,000, and $4220000cf years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and g&}&ctively. This amount is
net of sublease income of $269,000, 346,000 an8,800, respectively. Future minimum lease paymentier noncancelable operating lea:
as of December 31, 2010 are as follows:

2011 $ 325,36¢
2012 386,63:
2013 314,79
2014 134,20¢
2015 137,42¢
Thereaftel 46,16¢
Total $1,344,59!

In the normal course of business, the Companyparty to a variety of agreements pursuant to wthely may be obligated to indemnify
the other party. It is not possible to predict ti@ximum potential amount of future payments undesé types of agreements due to the
conditional nature of our obligations and the ueidgcts and circumstances involved in each padiagreement. Historically, payments made
by us under these types of agreements have nat haaterial effect on our business, consolidatedltesf operations or financial condition.

13. Investment in Affiliated Entity

The Company’s investment in an affiliated entitgnessents the Company’s 19.65% ownership intergbigiiKorean based company,
VGX Int'l. This investment is measured at fair valon a recurring basis. The fair market value ef@ompany’s interest in VGX Int'l was
determined using the closing price of VGX Int'l'sases of common stock as listed on the Korean Sfackange as of December 31, 2010.

14. Income Taxes

In accordance with the guidance pursuant to acamyfir income taxes, a deferred tax asset orlitgh$ determined based on the
difference between the financial statement andéesis of assets and liabilities as measured bgriaeted tax rates which will be in effect w
these differences reverse. The Company provideduation allowance against net deferred tax ass#ess, based upon the available evide
it is more likely than not that the deferred tagetswill be realized.
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The components of the (benefit) provision for ineotaxes are presented in the following table:

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 December 31
2010 2009 2008
Current:
Federal $ (4,000 $ (30,000 $ —
State 22,00( — —
Foreign — — —
$ 18,00( $ (30,000 $ —
Deferred:
Federal $ 36,00( $ — $ —
State 17,00( — —
Foreign — (887,000 (63,000
53,00( (887,000 (63,000
71,00( (917,000 $ (63,00(

The reconciliation of income taxes attributabl@p®rations computed at the statutory tax ratesdome tax expense (recovery), using a
35% statutory tax rate, is:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2010 2009 2008

Income (benefit) taxes at statutory re $ (6,154,00) $(8,859,00) $(4,538,00)
State income tax, net of federal ben (1,189,000 (1,287,00i) (668,00()
Change in valuation allowan: (13,877,00) 6,134,00! 5,328,00!
IRC Section 382/383 limitatio 20,758,00 — —
Fair value warran (841,000 450,00( 50,00(
Stock compensatic 343,00( 470,00( 304,00(
Change in state tax ra 998,00( — —
Other 33,00( 2,175,001 (539,000

$ 71,00( $ (917,000 $ (63,000
The income tax expense (recovery) has been recasiadeduction to general and administrative esg®ras its effect is immaterial.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets and liabilities as of December 31, 20002899 are shown below:

As of As of

December 31, December 31,
2010 2009
Deferred tax asset
Capitalized research exper $ 4,856,001 $ 5,402,001
Net operating loss carry forwar 28,423,00 42,405,00
Research and development and other tax cr 1,582,001 2,518,00
Other 5,704,00! 4,754,001
40,565,00 55,079,00
Valuation allowanct 37,116,00) 50,958,00)
Total deferred tax asse 3,449,00! 4,121,00i
Deferred tax liabilities
Acquired intangible: $ (2,634,00i) $ (2,899,000
Investment in affiliated entit (868,000 (1,222,000
Net deferred tax liabilitie (53,000 —

We have established a valuation allowance forefitided tax assets including those for net opagdtias (“NOL”) and tax credit
carryforwards. Such a valuation allowance is reedrdhen it is more likely than not that the defdri@x assets will not be realized. The
Company maintains a deferred tax liability relatedoodwill that is not netted against the defeteedassets, as reversal of the taxable
temporary difference cannot serve as a sourcecofie for realization of the deferred tax assetsabge the deferred tax liability will not
reverse until the asset is sold or written down tuienpairment.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had federdifd@nia and Pennsylvania tax net operating l@ssycforwards of approximately
$71.6 million, $24.7 million and $39.8 million, yEsctively, net of the net operating losses thatewpire due to IRC Section 382 limitations.
The federal loss carry forwards will begin to erpim 2011 unless previously utilized. The Califartoss carry forwards will begin to expire in
2016 and the Pennsylvania loss carry forwardsheidjin to expire in 2021.

In addition, we had federal and state researclkrdit carryforwards of approximately $550,000 &id6 million, respectively, net of the
federal research and development credits thatewglire due to IRC Section 383 limitations. The fadléax credit carryforwards will begin to
expire in 2011. The California research tax cred@sot expire.

Utilization of the NOL and tax credit carryforwarddl be subject to a substantial annual limitatiomder Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, and similar state provisitugsto ownership change limitations that have aeclpreviously or that could occur in the
future. These ownership changes will limit the amtaaf NOL and tax credit carryforwards and othefieded tax assets that can be utilized to
offset future taxable income and tax, respectiviel\general, an ownership change, as defined btide882, results from transactions
increasing ownership of certain stock holders dalipigroups in the stock of the corporation by mitr@n 50 percentage points over a three-
year period

The Company is in the process of updating the 8e&82/383 study for the Company and VGX, both biolr experienced ownership
changes under Section 382 as a result of the Mergdune 1, 2009. Based upon the preliminary resdlthe study, it is estimated that
approximately $33.5 million of tax benefits relatedNOL and tax credit carryforwards will expireused. Accordingly, the related NOL and
R&D credit carryforwards have been removed fronedefd tax assets accompanied by a correspondingtied of the valuation allowance.
Upon completion of the study, deferred tax assdtding to NOL and R&D credit carryforwards for
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the Company and VGX may need to be adjusted withreesponding adjustment to the valuation allowabaee to the existence of the
valuation allowance, limitations created by curr@nd future ownership changes, if any, relatedutooperations in the United States will not
impact our effective tax rate. Any additional owstgp changes, may further limit the ability to tise net operating losses and credits
carryovers.

The following table summarizes the activity relatesbur unrecognized tax benefits:

2010 2009 2008
Balance at beginning of the ye $629,00( — —
Increases related to current year tax posit — — —
Increases related to prior year tax positi — $629,00( —
Expiration of the statue of limitations for the @ssment of taxe — — —
Other — — =
Balance at end of the ye $629,00( $629,00( —

The amount of unrecognized tax benefit that, ibogized and realized would affect the effectiver@te is $585,000 as of December 31,
2010. The Company has not recorded any interespandlties on the unrecognized tax positions a€timapany has continued to generate net
operating losses after accounting for the unrecmghtax benefits. The Company does not anticipetethe total amount of unrecognized tax
benefits will significantly increase or decreaséhivi twelve months of the reporting date.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject teedr8tates federal income tax as well as incométanultiple state and foreign
jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the Companydslonger subject to United States federal incoemeskaminations for years before 20
state and local income tax examinations before 2806 foreign income tax examinations before 2@0¥vever, to the extent allowed by law,
the tax authorities may have the right to examimner periods where net operating losses were géeend carried forward, and make
adjustments up to the amount of the net operatisg tarryforward amount. The Company is not culremtder Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS™), state or local tax examination.

15. 401(k) Plan

In 1995, the Company’s United States subsidiaryptatba 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the “Plan”) caong substantially all of its
employees. The defined contribution plan allowsdhw®loyees to contribute a percentage of their @msation each year. The Company
currently matches 50% of its employees’ contribusgioup to 6% of their annual compensation. The Gomis contributions are recorded as
expense in the accompanying consolidated staternénfserations and totaled $103,000, $41,000 a&j0H® for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

16. Segment Information

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company’s whallyned Norwegian subsidiaries, Inovio AS and Inovar AS were dissolved and
operations transferred to the United States. Rwoitine dissolution of these subsidiaries, the Compgerated in one business segment in the
United States and Europe. Revenues are attributalfe geographical area based on the locatitineofustomer. During the year ending
December 31, 2010, all revenues were attributabted United States. During the year ending Decer@bg2009, revenues in Europe and the
United States totaled $57,000 and $9.1 millionpeesively. During the year ending December 31, 2088nues in Europe and the United
States totaled $285,000 and $1.8 million, respeltivAs of December 31, 2010 and 2009 all longdiassets totaling $21.3 million and
$23.1 million, respectively, exist within the Undt&tates. Prior to the dissolution of our Norwegaerations, long-lived assets within the
United States consisted primarily of patents ameiointellectual property and outside the Uniteat&t consisted primarily of goodwill and
intangible assets. As of December 31, 2008, loregt assets in Europe and the United States thtfel million and $2.7 million, respective
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17. Related Party Transactions
The Company conducts transactions with its afilisentity, VGX Int'l (See Note 13).

For the year ended December 31, 2010 and 200€,dh®any recognized revenue from VGX Int'l of $3&80Gnd $59,000,
respectively, which consisted of licensing feesjc®lease and other fees. Operating expensegddlatVGX Int'l for the year ended
December 31, 2010 include $3.4 million related snofacturing and engineering services. Operatipgeses related to VGX Ihfor the yea
ended December 31, 2009 include $1.7 million relédemanufacturing and engineering services asase$i56,000 for regulatory and techn
support and other consulting services receivedédember 31, 2010 and 2009 we had an accountyabteibalance of $72,000 and $59,000,
respectively, from VGX Int'l and its subsidiaries.

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 200g,aimpany received sublease income from VGX Int'$282,000 and $126,000,
respectively, for the facility in The Woodlands, ;Twhich offset the Company’s lease expense.

On March 24, 2010, the Company entered into a Gotktion and License Agreement (the “AgreementthwiGX Int’l. Under the
Agreement, the Company granted VGX Int’l an exaladicense to Inovio’s SynCoh  universal influenz&eine delivered with
electroporation to be developed in certain coustineAsia (the “Product”). As consideration for fieense granted to VGX Int’l, the Company
received payment of $3.0 million, and will receresearch support, annual license maintenance feesgalties on net product sales. The ¢
million has been recorded as deferred revenue &ffiffated entity, and will be recognized as revermver the eight year expected period of
Company’s performance obligation. In addition, dogént upon achievement of clinical and regulatorestones, the Company will receive
development payments over the term of the AgreenTdr Agreement also provides Inovio with exclugights to supply devices for clinical
and commercial purposes (including single use carapts) to VGX Int'l for use in the Product. Thenteof the Agreement commenced upon
execution and will extend on a country by countagib until the last to expire of all Royalty Pesddr the territory (as such term is defined in
the Agreement) for any Product in that countryesalthe Agreement is terminated earlier in acca@arith its provisions as a result of bre:
by mutual agreement, or by VGX Int’I's right to teinate without cause upon prior written notice.

As of December 31, 2010, Bryan Kim, the Companyce president of Asian operations, constitutesafrtee six members of VGX
Int’I's board of directors and receives customasmnpensation from VGX Int’l for his service in suchpacity. Bryan Kim currently serves as
the president and chief executive officer of VGXIInn September 2010, Young Park, a member of VIB's board of directors, terminated
his employment with the Company as general counsel.

In August 2010, Dr. J. Joseph Kim, the Company'©CEesigned from his position on the VGX Int’l bdasf directors. Dr. Kim
previously served as chief executive officer of VGXI prior to the Company’s acquisition of VGX Bimaceuticals, Inc. in June 2009.
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18. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informatin

Year ended Year ended
December 31 Year ended December 31
December 31,
2010 2009 2008
Supplemental schedule of financing activiti
Interest paic $ 61,15: $ 166,17 $ 31,17(
Supplemental schedule of r-cash activities
Issuance of common stock and stock options ancewts
assumed in connection with acquisition of VGX
Pharmaceuticals, In $ — $31,293,22 $ —
Conversion of lon-term debt and accrued interest to comr
stock. $ — $ 4,830,71! $ —
Conversions of preferred stock to common st $ — $ 66 $ 118
Leasehold improvements financed by land| $ — $ — $ 35,21

19. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following unaudited quarterly financial infortiaan reflects all normal recurring adjustments, ethare, in the opinion of
management, necessary for a fair statement oethéts of the interim periods. The four quarterspler share figures may not add for the year
because of the different number of shares outstgrdliring the year. The results of operations fyr geriod are not necessarily indicative of
the results to be expected for any future periatin®arized unaudited quarterly data for the yeade@mecember 31, 2010 and 2009, are as
follows:

Quarter Ended Quarter Ended Quarter Ended Quarter Ended

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010

Consolidated Statement of Operatior
Revenue:
License fee and milestone payme $  145,84: $  133,08( $  174,69: $ 73,61(
Revenue under collaborative research and develof

arrangement — — — —
Grants and miscellaneous revel 2,214,07. 1,143,46. 960,16¢ 1,299,77!
Total revenue 2,359,91. 1,276,54. 1,134,85! 1,373,38!
Operating Expenses:
Research and developmt 4,491,71! 2,951,06 3,083,22! 2,730,59!
General and administrati\ 3,148,511 2,881,99. 3,027,59. 3,050,15!
Total operating expense: 7,640,23. 5,833,06. 6,110,82. 5,780,75.
Loss from operations (5,280,31) (4,556,51) (4,975,96) (4,407,36)
Interest income/(expense), 11,64¢ 14,71« 13,59¢ 34,56:
Other income/(expense), r 249,88« 522,76( 676,17¢ 1,027,99:
(Loss)/gain from investment in affiliated ent (1,290,64) 2,604,31. (3,327,75) 1,044,17.
Net loss $ (6,309,42) $ (1,414,73) $ (7,613,94) $ (2,300,63)
Net loss (gain) attributable to n-controlling interes 15,90t 4,58¢ (2,490 6,95(
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, lic. $ (6,293,52) $ (1,410,14) $ (7,616,43) $ (2,293,68)
Loss per common shi—basic and dilutec
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, lic.

stockholders $ (0.0¢6) $ (0.01) $ (0.07) $ (0.02)
Weighted average number of common sk—basic and dilute: 104,302,17 102,928,09 102,811,41 102,757,08
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Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2009 2009 2009 2009

Consolidated Statement of Operatior
Revenue:
License fee and milestone payme $ 297,59¢ $ 2,143,231 $ 2,275,37. $ 213,09
Revenue under collaborative research and developanemgement (63,664 32,88¢ 102,31° 54,45¢
Grants and miscellaneous revel 2,378,67 1,470,33 113,89¢ 101,89
Total revenue 2,612,61. 3,646,46. 2,491,58! 369,45(
Operating Expenses:
Research and developmt 3,851,40! 3,412,13 1,181,19. 963,73:
General and administrati\ 2,571,79. 3,830,70. 4,300,77. 2,966,14.
Total operating expense: 6,423,19. 7,242,83. 5,481,96 3,929,87!
Loss from operations (3,810,58) (3,596,37) (2,990,37) (3,560,42)
Interest income/(expense), 1 25,19¢ (26,620 (29,93) 33,64¢
Other income/(expense), r 1,849,72. (2,903,17) (267,679) 62,28:
(Loss)/gain from investment in affiliated ent (5,440,21) 3,564,28. (7,368,680 —
Net loss $ (7,375,88) (2,961,88) (10,656,66) (3,464,49)
Net loss attributable to n-controlling interes 30,01: 13,69: 3,73( —
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Iic. $ (7,345,86) $(2,948,18) $(10,652,93) $(3,464,49)
Loss per common shi—basic and dilutec
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. stockholders $ 0.0 $ (0.0 % (0.19 % (0.0¢)
Weighted average number of common st—basic and dilute: 102,417,87 93,909,94 57,303,62 44,035,48

20. Subsequent Events

In January 2011, the Company entered into invgeiochase agreements with investors relating tasswence and sale of (a) 21,130,400
shares of common stock, and (b) warrants to puechdsetal of 10,565,200 shares of common stock avitkexercise price of $1.40 per share,
for an aggregate purchase price of approximatedy3aillion. The shares of common stock and wasamre sold in units, consisting of one
share of common stock and a warrant to purchagedd.& share of common stock, at a purchase pfi6é.a5 per unit. The Warrants have a
five-year term from the date of issuance and are fkstaisable commencing on the 180th day after the dfiissuance. The Company may
the warrants if the closing bid price of the comnstock has been at least $2.80 over 20 trading alagertain other conditions are met. The
Company received net proceeds from the transaofiapproximately $23.0 million, after deducting ghlacement agent’s fee and estimated
offering expenses payable by the Company.

Between January 1, 2011 and January 14, 2011 thg&uy sold an additional 1,028,905 shares of comstmek under its At-The-
Market Equity Distribution Agreement for net prodeeof $1.4 million, after deducting commissions aiiter fees.

In March 2011, the Company announced the sale tm®&c Medical Inc. of certain non-DNA vaccine temlbgy and intellectual
property relating to electroporation technologyfukfor electrochemical and cytokine based immurerdpies for treating solid tumors.

The President and Chief Executive Officer of Onaneviously served as the Company’s Vice PresidéRinance and Operations.
Additionally, the Company’s Executive Chairman atgoves as OncoSec’s Non-executive Chairman.
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Exhibit 10.5
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (the “ Agreemé&ntdated as of December 27, 2010 is made by atwlides Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
Delaware corporation having offices at 1787 SeRtykway West, Bldg 18, Suite 400, Blue Bell PA 1B4{the “ Company), and Peter Kies,
having residence at 3657 Tierra De Dios, Escondiddifornia 92025 (“ Executiv®).

RECITALS

WHEREAS , the Company desires to employ Executive and ve ltlse benefit of his skills and services, and bxge desires to accept
employment with the Company, on the terms and ¢mmdi set forth herein; and

WHEREAS , as a condition to his employment by the Compé&xgcutive agrees to execute and shall be bountebtetms and
conditions of the Proprietary Information, Invemtj@and Non-Compete Agreement (the “ NGompete Agreemeri} attached hereto d@xhibit
A, and the Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreem(the “Confidentiality Agreement”), attached éteras Exhibit B

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual promises, ternesenants and conditions set forth herein and il\tble-Compete
Agreement, and the performance of each, the pdréie=to, intending legally to be bound, hereby agiefollows:

1. Employment; Tern.

a. The Company hereby agrees to employ Executizhaf Financial Officer, and Executive hereby &gréo accept such employment
with the Company in accordance with the terms adlitions of this Agreement.

b. The “ Ternt' of this Agreement shall commence on the datedfgtbie “* Commencement Datpand shall continue in effect until
terminated as provided in Section 7 below.

2. Position and Dutie.

a. The Company agrees to employ Executive througheuTerm as Chief Financial Officer of the Comparith such responsibilities,
duties and authority as are assigned to him bytiief Executive Officer of the Company or his desig.

b. Executive shall faithfully devote his full busss/working time, attention and energy to the lrssirand affairs of the Company and the
performance of his duties hereunder and to usemneade efforts to perform such responsibilitieshfiailly and efficiently.

c. Without limiting the generality of the foregoipgragraph, during the Term, upon prior writtensaart of the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, Executive shall be permitted teesen other Boards of Directors, professional a@ssiotis and otherwise be involved with
any family business or trust to the extent thathemreasonable judgment of the Chief Executivéc®ff such other business pursuits and
activity do not materially (i) interfer



with Executive’s ability to discharge Executive'stigs and responsibilities to the Company, whetiarot such activity is pursued for gain,
profit or other pecuniary advantage, or (ii) caEgecutive to violate any provision of the Non-Congpagreement or the Confidentiality
Agreement.

3. Compensatiol.

a. Executive shall be entitled to receive as corsgion for his employment a base annual salaryrateaof $230,000 per annum (the “
Base Salary), which shall be paid to Executive by the Companyany of its affiliates in accordance with thengany’s standard payroll
practices, as in effect from time to time.

b. Increases in the Base Salary shall be reviewmadaly by the Company’s Board of Directors (thBdard”) or its Compensation
Committee during the Term, and any such increadébeavat the Board’s or Compensation Committe@le sliscretion and will otherwise be
consistent with the Company’s annual policies amdget for payroll increases.

4, Bonus.

During the Term, Executive shall be eligible toa®e an incentive cash bonus up to the amountdo#sen the criteria, and payable at
such times, as may be determined by the Board @dtnpensation Committee. The amount shall berdéted by the Board or Compensation
Committee, in its sole and absolute discretioncivtshall be binding and final, and shall be paid ne-time lump sum payment (less payroll
taxes). To the extent that such cash bonus is tietermined in light of financial performance dgyim specified fiscal period and the
Agreement commences on a date after the startcbffsscal period, any cash bonus payable in respfesiich fiscal period’s results may be
prorated. In addition, if the period of Executiveimployment hereunder expires before the end istalfperiod, and if Executive is eligible to
receive a cash bonus at such time (such eligithkiyng subject to the restrictions set forth int®&c7 below), any cash bonus payable in
respect of such fiscal period’s results may beaisat. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all annualus®s shall be paid within two and one-half
months after the close of each year.

5. Benefits; Stock Option.

In addition to the salary and cash bonus refewaabbve, Executive shall be entitled during thenTay participate in such employee
benefits plans or programs of the Company, and beaintitled to such other fringe benefits, asfem time to time adopted by the Board and
made available by the Company generally to emplopé&xecutive’s position, tenure, salary, and othealifications. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, Executive shall bgiélie for such awards and benefits, if any, under@ompany’s employee benefits plans or
programs as shall be granted to Executive in thediecretion of the Board or its Compensation Catte® and as shall be provided pursua
the terms of the plans or programs. Executive askeuiges and agrees that the Company does not deardne adoption or continuance of any
particular employee benefits plan or program oepfhinge benefits during the Term, and participatby Executive in any such plan or
program shall be subject to the rules and regulatapplicable thereto.
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6. Expense:.

The Company will reimburse Executive, in accordanith the practices in effect from time to time father officers or staff personnel of
the Company, for all reasonable and necessary éasend traveling expenses and other disbursementsed by Executive for or on behalf
of the Company in the performance of Executive'Setuhereunder, upon presentation by Executiveedompany of appropriate vouchers
and supporting documentation.

7. Termination.
Executive’s employment by the Company pursuantthésesubject to termination as follows:

a. Death or Disability Executive’s employment shall be deemed to tertaiaatomatically on the date of Executive’s deatid the
Company may by written notice to Executive terménBkecutive’s employment on account of his TotaldDbility effective as of the date of
such notice. For purposes hereof, Executive skeatldemed to experience a “ Total Disablilitff Executive is considered totally disabled un
any group disability plan maintained by the Compang in effect at that time, or in the absencengfsuch plan, Executive shall be deemed to
experience a Total Disability if he shall have beeable to perform his duties hereunder on a fmlktbasis for 90 consecutive days or longer,
or for shorter periods aggregating 120 days in2608day period. In the event of any dispute under 8dstion 7(a), Executive shall submit 1
physical examination by a licensed physician miyusdtisfactory to the Company and Executive, thet of such examination to be paid by
Company, and the determination of such physiciatl fle determinative. In the case of a Total Dighiuntil the Company shall have
terminated Executive’s employment hereunder in atanace with the foregoing, Executive shall be &dito receive compensation provided
for herein notwithstanding any such Total Disapilin the event of the termination of Executivefsm@oyment on account of his death or Total
Disability, neither Executive nor his personal esgentative will have any rights or claims agaihst€ompany under this Agreement except as
follows:

(i) Executive (or his estate or representativeg@dicable) shall be paid (A) any unpaid portiorhsf Base Salary computed on a
rata basis through the date of his termination(@)dny unreimbursed expenses;

(i) All other of Executive’s accrued but unpaidhts shall be as determined under any incentivepeaisation, stock option,
retirement, employee welfare or other employee fitsrn@an or program of the Company in which Exé@ceiis then participating at the time of
his termination; and

(iii) in the case of Executive’s Total Disabilitnly, (A) the Company shall continue Executive’s meatibenefits coverage existing
at the time of his termination for as long as psagitile under the Company’s health benefits poli@es to exceed 60 days) and the Company
further agrees to pay ExecutiggCOBRA premiums for six months thereafter, witbrspremiums to provide for coverage at the samel lenrc
subject to the same terms and conditions (inclydiithout limitation, any applicable co-pay obligats of Executive, but
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excluding any applicable tax consequences for Biaxuas in effect for Executive at the time ofntémation, and (B) Executive shall further
receive a lump-sum payment, within 30 days afteratiective date of termination, equal to the aggte amount of Executive’s Base Salary as
in effect immediately prior to such terminationttiaauld be payable over a period of six monthsofwlhg the effective date of such
termination.

b. Involuntary Termination for Causén the event the Company terminates Executiveipleyment for Cause (as such term is defined
below), such termination shall be effective immésliaupon notice thereof, in which case Executivi vave no rights or claims against the
Company under this Agreement except as follows:

(i) Executive shall be paid (A) any unpaid portmfrhis Base Salary computed on a pro rata basisigir the date of his termination
and (B) any unreimbursed expenses; and

(i) All other of Executive’s accrued but unpaidhts shall be as determined under any incentivepeaisation, stock option,
retirement, employee welfare or other employee fitsrglan and program of the Company in which Exteeuis then participating at the time
of his termination.

“ Cause” shall mean: (1) conviction of Executive of any felo(2) participation by Executive in any fraudamt of dishonesty against t
Company; (3) material violation by Executive ofgiy contract between the Company and Executiv@i) @ny statutory, contractual or
common law duty of Executive to the Company; (4)duct of Executive that, based upon a good faithraasonable factual investigation and
determination by the Board, demonstrates Execuigedss unfitness to serve; or (5) the continuektfulwefusal or failure by Executive to
perform any material duties reasonably requestethéyBoard or the Chief Executive Officer.

c. Involuntary Termination Without Caus@he Company may terminate Executive’'s employmethier than on account of death, Total
Disability or for Cause, on 30 days’ prior writtentice, in which case Executive will have no rigbitslaims against the Company under this
Agreement except as follows:

(i) Executive (or his estate or representativeg@dicable) shall be paid (A) any unpaid portiorhsf Base Salary computed on a
rata basis through the date of his termination,(@)dny unreimbursed expenses;

(i) All other of Executive’s accrued but unpaidhts shall be as determined under any incentivepeaisation, stock option,
retirement, employee welfare or other employee fitsran and program of the Company in which Exeeuis then participating at the time
of his termination;

(iii) Executive shall receive severance paymenthéform of monthly payments of Executive’s Bas¢a8y (as in effect
immediately prior to such termination) for a perimfdwelve months following the effective date otk termination; and
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(iv) The Company shall pay Executive’s COBRA premgufor twelve months thereafter, with such premitongrovide for
coverage at substantially the same level and sutgjghe same terms and conditions (including, authimitation, any applicable co-pay
obligations of Executive, but excluding any apphieatax consequences for Executive) as in effacEf@cutive at the time of termination.

d. Voluntary Termination For Good ReasdBxecutive may terminate his employment for gasason (* Termination For Good Reason
") by providing 30 days’ prior written notice todfCompany of a breach constituting Good Reasorchwimtice shall be provided within 45
days after the initial existence of the breach, famther provided that such breach is not cureallimaterial respects to the reasonable
satisfaction of Executive within 30 days after sactice. In the event of Termination for Good Regdtxecutive shall be entitled to receive
payments and other rights provided in Section écgof. For purposes of this Agreement, terminafiborf Good Reasoi shall mean
voluntary termination by Executive of his employresith the Company based on one of the followingres:

(i) the material diminution in Executiveposition, title, responsibilities or authorityffin those in effect at the Commencement C
provided, however, that a material diminution sinall be deemed to have occurred upon a changentrbtof the Company solely by virtue of
the Company’s having been acquired and made partafjer organization;

(i) a relocation of Executive’s principal execudivffices more than fifty miles from its locationthe Commencement Date; or

(iii) the breach by the Company of any of its mileobligations under this Agreement;

e. Other Voluntary TerminationExecutive may otherwise terminate his employmmgtitout Good Reason upon 30 days’ prior written
notice to the Company, in which case Executiveh{srestate or representative, as applicable) begbaid (A) any unpaid portion of his Base
Salary on a pro rata basis through the date dfettmeination, and (B) any unreimbursed expenses.

f. Section 409A The Base Salary continuation set forth in Sestioifa), (c) and (d) hereof shall be intended tsfyeeither (i) the safe
harbor set forth in the regulations issued undeti@® 409A (as defined below) of the Internal ReveCode of 1986, as amended (the “Cdde”
(Treas. Regs. 1.409A-1(n)(2)(ii)), or (ii) be tredtas a Short-term Deferral as that term is defimeter Section 409A (Treas. Regs. 1.409A-1
(b)(4)). To the extent that such continuation pagte@xceed the applicable safe harbor amount aotioonstitute a Short-term Deferral, the
excess amount shall be treated as deferred contmenesader Section 409A and as such shall be payalnsuant to the following schedule:
such excess amount shall be paid via standard lpayperiodic installments in accordance with thempany’s usual practice for its senior
executives.

Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreementhie contrary, in the event that Executive is a tjed employee” as defined in
Section 409A, any continuation payment, continuabienefits or other amounts payable under this égent that would be subject to the
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special rule regarding payments to “specified elygds” under Section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code shetlbe paid before the expiration of a
period of six months following the date of Execetisstermination of employment or before the dat&xécutive’s death, if earlier.

g. Forfeiture of Rights In the event that, subsequent to the terminaifdexecutive’s employment hereunder, Executive ¢inea any of
the provisions of the Non-Compete Agreement or @emnftiality Agreement in any material respectpaiments and benefits to which
Executive may otherwise have been entitled to @msto this Section 7 hereof shall immediately feate and be forfeited.

h. Release Executive shall not be entitled to any compesatinder this Section 7 unless Executive executdglalivers to the
Company a Separation of Employment Agreement anmefaéRelease (the “ Reled3en form and substance satisfactory to the Congpag
which Executive releases the Company from any abibgs and liabilities of any type whatsoever, gtder the Company’s obligation to
provide the compensation and benefits specifigti;mSection 7. The parties hereto acknowledgettieapayments to be provided under this
Section 7 are to be provided in consideration lierRelease.

8. Remedie:.

In addition to other remedies provided by law onigg upon a breach by Executive of any of the cargs contained herein, in the Non-
Compete Agreement or in the Confidentiality Agreamée Company shall be entitled to have a coaucompetent jurisdiction enter an
injunction against Executive enjoining Executivel gmohibiting any further breach of the covenamtstained herein. Executive acknowledges
that a breach or threatened breach by Executitieegprovisions of this Agreement will cause irreggide damage to the Company because
Executive’s services to be performed hereundeobasunique, special and extraordinary characteusTthe Company shall be entitled to
injunctive relief without the necessity of proviagtual damages and the Company shall not be reftaineost a bond or other security in
support of such injunctive relief.

9. Arbitration.

Any claim, dispute or controversy arising out ofroconnection with Executive’s employment by thengpany, his separation from the
Company, this Agreement, or any breach thereof| bharbitrated by the parties before a sole réathitrator (who shall have substantial
experience in the pharmaceutical and life scieimmisstry) conducted in accordance with the Natidhales for the Resolution of Employment
Disputes of the American Arbitration Associatioehin effect. The claims subject to mandatory aasbiitn under the terms of this agreement
include, but are not limited to, claims that haeet or could be asserted under: (a) the commowflidine State of California; (b) the California
Labor Code; (c) Title VII of the Civil Rights act ©4964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2080seq; (d) the California Fair Employment and
Housing Act, Cal. Govt. Code § 12960seq; (e) the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconadiafict of 1985 (COBRA), as amended, 26
U.S.C. § 4980B; (f) the Age Discrimination in Emypfoent Act of 1967, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §&2eq, including the Older Workers
Benefit Protection Act; (g) the Employee Retiremiertome Security Act of 1974, as amended, 29 U.8.@01et seq; (h) the Civil Rights
Act of 1866, as amended, 42



U.S.C. § 198kt seq; (i) the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. 8 20seq; (j) the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 UGS.8 1210%et
seq.; (k) the Civil Rights Act of 1991, Public Law 1456 (105 Stat. 1071); (I) the Wage Orders of théf@nia Industrial Welfare
Commission; (m) any other federal, state or loa®l, Iconstitution, regulation, ordinance, decisiom@mmon law claim concerning
employment discrimination or termination of emplagmty (n) any and all claims for personal injury,cimnal distress, libel, slander,
defamation, and other physical, economic, or emalfitjury; and (o) all claims for attorney’s fesd costs.

The arbitrator shall have the authority to ordacdivery sufficient for both parties to adequatebiteate any and all claim(s) and defense
(s) at issue. Such discovery shall include acaesslévant documents and witnesses but shall nat tiee authority to add to, detract from or
modify any provision hereof nor to award damagestber remedies not otherwise available under &)y contract(s) or common law
relevant to the claim(s) and defense(s) at issokowing the close of all evidence at the conclasid the arbitration hearing, the neutral
arbitrator shall issue a written award that revé@sor her essential findings and conclusions. fidwgral arbitrator’'s decision shall be final and
binding. Judgment may be entered on the arbitmtorvard in any court having jurisdiction. The direxpense of any arbitration proceeding
shall be borne by the Company. Each party shall ieawn attorneys’ fees unless such fees aredmubas a measure of damages under the
applicable contract or statute at issue. Suchratlih hearing shall take place in Montgomery CguRennsylvania at a location and date
mutually agreeable to the parties. The partiestba@nsent to the jurisdiction of the state andfaticourts located in the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania with respect to any action arisingennkis Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoimg, €Company shall be entitled to seek
injunctive or other equitable relief, as contemgtbby Section 8 hereof, from any court of compejangdiction, without the need to resort to
arbitration.

10. Assignment; Binding Natur.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inurédelienefit of the parties and their respective ssgars, heirs (in the case of Execut
and permitted assigns. No rights or obligationthefCompany under this Agreement may be assignedmsferred by the Company except
that such rights or obligations may be assignedamsferred to the successor of the Company tuginess if the assignee or transferee
assumes all of the liabilities, obligations andiesibf the Company, as contained in this Agreeneititer contractually or as a matter of law. If
any such successor of the Company or its business bt agree to so assume such liabilities, diBiggand duties, Executive may
immediately resign, which shall be deemed a Tertitind=or Good Reason under the provisions of tigse&ment. No rights or obligations of
Executive under this Agreement may be assignedhosferred by Executive other than Executive’stigh compensation and benefits, which
may be transferred only by will or operation of |aaxcept as otherwise specifically provided or ped hereunder.

11. Notice.

Any notice which a party is required or may desirgive pursuant to this Agreement shall be givewiiting by personal delivery, by
facsimile transmission, by registered or



certified mail, return receipt requested, postagaid, or by overnight courier, at the followinddaesses:
If to the Company:

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
1787 Sentry Parkway West
Building 18, Suite 400

Blue Bell, PA 19422

Attention: Chief Executive Officer

If to Executive:

Peter Kies
3657 Tierra De Dios
Escondido, California 92025

Any notice personally delivered shall be deemeeikex when given, or if given by facsimile or ovigirt courier shall be deemed
received on the next business day and any notidedrghall be deemed received on the third busidagshereafter.

12. Entire Agreemen.

This Agreement and the Non-Compete Agreement (HExhA)band the Confidentiality Agreement (Exhibit Bpnstitute the complete
agreements and understandings between the Compdrgxacutive concerning Executive’s employmenti®y€ompany, and supersede any
and all previous agreements or understandings caingesuch employment, whether written or oralwestn Executive and the Company.

13. Modification.

This Agreement may not be waived, amended or neatlifiithout the express written consent of the pagginst whom enforcement of
such Agreement is sought.

14. Waiver.

Except as set forth herein, no delay or omissioextrcise any right, power or remedy accruing tp@arty shall impair any such right,
power or remedy or shall be construed to be a waif’er an acquiescence to any breach hereof. Neawhy either party of any breach by the
other party of any condition or provision containedhis Agreement to be performed by such othetyghall be deemed a waiver of a similar
or dissimilar condition or provision at the sameany prior or subsequent time. Any waiver mustrbeiiting and signed by Executive and the
Chief Executive Officer or other duly authorizedicdr of the Company.

17. Section 409A.

It is intended that this Agreement be drafted ashdiaistered in compliance with section 409A of @ede, including, but not limited to,
any future amendments to Code section 409A,



and any other Internal Revenue Service or otheegouental rulings or interpretations (collectivelgection 409A") issued pursuant to
Section 409A so as not to subject Executive to mayrof interest or any additional tax under SectioBA. The parties intend for any
payments under this Agreement to either satisfydlj@irements of Section 409A or to be exempt ftbenapplication of Section 409A, and
this Agreement shall be construed and interpretedrdingly. In furtherance thereof, if payment ooyision of any amount or benefit
hereunder that is subject to Section 409A at the 8pecified herein would subject such amount oefiieto any additional tax under

Section 409A, the payment or provision of such amha@u benefit shall be postponed to the earliestroencement date on which the payment
or provision of such amount or benefit could be enaithout incurring such additional tax. In additjdo the extent that any Internal Revenue
Service guidance issued under Section 409A wowdirén Executive being subject to the paymenntdiiest or any additional tax under
Section 409A, the parties agree, to the extenoredsly possible, to amend this Agreement in ordexvbid the imposition of any such interest
or additional tax under Section 409A, which amenainsdall have the minimum economic effect necestatige Executive and shall not result
in any additional cost to the Company, unlessiieag otherwise to incur such cost, and shall beorezbly determined in good faith by the
Company and Executive.

18. Invalidity of Any Provision.

If any portion of this Agreement is held invalidiobperative, the other portions of this Agreenmsrll be deemed valid and operative
and, so far as is reasonable and permitted byathedffect shall be given to the intent manifedigdhe portion held invalid or inoperative.

19. Applicable Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and constmieddordance with the laws of the CommonwealthesfrBylvania, without regard to
the principles of conflict of laws thereof.

20. Counterpart:

This Agreement may be executed simultaneously ynnaimber of counterparts, each of which shall ented an original but all of
which together shall constitute one and the sameeagent.

21. Headings.

The Section headings contained in this Agreemenfarreference purposes only and will not affacaimy way the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement.

22. Binding Effect.

The provisions of this Agreement will be bindingomp and will inure to the benefit of, the respeetheirs, legal representatives and
successors of the parties thereto.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthis Employment Agreement as of the date firstterr above.

10

INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/J. Joseph Kim, Ph.D.

Name: J. Joseph Kim, Ph.
Title: President and CE

Date: 12/27/10

EXECUTIVE

[/s/ Peter Kies

Name: Peter Kies

Date: 12/27/10



Exhibit 21.1
INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiary Name(1) Jurisdiction of Organization
Genetronics, Inc. Delaware
VGX Pharmaceuticals, LL! Delaware
VGX Animal Health, Inc Delaware
Inovio Asia Pte. Ltd. Singapore

(1) In accordance with Instructions (ii) to Exhibit §2b the Exhibit Table in Item 601 of Regulatio-K, Registrant has omitted from t
above table one of its subsidiaries because suditednsubsidiary does not constitute a significgauitsidiary of registrant as of the end of
the year covered by this repc



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statements (Form S-3 Nos. 333-76338;108752, 333-111287, 333-
116696, 333-118187, 333-123619, 333-131332, 3388484333-140119, 333-160123 and 333-160126; FoBrN®s. 333-58168, 333-
100077, 333-120061, 333-136126, 333-142938, 333-d%1B33-156035, 333-161559 and 333-166906) ofitnBtarmaceuticals, Inc. and in
the related Prospectuses, of our reports datediMiEG£2011, with respect to the consolidated firgrstatements of Inovio Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., and the effectiveness of internal controlrdiancial reporting of Inovio Pharmaceuticals;.lnncluded in this Annual Report (Form 10-
K) for the year ended December 31, 2010.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 16, 2011



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-&p(
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, J. Joseph Kim, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, In
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or amgttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtaisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf@ periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))3(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financearting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargagdang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantbd report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regi’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre’'s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlgave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofmancial reporting which ai
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimahcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 16, 2011 /sl J. OSEPHK IM

J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-&(
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Peter Kies, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or amgttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtaisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf@ periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))3(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financearting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantbd report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regi’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre’'s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlgave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofmancial reporting which ai
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimahcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal contro

Date: March 16, 2011 /s/ PeTERK IES

Peter Kies
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Inovio Pimaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K fioe year ending December 31,
2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cmsion on the date hereof (the “Report”), eachhefundersigned, in the capacities and on

the date indicated below, hereby certifies, purst@i8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuadéstion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

March 16, 2011 /sl J..0SEPHK IMm

J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/  PeTERK IES

Peter Kies
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




